SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brisbane
NUMBER: 3383 of 2013

Applicants: RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE AND
VICKI PATRICIA BRUCE
AND

First Respondent: LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

LIMITED (ADMINISTRATORS
APPOINTED) ACN 077 208 461 IN ITS
CAPACITY AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY OF
THE LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME
FUND

AND
Second Respondent: THE MEMBERS OF THE LM FIRST

MORTGAGE INCOME FUND
ARSN 089 343 288

STEPHEN CHARLES RUSSELL of Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane in the
State of Queensland, solicitor, states on oath:
1. I am a solicitor of this Honourable Court and Managing Partner of Russells,

the Solicitors for the First Respondent (“LMIM”).

2. Now produced and shown to me and marked “SCR1” to “SCR13” is an

indexed and paginated bundle of documents referred to in more detail in. this

Affidavit.
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Inadequate Service of the Second Respondents
3. On Wednesday, 24 April, 2013, I had a conversation with Ms Banton about
directions appropriate to be made on 29 April, 2013. There followed correspondence

which is at exhibit “SCR1” hereof, pages 12 — 24.

4, I am informed by Ms Francene Mulder, who is Executive Director -

Distribution/Product of LMIM, and I believe that she received the following

documents, by post on 24 April, 2013, at the Gold Coast:-

{a) A letter from Piper Alderman dated 19 April, 2013 received in the post by,
by LMIM, at “SCR2", pages 25 - 38;

(b) A copy of the Originating Application;

(c) A copy of the Affidavit of Mr Bruce, sworn 14 April, 2013, but not

containing any exhibits; and

(d) A document soliciting support for the making of the orders sought by the
Applicants.
5. I therefore believe that the earliest the members of the LM First Mortgage

Income Fund (“the FMI Fund”) will have received these documents is 24 April, 2013.
The following day was a public holiday. The documents posted to the members (or

some of them) did not include:-

{(a) the exhibits to Mr Bruce’s Affidavit; or

(b) The Affidavit of Ms Banton, to be read by the Applicant’s in support of the
relief claimed.

6. At the time of swearing this Affidavit, Ms Banton’s Affidavit has not been

served and is not published on the website of Piper Alderman, despite informing me

on 24 April, 2013 that she would serve that affidavit later that day.
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Late Service of Principal Affidavit

7. As appears from the email from Ms Banton to me of 6:05pm on
Wednesday evening, 24 April, 2013 [pagel2], the Applicants were then contending
that the matter would be heard on 29 April, 2013. About an hour later, however,

I received an email from Ms Banton in which she confirmed that the Applicants
intended to rely on further evidence and sought my agreement to directions that the

matter be adjourned from 29 April, 2013, but only for a few days [pages 17 - 20].

8. This Application was filed on 15 April, 2013. Tam not aware of any reason
why, and the Applicants have not explained why, Ms Banton’s Affidavit (or indeed
any other evidence on which they propose to rely) was not filed and served at the

same time, and has still not been served at the time of my swearing this affidavit.

Piper Alderman’s Class Action and Other Retainers

9. I have looked at the website of Piper Alderman: and extracts therefrom
[exhibit “SCR3”, pages 39 - 41]. From those materials it appears that Piper Alderman
is presently engaged in four other class actions, and that:-

Ms Banton and her team are investigating claims against the responsible
entity of the Fund, LM Investment Management Limited (LM), its directors
and other third parties, including advisors, associated with the fund'’s
demise with a view to bringing a class action (or any other appropriate
action).

On Friday, 12 April, Piper Alderman was successful in securing the
appointment of a new and independent trustee, Korda Mentha, to the LM
Managed Performance Fund, which was formerly operated by LM. Korda
Mentha Partners David Winterbottom and Simon Vertullo will be handling
the matter.

Piper Alderman has filed an application to replace the responsible entity of
the LM First Mortgage Income Fund and expects that application to be
heard shortly. The LM First Mortgage Income Fund will (similarly to the
Performance Fund) be better served by having an independent RE (who is
not in Administration) appointed to investigate and manage that fund.
This will ensure that the same party Is not acting on both sides of the fence
(a factor that the judge in the Performance Fund matter before the Court
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on Friday thought was determinative (amongst other things) in appointing
a new trustee to the Performance Fund).

10. The reference on the website to Piper Alderman being successful in
securing the appointment of “a new and independent trustee” is, I understand, a
reference to the proceedings before de Jersey CJ, heard on 12 April, 2013. Copies of
the written submissions made by Mr O’Donnell QC, instructed by Ms Banton, and the
transcript of those proceedings, with the Chief Justice’s reasons for Judgment are at

“SCR4”, pages 42 — 86 of my exhibits.

11. Immediately after the Chief Justice made that order (if not before),

Ms Banton secured instructions from the “new and independent trustee [sic:

trustees]” KordaMentha Pty Ltd and Calibre Capital Limited to act on their behalf in

relatioﬁ to the Managed Performance Fund, notwithstanding:-

(a) the statement on the Piper Alderman website that “the appointment of the
new and independent trustee” would “ensure that the same party is not

acting on both sides of the fence”; and

(b) the fact that Piper Alderman also acts for members of the Managed
Performance Fund and of the The FMI Fund the subject of these

proceedings.

12. A copy of a letter from Piper Alderman to King & Wood Mallesons dated

19 April, 2013, with enclosures is at “SCR5”, pages 87 — 92 of my exhibits.

13. Further, an Originating Application (3691 of 2013) filed by leave by Piper

Alderman on 24 April, 2013 is at “SCR6”, pages 93 — 96 of my exhibits.

Solicitor i
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14. The Applicant’s proposed nominee temporary responsible entity in this
proceeding, Trilogy, was initially put up by Piper Alderman as a proposed new trustee
in the proceedings before the Chief Justice in respect of the Managed Performance

Fund. Irefer to Ms Muller’s affidavit in this regard.

15. I am informed by Mr Peter Schmidt, a member of the firm Norton Rose,

and I believe that:-

(a) His firm acted for LMIM for some time in re}ation to the affairs of one of
the Schemes that is a major unitholder in the FMIF, namely LM Wholesale
First Mortgage Income Fund (“the Wholesale Fund”);

{(b) Piper Alderman acted for Trilogy when it took control of the Wholesale

Fund, becoming its Responsible Entity.

16. I believe, therefore, that the reference on the Piper Alderman website to
the effect that that firm “presently acts for a major portion of the unit holders {in The

FMI Fund] by value” is a reference to Trilogy and to Mr and Mrs Bruce.

17. Further, before commencing these proceedings, the Applicants instituted
and discontinued without serving, proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia,
claiming identical relief to that claimed in those proceedings. Copies of the
Application commenced in the Federal Court of Australia by the present Applicants on
12 April, 2013 (the day of the proceedings before the Chief Justice) and the Notice of

Discontinuance of 17 April, 2013, are at “SCR7”, pages 97 — 105 of my exhibits.

18. I have not been able to obtain a copy of the “Genuine Steps” Notice filed in
those proceedings on 12 April, 2013. On my instructions, which I believe to be true,

not only were there no “Genuine Steps” taken by the Applicants prior to instituting

PP
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the Federal Court proceedings (or these), they took no steps at all to raise any

concerns with LMIM or any of the members of Fund.

19. Further, it appears that Trilogy has been, for many months prior io the

appointment of administrators, seeking to acquire control of all of the funds (Managed

Investment Schemes) in the LM Australia group. For example:-

(a) On 10 October, 2012, the then board of LMIM circulated a letter to
members of Funds that were subject to Trilogy’s campaign. A copy is at
[“SCR8&"], pages 106 - 111 of my exhibits;

(b) After it succeeded to control of the Wholesale Fund, Trilogy published a
media release, at “SCRY9”, pages 112 - 114 of my exhibits, in which:-
(i) Trilogy deputy chairman Redger Bacon said:-

. we remain firmly committed to our strategy on behalf of
concerned investors and their advisers to bring about a change
in RE of the LM Currency Protected Australian Income Fund
{‘Currency Protected Fund’) and LM First Mortgage Income
Fund (“Holding Fund’).;

(c) At the appendix, a three step strategy was articulated, with an arrow after
step 3 pointing to:-
Pool of assets
(mortgages over residential, commercial and industrial property)
(d) On 20 March, 2013 - the day after LMIM appointed voluntary
administrators - Mr Bacon was quoted in the financial press, and in the
Gold Coast Bulletin as saying that
“the administration opened the way "for unit-holders to ensure
their best interests are served"; and that he "believe[s] the

administration process will result in Trilogy being appointed
manager to LM’s funds and their responsible entity, " he said.

Solicitor/BarristerIlstice Hi-hra-Reace
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20. I refer to the following documents:-

(a) The Historical Company Extract in respect of Trilogy, at “SCR10", pages
115 - 172 of my exhibits;

(b) The Historical Company Extract in respect of Trilogy Capital Services
Pty Ltd, at “SCR11”, pages 173 — 200 of my exhibits;

{c) The Annual Financial Report of Trilogy, for the year ended 30 June, 2012,
at “SCR12”, pages 201 — 235 of my exhibits;

(d) The Interim Financial Report for the Pacific First Mortgage Fund for the six
months ended 31 December, 2012, at “SCR13”", pages 236 — 258 of my

exhibits.

21. Based on this and other material (including numerous emails circulated to
members of the The FMI Fund, and to various financial advisors of those persons and
articles in the financial press), the First Respondent presently intends to resist these
proceedings, on the grounds that they are being prosecuted for collateral purposes, in
summary:-

(a) That Piper Alderman, who already act for Trilogy, have secured, or wish to
secure instructions from Trilogy if it becomes Responsible Entity of the The
FMI Fund;

(b) That Piper Alderman, who already act for other members of The FMI
Fund, have secured, or wish to secure instructions from Trilogy if it
becomes Responsible Entity of the The EMI Fund to act for it, and at the
same time for the Members of The FMI Fund in a Class Action (for which
no basis has been articulated);

{c) Trilogy, which holds 19.8% of the units in The FMI Fund, wish to succeed
to appointment as Responsible Entity, without calling a meeting of

members;

)
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(d) Piper Alderman acting in all of those those retainers, whilst at the same
time acting for the new trustees of the Managed Performance Fund (despite

the submissions made to the Chief Justice on 2013).

22, Further, I have been instructed that Piper Alderman and Trilogy have been
corresponding with members of the The FMI Fund, and also communicating with
financial advisors to those members and the financial press, in a campaign to secure
support for their attempt to have Trilogy replace LMIM as Responsible Entity for the
The FMI Fund. LMIM will contend that this correspondence and these

communications have contained false and/or misleading statements.

23. Accordingly, I have issued and served subpoenas for the production of
documents direcied to Ms Banton, Piper Alderman, Mr Winterbottom and
KordaMentha Pty Ltd and Trilogy. Depending on the documents produced in
response to the calls on those subpoenas (on Friday, 17 May, 2013), and on other
material that may come to light prior to then - including Ms Banton’s Affidavit — the

First Respondent may issue further subpoenas.

24. The subpoenas are returnable on 17 May, 2013 because they must be
served on persons out of the State and Sections 29 and 30 of the Service and

Execution of Process Act require at least 14 days notice to be given.

Length of Trial

25, Although it is difficult to say, in the absence of all of the Applicants’
evidence, the trial of this proceeding will, in my view, likely occupy at least a day and
possibly go into a second day. There is no prospect, in my view, that it could be

resolved within two hours.
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26.

As presently advised, the following are the principal grounds upon which

the First Respondent will resist the proceedings, and which will require resolution of

factual issues:-

(a)
(b)
{c)
(d)

27.

Whether the Application is brought for a collateral purpose;

The financial stability of Trilogy;

Whether the proposed nominee ;

Whether the conduct of Piper Alderman and/or Trilogy, in their
communications with members of the The FMI Fund and the financial
press, is such that, in the exercise of the Court’s discretion, it would
withhold any relief which it might otherwise be minded to grant on the
Application;

Whether the proposed nominee holds an Australian Financial Services
Licence that would permit it to act as temporary Responsible Entity;
That a substantial body of members is in favour of the First Respondent
remaining as Responsible Entity;

That a substantial body of members is opposed to Trilogy becoming a
temporary or permanent Responsible Entity;

That if Trilogy is appointed a temporary or permanent Responsible Entity,
there will be a substantial duplication and wastage of costs;

That there are no currently subsisting conflicts of interest which as

I understand from Ms Banton, the Applicants wish to agitate, which claims

have been agitated in the media, albeit not yet in evidence.

I emphasise that this is not a concluded position on behalf of the First

Respondent — principally because the Applicants have held back their material even to

the time of swearing this my affidavit.

PAGE 9
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28. There are also several questions of law that arise from the Application.

29. All the facts and circumstances deposed to are within my own knowledge
save such as are deposed to from information only and my means of knowledge and

sources of information appear on the face of this my Affidavit.

HEN CHARLES RUSSELL on 1 May, 2013 at Brisbane in the

il

Depoﬁﬁtg___ﬂ, - ) Solicitor? i
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presenc .
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

Applicant:

First Respondent:

Second Respondent:

REGISTRY: Brisbane
NUMBER: 3383 of 2013

RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE
AND VICKI PATRICIA BRUCE

AND

LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
LIMITED (ADMINISTRATORS
APPOINTED) ACN 077 208 461 IN ITS
CAPACITY AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY
OF THE

LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND

AND
THE MEMBERS OF THE

LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND
ARSN 089 343 288

Bound and marked “SCR1” to “SCR13” are the exhibits to the Affidavit of

STEPHEN CHARLES RUSSELL sworn on 1 May, 2013 at Brisbane in the presence

of:-

Ml
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Filed on behalf of the Applicant

Form 47 Rule 435
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Solicitors
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brisbane
NUMBER: 3383 of 2013

Applicant: RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE
AND VICKI PATRICIA BRUCE
AND

First Respondent: ' LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

LIMITED (ADMINISTRATORS
APPOINTED) ACN 077 208 461 IN ITS
CAPACITY AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY
OF THE

LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND

AND

Second Respondent: THE MEMBERS OF THE

LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND
ARSN 089 343 288

INDEX “SCR1” TO “SCRI13”

No Document Date Page
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Ms Banton, Piper Alderman -
26.04.13

“SCR2" | Letter from Piper Alderman to Unit Holders, 19.04.13 25-38
with enclosures

“SCR3” | Extracts from website of Piper Alderman 26.04.13 39-41

“SCR4” | Submissions of O'Donnell QC, transcript of 12.04.13 42-86
proceedings, reasons for Judgment

“SCR5” | Letter from Piper Alderman to King & Wood 19.04.13 | 87-92
Mallesons, with enclosures

“SCR6” | Amended Originating Application 24.04.13 93-96

“SCR7” | Originating Application and Notice of 12.04.13 97-105
Discontinuance filed in the Federal Court of &
Australia 17.04.13

“SCR8” | LMIM Board’s letter to Members 10.10.12 106-111
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Report for 6 months ended 31 December, 2012
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“SCR1”

SteEhen Russell

From: Amanda Banton [ABanton@piperalderman.com.au]

Sent: Wednesday, 24 April 2013 6:05 PM

To: Stephen Russell

Subject: RE: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited
(Adminisirators Appointed) & Anor - Supreme Court of Queensland
Proceeding 3383 of 2013

Mr Russell,

| confirm that we are presently instructed to seek a hearing on Monday. If that position changes | will let you
know as soon as is possible.

Amanda Banton
Partner | Piper Alderman

t +612 9253 9929 | +61 2 9253 9900
abanion@piperalderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.au

From: Siephen Russell [mailto:srussell@russellslaw.com.au]
Sent: Wednesday, 24 April 2013 5:06 PM

To: Amanda Banton :

Cc: Davina Holland; Ilenna Copley; Derek Finch

Subject: RE: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) & Anor -
Supreme Court of Queensland Proceeding 3383 of 2013
Importance: High

Dear colleagues
We refer to our conversation earlier today.

We confirm that:-

1. You have advised that your clients have served the application and a copy of the affidavit of
Mr Bruce on all members; and

2. Your clients have another affidavit to serve (by Ms Banton); and

3. You will propose a timetable for the remaining interlocutory steps.
Please advise when we may expect to receive your client’s affidavit — especially bearing in mind that
tomorrow is a public holiday, our clients are concerned to ensure that the members have been duly
served, on appropriate notice, so that they may take advice on the relief that your clients seek, retain

solicitors if any wish to do so, and appear and be heard.

Would you also confirm that the remaining affidavit is the only further material on which your
clients intend to rely at the trial of the proceedings.

As soon as we see your clients’ evidence, we will be able to form a view on the best mode of
procedure at the trial.

We look forward to hearing from you as soon as convenient.

!
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Yours faithfully

RUSSELLS

Stephen Russell
Managing Partner

Direct {07) 3004 8810

Mobile 0418 392 015
SRussell@RussellsLaw.com.au

Liability limited by a schemne approved under prafessional standards legislation

Postal—GPO Box 1402, Brisbane QLD 4001 / Street—Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane QLD 4000
Telephone (07) 3004 8888 / Facsimile (07) 3004 8899 / ABN 38 332 782 534
RusseHsLaw.coﬁ.au

From: Amanda Banton [mailto:ABanton@piperalderman.com.aul
Sent: Wednesday, 24 April 2013 11:13 AM

To: Stephen Russell
Subject: RE: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) & Anor -
Supreme Court of Queensland Proceeding 3383 of 2013

Stephen,

| confirm the application has already been provided to members of the fund and that we will be seeking
deemed service orders.

| also confirm that we will be seeking to have the matter heard on Monday.

Amanda Banton
Partner | Piper Alderman

t +612 9253 9929 | f +61 2 9253 9900
abanton@piperalderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.au

From: Stephen Russell [mailto:srussell@russelislaw.com.au]
Sent: Tuesday, 23 Aprii 2013 7:48 PM

To: Amanda Banton

Cc: Davina Holland; Ilenna Copley

Subject: RE: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) & Anor -
Supreme Court of Queensland Proceeding 3383 of 2013

Amanda

Let’s chat tomorrow regarding directions for service etc on 29 April.

Yours faithfully

RUSSELLS

13



Stephen Russell
Managing Partner

Direct (07) 3004 8810

Mobile 0418 392 015
SRussell@RussellsLaw.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation

Postal—GPO Box 1402, Brisbane QLD 4001 / Streei—Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brishane QLD 4000
Telephone (07) 3004 8888 / Facsimile (07) 3004 8899 / ABN 38 332 782 534
RussellsLaw.com.qu

From: Amanda Banton [mailto;ABanton@piperalderman.com.au]
Sent: Tuesday, 23 April 2013 5:48 PM

To: Stephen Russell

Cc: Davina Holland

Subject: Re: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited (Admlmstrators Appointed) & Anor -
Supreme Court of Queensland Proceeding 3383 of 2013

Stephen,

I confirm receipt.

Thanks

Amanda Banton
Partner | Piper Alderman

t +61 2 9253 9929
f +61 2 9253 9900
abanton@piperalderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.au

On 23/04/2013, at 3:54 PM, "Stephen Russell" <srussell@russellstaw.com.au> wrote:

Dear Colleagues

Attached, is a copy of the First Respondent’s Notice of Appearance, together with a
copy of the letter under cover of which i was served on your Brisbane office this
afternoon.

Yours faithfully

RUSSELLS

Stephen Russell
Managing Pariner

Direct (07) 3004 8810
Mobile 0418 392 015
SRussell@RussellsLaw.com.aii
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation

Brisbane / Sydney

Postal-GPO Box 1402, Brishane QLD 4001 / Streei—Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane
QLD 4000
Telephone (07) 3004 8888 / Facsimile (07) 3004 8899 / ABN 38 332 782 534
RussellsLaw.com.au

Click here to report this email as spam.

<Notice of Appearance ~ Filed 23 April 2013.pdf>
<DO0C230413-23042013152553.pdf>
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WARNING: This e-mail is from Piper Alderman.

The contents are confidential and may be protected by legal
professional privilege. If you have received this e-mail in error,
please reply to us immediately and delete the document.
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This message has been scanned by SurfControl plc. www.surfcontrol.com
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SteBhen Russell . ]

From: Stephen Russell

Sent: Wednesday, 1 May 2013 3:25 PM

To: Stephen Russell

Subject: FW: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited
(Administrators Appointed) & Anor - Supreme Court of Queensland
Proceeding 3383 of 2013

SaveToDatabase: 0

Sentltem: -1

From: Amanda Banton [mailto: ABanton@piperalderman.com.au]

Sent: Wednesday, 24 April 2013 6:45 PM

To: Stephen Russell

Subject: RE: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) & Anor -
Supreme Court of Queensland Proceeding 3383 of 2013

iy Russel],

| don’t think it is appropriate 1o engage in correspondence about without prejudice communications in open

‘correspondence {save as to say that there is no inconsistency in any event, between the conversation and

my email),

&1 present the matter is listed for Monday and there is no agreement for it to be stood over with a
rimetable, We will write to you showd the position change and | have instructions 1o do so.

Amarnciz Banton
Pariner | Piper Alderman

parddderman

t 6512 02539620 | f +81 2 8253 9900
abanton@piperaiderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.ay
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Stenhen Russell

From: Davina Holland [DHolland@piperalderman.com.au] on behalf of
Amanda Banton [ABanton@piperalderman.com.au]

Sent: Wednesday, 24 April 2013 7:18 PM

To: Stephen Russell; Dallys Pyers

Ce: Amanda Banton; Anne Freeman; Jasmin Shaw; Sarah Wooster;
Davina Holland; Lisa Gallate

Subject: Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators
Appointed) & Anor

Attachments: letter & encl.pdf

Please find attached our letter dated 24 April 2013 together with enclosure.

Kind regards

Amanda Banton
Partner | Piper Alderman

FiperAlderman

t +812 9253 9929 {m +61 424 156 859 | f +61 2 9253 9900
abanton@piperalderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.au

ke kA kkd kR Rk dok ik dokokwk ko dokdrknk dkek b kb d kkkdh ke kR kR kb d Rk bk Ak Rk k.

WARNING: This e-mail is from Piper Alderman.

The contents are confidential and may be protected by legal
professional privilege. If you have received this e-mail in error,
please reply to us immediately and delete the document.
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This message has been scanned by SurfControl plc. www.surfconirol.com
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Qur Ref: AKB.LNG.384395
Your Ref:

24 April 2013

By Email: SRussellRRussells.Law.com.au;
dpvers@russelislaw.com.au
Original forwarded by Post

Russells

level 21

300 Queen Streat
BRISBANE QLD 4000

Aftention: Mr Stephen Russell

Dear Sir

Raymond & Vicki Bruce v LM Investments Management Limited
{Administrators Appointed) In its capacity as Responsible Entity of the
LM First Mortgage Income Fund and The Members of The LM First
Mortgage income Fund

We refer to your email sent at 5.06pm this evening.

We attach for your consideration proposed timetable for the interlocutory steps
in this application, which culminates in the application being heard on
Thursday, 2 May 2013.

If these orders can be agreed, we will appear at the retum date of the
application next Monday, 28 April 2013 and have the orders made by consent.

Please let us know as a matter of urgency if the proposed orders are agreed.

Yours faithfully
Piper Alderman

ot

Amanda Banton
Partner

Encs.

28005462v1

Lawyers

Sydney » elbourne
Brishane . Adelaide

ABN 42 843 327 183

Level 23

Govemnor Macquarie Tower

1 Farrer Placa

Sydney NSW 2000

DX 10216 Sydney Stock Exchange

t +61 29253 8898
f +81 2 9253 6800

www.piperalderman.com.au

Pariner:

Amandz Banton

t +81 2925630929
abanton@plgeralderman.com.au

Contact:

Lisa Gallate

Special Counsel

t +61 29253 3855
Iguliate@piperalderman.com.au
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Applicants:

First Respondent;

Second Respondent

Judge:
Date:

Initiating document:

SUPRENE COURT OF QUEENSELAND

REGISTRY; Brisbane
NUMBER: 3383 of 2013
RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE AND
VICKI PATRICIA BRUCE

AND
LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED

(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED), ACN 077 208

461, IN ITS CAPACITY AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY
OF THE LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND

AND

THE MEMBERS OF THE LM FIRST MORTGAGE
INCOME FUND ARSN 089 343 288

CONSENT ORDER

29 April 2013

Originating Application filed 15 April 2013

THE ORDER OF THE COURT IS THAT:

—
4

The Applicants are to file any further Affidavit material by Friday, 26 April 2013,

2, The First Respondent is to provide to the Applicants by its solicitors a list of the email
addresses of the Second Respondents, where known by the First Respondent, by 12.00
noon on Friday, 26 April 2013,

3. The Respondents are to serve any Affidavit material by Tuesday, 30 April 2013,

4, The patties are to exchange Submissions by 5 pm on Wednesday, 1 May 2013.

5. The matter be listed for hearing on Thursday, 2 May 2013.

Consent Order Piper Alderman
Filed on behaif of the Applicants Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower
Form 52 Rule 661 1 Farrer Place

28005448v1

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Tel: +612 9253 9999
Fax: +812 92539900
Ref: AKB.AF.380287-0001
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Signed:
[REGISTRAR]

26005449v1
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SteBhen Russell

From: Dallys Pyers

Sent: Friday, 26 April 2013 12:32 PM

To: Stephen Russell

Subject: FW: LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators
Appointed) & Ors ats Bruce & Anor

Attachments: - SCr_20130471_023.pdf

Saved: 0

Yours faithfully

RUSSELLS

Dallys Pyers
Secretary

Direct (07) 3004 8833
DPyers@RussellsLaw.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation

Brishane / Sydney

Postal—GPO Box 1402, Brisbane QLD 4001 / Street—Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane QLD 4000
Telephone (07) 3004 8888 / Facsimile (07) 3004 8899 / ABN 38 332782 534
RussellsLaw.com.au

From: Dallys Pyers On Behalf Of Stephen Russell

Sent: Friday, 26 April 2013 11:34 AM

To: 'abanton@piperalderman.com.au’

Cc: Iflenna Copley

Subject: LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) & Ors ats Bruce & Anor
Dear Colleagues

Please refer to our attached letter, dated 26 April, 2013.

Yours faithfully

RUSSELLS

Stephen Russell
Managing Pariner

Direct (07) 3004 8810

Mobile 0418 392 015
SRussell@RussellsLaw.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation

1
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Brisbane / Sydney

Postal—GPO Box 1402, Brishane QLD 4001 / Street—Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane QLD 4000
Telephone (07) 3004 8888 / Facsimile (07) 3004 8899 / ABN 38 332 782 534
RussellsLaw.com.au
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RUSSELLS

26 April, 2013

QOur Ref: Mr Russell
Your Ref: Ms Banton
EMAIL TRANSMISSION

Attention: Ms Amanda Banton
Piper Alderman

Solicitors

SYDNEY

email: ABanton@piperalderman.com.au

Dear Colleagues

LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) &
Ors ats Bruce & Anor

We refer to your letter dated 24 April, 2013 and to your proposed directions for
the adjournment and further conduct of your clients’ application, presently
" returnable on 29 April, 2013.

We agree that the matter cannot be heard on that date.

We also agree that directions should be made on that date for the proper
conduct of the proceedings and the hearing of the trial.

However, we repeat that we cannot agree to a timetable when we have not seen
the material on which your clients intend to rely. We were expecting to receive
a further affidavit by Ms Banton and we understand that it is a substantive
document.

Your clients” nominee, Trilogy, for which we understand you also act, has been
conducting a spirited publicity campaign which is inappropriate and
embarrassing to the current court proceedings. We encourage your client to
desist from its attacks on our dients in the media and in the advisor network.

The sooner you get Ms Banton's affidavit to us, the sooner we will be able to
consider an appropriate timetable. Holding it back only delays things.

Our clients cannot supply the email addresses which are mentioned in the draft

order. It would be unlawful to do so, constituting an infringement of section 2
of the National Privacy Principles.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation

Brisbane / Sydney
Postal—GPO Box 1402, Brisbane QLD 4001 / Street—Level 21, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane QLD 4000
Telephone (07) 3004 8888 ! Facsimile (07} 3004 889%
RussellsLaw.corm.au
ser_20130471_023.docn
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We note that your clients (the applicants and Trilogy) in any event have an
electronic copy of the Registrar of Members of the Fund and that the rules make
ample provision of service of the proceedings and all affidavits to be relied on by
the applicants. We note in this regard that Ms Banton contended that your
clients had already served all of the members of the Fund.

We should say, as a matter of comity, that it has come to our attention that, for
some reason, your clients have withheld the exhibits from the affidavit of

Mr Bruce, which has been received by post by some members. We cannot
imagine why you would withhold court documents from parties to the
proceedings.

We also note that copies of the originating application and Mr Bruce’s affidavit
are on your firm’s website.

We are also of the view that, since Ms Banton’s affidavit forms the evidence
upon which the applicants will rely at the trial, the rules require it to be served
on all parties.

Neither Mr Bruce’s affidavit, nor our exceedingly detailed instructions, disclose
any basis for not properly serving all of the members; nor for the undue haste
with which you evidently intend to prosecute these proceedings.

Our client thinks it is of the highest importance that the members of the fund
are all properly served and that they have adequate notice.

We await receipt of Ms Banton’s affidavit.

Yours faithfully

Stephen Russell
Managing Partuner

Direct (07) 3004 8810
Mobile 0418 392 015
SRussell@RussellsLaw.cont.au

Our Ref: Mr Russell Page 2 of 2
Your Ref: Ms Banton
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“SCR2”

From: Stephen Russell

Sent: - Friday, 26 April 2013 2:48 PM

To: Stephen Russell

Subject: FW: Raymond Bruce and Vicki Bruce v LM Investment Management

Limited (Administrators Appointed) in its capacity as Responsible
Entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund & Ors

SaveToDatabase: - G
Sentltem: -1

From: Lisa Gallate <LGallate@piperalderman.com.au><mailto:LGallate@piperalderman.com.au>>
Date: 16 April 2013 7:22:29 PM AEST

To: "Pan, Philip (AU)" <Philip.Pan@au.kwm.com><mailto: Philip. Pan@au.kwm.com>>, "Costello,
Emma (AU)" <Emma.Costello@an.kwm.com><mailto:Emma.Costello@au.kwm.com>>, "Mew,
Cameron (AU} <Cameron.Mew@au.kwm.com><mailto:Cameron. Mew@au.kwm.com>>

Cc: Amanda Banton

<ABanton@piperalderman.com.an><mailto: ABanton@piperalderman.com.au>>, Davina Holland
<DHolland@piperalderman.com.au><mailto:DHolland@piperalderman.com.au> >

Subject: Raymond Bruce and Vicki Bruce v LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators
Appointed) in its capacity as Responsible Entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund & Ors

Dear Philip, Emma and Cameron

We attach an Originating Application seeking orders that Trilogy Funds Management Limited be
appointed temporary responsible entity or trustee of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund. We also

attach the supporting affidavit of Raymond Bruce (in more than one pdf due to the size of the
exhibit).

The matter is listed for hearing on 29 April at 10.00am.

Could you please confirm by return whether you have instructions to accept service for LM
Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed).

Regards
Lisa Gallate
Special Counsel | Piper Alderman

Confidentiality Notice:

This email and any attachments may be confidential and protected by legal privilege. If you are not
the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the e-mail or any
attachment is prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify us immediately by

replying to the sender and then delete this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you for your
cooperation.
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Yours faittifully
3 Piper Alderman

Per: = ‘

Amanda Banton
Pariner

27895626v1
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REQISTRY:  Bisbae
2013
= 2283

AppHeants:

First Respondent:

.Funda' Managemeﬁt Ln:mted (ar _
appropiiate) is appointed temporary

Earther or in fhe altérhative to order 2 hereof; an order PuEsiant to xegulahog SC.202
SR orporations Regw.flatzam 2061 (Crh} thai Trﬁﬂgy Funds Matiage
S ﬁl . )

Piper Alderman

Level 23, Governior Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place

SYDNEY NSW 2800

Tel:  +61 2 92530999

Fax: +61 2 92539900

Ref: AKB.SP.310287-0001

27873857v1
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This applcation will be heard by the Court at Brisbane
aoi April 2013 at 10 am

Piled in the Brisbane Registry on 15 April 2013

Registrar:

I you wish to oppose this application. or: te afgue at
thade, you must appear before the Gy
heard. If you de riot appear 2 ‘th’e
firther notice to you. In additien

Address for Service in this R
le Pmcedure RnZes Y

Applicants’ solicitor’s name " Amanda Kim Banton

and firm name; Piper Alderman

Solicitor’s business address: Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower,
o 1 Earrer Place, Sydney MSW 2000

Address for service: Level 23, Goverbot Macquarie Tower,

1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 2000

DX: 10216 Sydney Stock Exchange

Telephone: +51 2 9253 9999

Fax: +61 2 9253 9900

E-mail address: abanfon@piperalderman.com.an

27973857v1
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Signed:

Description:  Solicitor for the Applicants

27973857v1
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brisbane

NUMBER; 12013
Applicants: - RAVMOND EDWARD BRUCE AND
‘ VICKI PATRICIA BRUCE

First Respondent:

" Second Respondent:

3. I make this affidavit based on my own knowledge or from my review of the relevant

|
‘ documents referred to herein.
Signed: / %‘, Taken:
L
AFFIDAVIT OF RAYMOND _/Elp {Tderman
EDWARD BRUCE Level 23, Governor Maequarie Tower, 1 Farier
Place, SY'DNEY 2000
Filed on Behalf of the Applicants Ref: AB:SB:380287
: Phone No: +61 2 9253 9999
Fax No: +61 2 9253 9900
| 27973901v1
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4, My wife and I are members of the registered managed investment scheme known g8 the

- LM First Mortgage Incorne Fund, ARSN 089 343 288 (the Fund) and we invested
| approxinately $144,000 of our saviags in the Fund.

2 Sigmed: | f Pt @
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2. The essential features of the Fund (which { understand from my own knowledge and from
the Financial Report, the Constitution and the PDS) are as follows:-

12.1  Investors were to be paid interest income with the retumn of capital at maturity,

12.2  The majority of investors in the Fund (beyond the fecder fimds, see paragraph 13.1
below) were retail investors (the LMV Individual Investors) who invested their
superannuation and savings in the Fund,

123 LM invested the monies reised in “a diversified porifolio of Australian registered
first morigages over commercial, vestdential, industrial; vetul, vacant Jand,

interest bearing cash ivestiienss aad “at call” securifies” (so6 page 114).

12.4 afor mvestors and i

"l I3

40 thes Fund whio hold

Currency Fund <= 24.75% - ‘W alesale'fémduzwz% Institutiopal Fund — 1.90%

132 The balance of investors ifi the Fund are approximiately 4,500 LM Individual
nately $1,000 to
$8,000,000, with the majority of the investments int the range of $20,000 -
$100,000. |

Investors whose investments in thi Fund Tange from approxiny

i4.  Inthe PDS (see page 114), LM represented that the Fund’s assets as at 29 February 2008
totalled $718,403,075.00, which comprised 96% Ausiralian registered first mortgage

securities and 4% cash and “at call” securities.

3 Signed: /?,é(ﬁf

Taken By:
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| 13, In2009, 1.M closed the Fund o new investors and suspended redemptions as the majority
‘ of the ymderlying loan assets were in default and the Fund had resultans Hiquidity issues.

16,  The Finsincial Report and the benchmark disclosiive for investors issued by LM of 31
December 2012 (at. pages 152 to 201 and 20; to 211 tespectively), confirmed the

propeid managemat fees

(after set off of the amounts owing for management fees).

 asam——.
4 Signed: //gé;&’ <e Taken By:
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Appointment of Administrators to LM
J

17.  On 19 March 2013, John Richard Park and Ginette Dawn Muller of FT1 Consulting were
appointed administrators of LM (the Administraters) by LM’s directors (see page 12).

18.  On 21 March 2013, the Administrators sent a circular to creditors of LM {Creditors’
Circular — see pages 212-224), in which the Administrators comfirmed that there is
approximately $304 million in fonds under management for the Fund (see page 214). At
page 216 of the Creditors’ Circular, the Administraters stafed “Zipestors of the respective
Funds are not creditors of the Company and showld not attend the creditars mzzting, This
megting is a procedural requzremenr under the Act auid no detailed zrg‘brmalian of the
Funds will be provided...”

by IM -{tﬁelnvestors’ Circular — sée pages 215«229) afid 4t Sage 22 %taied'“ Tavestors

some breathzng space cmd to enable the campany to em‘er ito & MoF aorium where

i cun iake stock of the situation it is in-dnd not have to-worry about créditor's

payments but to place the company in the contro of independént pecple who can
continue to trade the business and look at the possibility of éntering into a
compromise or arrangement with their creditors through a Deed of Coinpany
Arrangement. 8o, the first meeting of creditors has been called for 2 April, the
Tuesday gfter the Easter bréak and the purpose of that méeting is to communicate to
as many creditors as possible in a timely manner the situation that the -
adminisirators have found with respect to the compary, to get the message out there

queickly, thi ompany is in voluniary administration, we 're having a look df i,

5 Signed: ? Peteo Taken By:?
: .
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we're gvmg #0 see what optwns are available in terms of a possible Deed of -
Compmy Arrngement ok Desd of Compmgf Aﬂangement isd preposa L put
_ fbrw dby ath dz pmy or the dzrector.s' somenmes wkzck can: talk abaut,a

23, On9Apil 2013, ASIC sispended LM"s Austeatian Financial Servioes Licence (see pege

243).

6 Signed: //f 4&; Ce

Taken By: f %\

36



i
1

25,

7

As the majority of the Fund’s assets are iopaired and wnit holder value continues to

_ decline, I am concerned that unit holders® interests are not being adequately protected. I

believe that unit holders® interssts would be better served by an independent responsible
entity that does not have any potential conflicts or association with LM and will therefore
have the interests of unit holders of the Fund as their primary duty.

Trilogy Funds Management Liruited (Trilogy) is the responsible entity of the Wholesale
&t fund to the Fund. Trilogy

i, which, asset ovit at paragraph.13.1 above is a fee
consents to the éppointment (see consent at page 244),

Signed: Taken By:
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PiperAlderman

) or Trustee-to:

27992543v4
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4261 Hiper Algenman - LAWVEers, 1egal aovce, carporate 1aw and Liigation, property law. Syaney, Melbourne, Hrisbane, Adejawde | Hiper Algenman, Austrana

o “SCR3” search i

Home Firm Peopls Media Expertise Publications Evenits Careers Client services Contact us Links

At Piper Aldeman, we listen to our clients and respond to their needs with practical, innovative legat Laiest News
solutions.

Piper Alderman welcomes Lehman
Brothers Scheme of Arrangement - 18
Apr 2013

HEREESFEEN The Partner responsible for Piper Alderman's
successful case against Lehman Brothers,
Amanda Banton, welcomes & propesal for a
Scheme of Company Arrangement that has been
Piper Alderman announces Class Action against Vodafone put forward by the liquidaters of Lehman Brothers
Auslralia this week. Read mora

Wae bring together a national team whose approach is commarcial and outcome driven,
drawing on our proven expertise to add real value to every client's business.

Piper Alderman has announced plans to go ahead with a class
action against Vodafone in the Federal Court. The Action relates to
Vadafone customers experiencing calls dropping out, reception
issues, weak data and infemet performance and poor cusiomer
senice. Shareholder and Investor Class

Actions

Our media retease for this announcement can be viewed here,

which includes the stories of some of our class members. . o
White Sands Petroleum Limited Shareholder

VODAFONE CLASS ACTION - sign up here Class Action

Click here for further information and to register
your interest

Plper Alderman partners named in Best Lawyers 2013 Equititrust Limited Class Action
Click hera for further information

Piper Alderman is excited that the 2013 edition of Best Lawyers

includes recognition for eleven of aur partners. Vodafone Class Action

. Click here to register your interest and for

Congratulations to Head of Property and Projecis Tony Britten- updates on this matter

Jones who was named Best Lawyers’ 2013 Adelaide Real

Property "Lawyer of the Year.” CBA Class Action

Click here for further information
. To see the whole list, click here.

LM Investment Management Limited
Class Action
Cliek here for further information

Latest Publications

Competition and Consumer News - April 2013

Compediflon and Consumer News Alert -
April 2013

Buiiding & Construction News - April 2013
Piper Alderman’s e-Bulietin - April 2013

Wills Watch - April 2013
Fiscal Watch - April 2013

1PT Alert - The Trade Mark Clearing House
now open for business - April 2013

Employment Matters - Special Edition -
March 2013

IPT Alert - Key changes to Australian trade
mark law in 2013 - March 2013

FST e-Bulletin - February 2013
Web design by Bridgehead ..,Powered by WebTemplate Site Map | Disclaimer

wwwv.piperalderman.caom.au
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Firm / LM Investient Class Action

Firm LM Invesiment Management Limited

Plper Alderman has been assisting unit holders in relation to the ongoing demise of the LM First Martgage Fund

Our firm including in respect of a class action. The firn preserdiy acts for a major portion of the unit holders by value.
Our approach
- Partner, Amanda Banton and her team are investigating claims agalnst the responsible entity of the Fund, LM
Qur histary Investment Management Limited (LM), its directors and other third parties, including advisors, associated with the
Alumni fund's demise with a view to bringing a class action (or any other appropriate action). Those actions will sesk to recover

the losses sustalned by unit holders, many of whom are eldery persans who invested their life savings.
Equititrust Limited Class Action

On Friday, 12 April, Piper Alderman was successful in securing the appointment of a new and independent trustee,
Karda Mentha, to the LM Managed Performance Fund, which was formerly operated by LM. Karda Mentha Partners
LM Inestment Class Action | David Winterbottom and Simon Vertullo will be handling the matter,

CBA Class Action

Piper Alderman has fited an application to replace the responsible entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund and
expects that application fo be heard shortly. The LM First Morlgage Income Fund wilt (similarly to the Performance
Fund) be better served by having an independant RE (who is not in Administration) appointed to investigate and manage
that fund. This will ensure that the eame party is not acting on both sides of the fence (a factor that the judge in the
Performance Fund matter before the Court on Friday thought was determinative (amongst other things) in appointing a
new trustee o the Performance Fund).

Unit holders of any of the LM funds should cantact Piper Alderman en {02) 8253 9993 or by email fo
Im@piperalderman.com,au &5 a matter of urgency as the Administration process may hawe a significant effect an their
rights.

Relevant documents
Crders from the Supreme Court of Queensland

Originating Application

Affidavit of Raymond Bruce

Produced by Bridgehead ...Powered by WebTemplate Site Map | Disclaimer

vww.piperalderman.comaufirmim-inestment-class-action
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Bm / Equititrust Limited Class Action

Firm  Equititrust Limited Class Action
Our firm Update - Monday, 13" February 2012

Our approach Piper Alderman Is currently finalising the pleadings to commence a class action against Equititrust Limited ("the
Company™) and a number of its directars. The Court documents are expected to be filed in the coming weeks. Unit
holders who have joined or propose to join the class action will enter a funding agreement with Intemationat Lifigation
Alumni Partners No. 1 Ltd in which the costs associated with the class action are cowered by the funder in exchange for a
percentage of any recovery from the action.

Qur history

Equititrust Limited Class Action

CBA Class Action The class action will plead a cass for breach of duties by the Company and several of its directors, claims of imprudent
investments by the Company and its directors, and for other hreaches of the Corporations Act.

LM Investrnent Class Action

It is essential that Piper Alderman has the names of those unit holders who wish to participate so that we are able to
confim who we represent and ensure that the claims are properly pleaded. Further, the pleadings will only seek to
recover damages for those people who wish to participate and have indicated their agreement by signing and returming
the funding agreament.

Should you wish to join the class action it is now urgent that you contact Piper Alderman. Please contact Shaan
Palmer. spalmer@piperalderman.com.au.

Produced by Bridgehead ...Powered by WebTemplate Sife Map | Disclalmer

www.piperalderman.com.auwfirmequititrust-limited-class-action
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PARE & MULLER, as sdministrators of LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED

v MEMBERS OF THE MANAGED PERFORMANCE FUND

9 Aowstl

SUBMISSIONS BY SEVEN RESPONDENTS WHO ARE UNITHOLDERS OF THE

FUND '

Proper nofice of the application skould be given to all unitholders before any order for

@ replacing the frustee or appointing a receiver fo the assets of the fund is made

I

!\)

(v
h

The managed performance fund is & unit trust. Each unitholder fs a beneficiary of the
trust. As at the last annual retur there were 356,367,645 wiifs on issue. The affidavits
do not disclose how many beneficiaries held those wnits. LM Investment Management
Limited ("LM) is the trustee (although styled “Manager” in the trust deed), These

submissions are made by seven beneficiariss who hold units in the fimd,
———

The fund was designed to be offered to investors outside Ausiralia, global platform and
portfolio operators and institutional/wholesale investors.! It is thought that many of the
investors in the fund are located overseas (as are the respondents who are méking these

gpr——mian

submissions).

The application should be properly notified to all unitholders in the fund.  The
application is one to replace the trustes of the frust, or to have the Court appoint &
receiver to the assets of the frust. The primary consideration o_nth&ag@@gwbe
whet is the best interests of the faries. They should be properly notified of the
apm;;mmw to make submissions to the Court as to
what should be done with their trust. The beneficiaries of the trust have been made
respondents to the application, but have not been served. The method of giving notice

thﬁj—ngl'i;auts bave adopted has been:
LOPY

to make available the application on the website

www.lminvestmentadministration. com;

of Park, In 2859 of 2013, para.8(g)

P
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4,

b. to send an e~mail from FTI Consulting, which js ex.1 to the affidavit of A. Banton
with the application amé-affidewit. The cg%@er is inadequate. It does not

tell the unitholder that the unitholder is a respondent to the proceeding. Nor does
™ e T —

it ti]lL the reader that the application can directly affect the interests of the

unitholder, that the unitholder is entitled to appear at Coust (personally or by legal
representation) and to be heard on the cr_us_siign,g_gf_mp]ming_the_mw
Court appointing a recejver o the assets of the frust,

The applicants have brought this application for substamnve orders without first obtaining
an order from the Court that notice could be given by steps (2) and (b} above.

The Under the trust deed, the trustee is required, by cl.20, to maintain a register of
mr;eg_lge__rs which is to include an address for each mémber, Presumably the address is or
includes an e-mail address or facsimile number, Orders could be fashioned for giving
pmpir_nouce to each unitholder by the e-mail or other address recorded in the frustes’s

register of members, A sugpested form of order is aftached. An additional complication

is that the unitholders, or many of the, are all Jocated overssas.

Alternatively, if the Court determines to make a substantive order today, then the orders
sought by the applicant should be refused and instead the Court should order removing the
present frustee, and appointing of 333 Capital Piy Lid and MLA. Korda and M. Mentha (of
. Korda Mentha Pty Lid) as replacement trustee

5

The Court should order replacement of the trustee, rather than a appomnng 2 recewer to
the assets of the trust.  Under the trust deed, by c1.23.1(b)(if) the trustee must resign :f
(being a corporation) it becomes an externally body corporate as defined fn the
Corporations Act 2001. That occwrred on 19 March 2013 when administrators were
appointed to LM, Consequently, the present trustee is required to resign, although it has
not done so yet, Further, in o@;ﬂ@eﬂmm@%mm;e!d-amm:an
Fmancxal Services licence under Chapter 7 of the Corporations Aet, On 9 April 2013
ASIC suspended the Australian Financial Services licerice No. 220281 held by the trustee
until 9 April 20152 Accordingly, it is appropriate to replace the present trustee. A

replacement trusice is desirable in order that the new trustee cen properly investigate

There were some exemprions from that suspension, bust none in respect of this trust

@,
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6.

7.

8.

whether the frust has claims against the former trustee for mismanagement of the fund,
including lending the bulk of the fund’s assets to related parties of one director, M. Peter

Drake.

The appointment of a receiver is not desirable. The fund is solvent and there isno

s_ghggestion that its assets are in jeopardy. The ev'iclence';% Mr. Park is that the fund has
3

assets of approx.$395m, with liabilities of $16.5m.” But there is no suggestion from Mr.
Park that the assets of the fund are in immediate jeopardy. The replacement of the trustes
would achieve everything that could be dqne.by appointing & receiver. And appointing a
receiver to a solvent operating fund is undesirable. It would send a message to thcf,

market that the fimd was in some form of trouble.

q————
Replacing the present trustee with Mr. Park and Ms. Muller is undesirable. They are the {
administrators of LM. LM is the trustee of 2 number of funds, including the LM First
Mortgage Tncome Fund, the LM Cash Performance Fund, the LM Australian Tncome
Fund - Currency Protected, the LM Cwrrency Protected Australian Income FM, the LM
Institutional Currency Protected Australian Income Fund and others. Also, Mr, Park and
Ms. Muller are adminisirators of the administration company (LM Administration Pty \

Lid) which has provided administration services to LM in its role as trustes of all fimds.

It is desirable that the new trustee of the managed performance fund act solely in the

f_?lnterests of that % and not be distracted by the inierests of other funds, or of LM itself,

In particular:

a. .the%%tltsfe of the managed perforiiance fund have caused the bulk of ifs
assets to be advanced to companies related o one of ifs directors, Mr. Peter
D:ﬂ_&. It appears from the affidavit of Patk, para.13, that of the approx.$395m of

ﬁin_q__ assets that have been lent to bo ome_§288m has been lent to
cofnpanies associated with Mr, Drake, The unitholders wish for the performance
WM —

of the trustee in its management of the fund, and lepding so much of the funds’-
assets fo related parties of one director, fo be properly investigated, This may °
résult in either o claim by the wust against LM or LM Administration. It is

undesirable that if that claim eventuates, Mr. Park and Ms, Muller should be on

3

Affidavit of Park, peres.13 and 19
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both sides of the fence. It is also undesirable that they should have the role of
. W ———— T Tt

investigating whether the trust MWW@ in those who
/”'\__‘

would be defending such 4 claim;
[ N I ]

b. the managed performance fund hes entered into transactions with other finds
L i
managed by LM. The material shows that thers have been a number of such

transactions with the LM First Mortgage Income Fund. On a number of loans the

LM First Mortgege Income Fund is the first mortaagee, and the manaaed
perfonnance Fond 15 seoond mortgagee Further, the managed performance fund
appeam to have paid development "and construction costs on those loans, and to
have finded interest payments by the borrower to LM First Mortgage Fund.

There is potential for conflict jn respect of such joans. There may be issues as ta-

e
the amoumts owing on the particular loan as between distinct funds, and M
b%;\_/\/,,\__\_w W secunty holder may | vnsh

i} deveiop the project so as to achisve a beter return, whereas the ﬁmd holdmg

e W e R S et

W————"N-.a
wgﬁw wmh to sell i 1mmedxately,

c. if a deed of company arrangement is proposed for LM (or LM Adnnmsh-at:on)
there is the potennal for the dge@g_ mmmmw that the trust has
W@gq}. It is desirable that the Trust’s interests in
respect of any such deed of company arrangement are handled independently
from the administrators,  Otherwise, Mr. Park and Ms, Muller might be both
lodging a proof of debt in the administration (on behalf of the tmst) and meking a

decision as to admiftance of the proof of debt of the amount for which it should be

admitted, as administrators of LM.

Mr. Park and Ms. Muller say that if someone other than themselves is appointed as

trustee, then there would be duplication of work for the new appointee to acquire an
. . g e =

understanding of the af fairs of the managed performance find. That may be so,

however, Mr. Park and Ms. Muller have ouly recently been appointed (19 March), and

hence the scope for duplication does niot seem large.  And, more importantly, against that

is to be balanced the desirability of having a trustee whose sole care is the best interests

of the beneficiaries.

Affidavit of Park, para.25(b}

O
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10.  Purther, the frustee is requii'ed to hold an Ausfralian Financial Services ﬁcence, pursuant
to Chapter 7 of the Corporations dct.  Section 9(1)(I)(a)(i) precludes someone without
such a licence from conduciing a financial services business. A financial services
business is defined in 5,761 A to mean the business of providing financial services. That
includes dealing in a financial product: 5.766C.

11.  The respondents propose two members of Korda Mentha Group be appointed, ‘Iicl_rc__l’a

Mentha Pty Ltd and 333 Capital Pty Ltd.  The latter company holds an Australian

Pinancial Services Licence,  Korda Mentha and 333 Cepital are qualified to act as

@ replacement frustees, and have no conflicting interest.  There would be nothing to
' preveni them, as replacement trustee, acting in the sole interests of the beneficiaries.

Mr. Park and Ms. Muller do not give evidence that they hold an Australian Financial
Services licence, Without such a licence they are not approprisfe to be appointed as

replacement trustee,
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THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: If it please the Court, my name is Sullivan,
initials TP, Senior Counsel, I appear with my learned junior,
Ms Muir, instructed by King Wood and Mallesons for the
applicants in both applications, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And who are they?

MR SULLIVAN: John Richard Park and Ginette Muller, in the
capacity as joint and several administrators, of LM
Investments Management Limited and LM Administration Pty Ltd,
and in the second case - excuse me, your Honour - essentially
in their personal capacity for their appointment as receivers
top certain trust properties, which, your Honour will see in
due course, is associated with the corporate groups which have
collapsed.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right. Mr O'Donnell?

MR O'DONNELL: Your Honour, I'm only appearing in one of the
matters, matter number 2869. In that matter, 1 appear for
seven beneficiaries. I read out their names, CR Oxley, B
Appleby, I and E Bouttell, E Hollahan, J Lewis, KT Nicoll, and
G and J Farrimond. So it’s 0’Donnell QC, instructed by
[indistinct] and Eden. Thank you, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, there are——---

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, can we - now, there’s an
application, you told me, to extend the time for the convening

of a meeting?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, that was the one which I proposed to deal
with first.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Do that first?
MR SULLIVAN: Yes, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Get that out of the way. Yes. I assume
that’s uncontroversial, is it?

MR SULLIVAN: I think it is. I don't think my learned
friend’s appearing in that action.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: No. He’s not on that.

MR SULLIVAN: There is material in each of those applications
referred to in the other application, your Honour, so I'd
propose to read the material in bulk, but I have a separate
set of submissions for the extension application

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

1-3
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* MR SULLIVAN: And I propose at the moment just to read the

material in both, and give your Honour the submissions in the
extension application, together with the relevant material.

So if I could hand up to your Honour two copies of the
material to be read. There is an affidavit of Melissa
Federico and that is sworn on the 12th of April, 2013, for
which leave is sought. There is an affidavit of Phillip Yong
Pan, sworn on the 11th of April, 2013 of which leave is
sought.

There is a set of submissions, a draft order, and the relevant
statutory provisions.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: In so far as this material concerns you,
do you have any objection-----

MR OfDONNELL: No, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: ——-—- objection to leave?
MR O'DONNELL: No, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Leave’s granted.

MR SULLIVAN: And, your Honour, in the second matter, I'll
hand up a material to be read list and that will include an
affidavit of Richard John Park sworn the 12th of April, 2013,
an affidavit of Phillip Yong Pan, sworn the 11th of April
2013, and an affidavit of Melissa Federico, same spelling as
before, your Honour, sworn on the 12th of April, 2013. I'll
hand those lists up, but I don’t hand up any submissions in
relation to that application at the moment. Your Honour, can
I separately hand up to you simply a bundle of the authorities
which are referred to in the outline of submissions? The
majority of those your Honour would be very familiar with.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But not all of them?
MR SULLIVAN: Well, I would say all of them.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Okay. I'1ll probably be familiar with very
few of them. Mmm. But I’d like to think I know the
principles. Now, why don’t you - the other matter’s obviously
controversial. Why don’t you tell me about the extension
application? :

MR SULLIVAN: Certainly, your Honour. Just get my submissions

for that. Your Honour, this is the - there are two companies
of which the two administrators have been appointed
administrators. It is, in effect, known as the IM Investment
Group. It’s the subject of that "Four Corners" report about
three weeks ago.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: What was that about?
MR SULLIVAN: It’s a series of entities which, where, for a

large group of them, they were the responsible entity of the
managed investment fund.
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v THE CHIEF JUSTICE:

Right.
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MR SULLIVAN: And there is one trust fund, which is somewhat
controversial, because it’s not registered as a managed
investment fund, and ASIC has raised the issue that perhaps it
should have been registered as a management investment fund
and it’s the subject of a trust deed. That’s what the second
application will deal with. The amounts which have been
invested in various funds is significant, and your Honour will
see in the affidavit for the extension-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I think I heard some - I didn’t see the

"Four Corners" program, but I think I heard something about it
in "AM" the following morning.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, we’re talking of hundreds of
millions of dollars.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: Several hundreds of millions of dollars invested
in these funds. We’ve put into the material a chart, if your
Honour - I'11 just turn it up for your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, would it bey efficient if T - if I,
at this stage, read your submissions in relation to the
extension order?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Why--—---

MR SULLIVAN: Can I just say this, your Honour, they’re
significant amounts of money, it’s complex in terms of size.
It's also complex in terms of the interrelation between funds
and the corporate group. So you have one principal company
and then you have a second company which has been acting as,
in effect, the administrative services ccmpany.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: And there are - there are related party
transactions that have occurred in respect of these entities.
Your Honour would be aware that it’s a very short time frame
for the initial convening of the first second creditors
meeting.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: And we’ve set out the affidavit with - and the
submissions have references to the varlous paragraphs.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Why you need more time?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and, whilst the cases say it’s - it's
sometimes unhelpful to look at other cases for convenient
periods, can I say this? It is helpful, in this sense, just
to see that the three months that’s being sought is certainly
not out of the ordinary and is, we would say, towards the

1-6
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‘jlower end of the scale in a matter of the complexity as

this-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And where is - which - where is the
affidavit by the administrators, in which they justify the
extension?

MR SULLIVAN: It is in that - at - it is in proceeding 2859.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Can that be got out, please?

MR SULLIVAN: Was filed on the 5th of April, 2013 of Mr John
Richard Park; and the submissions, in effect, summarise the
points he makes in the affidavit.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I'm read that.

MR SULLIVAN: Thank you, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. Yes, well, I will, Mr Sullivan,
extend the time for the second meeting for three months.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, your Honour. Thank you. Your Honour will
see that, in addition, there is an order for -~ under 4474,
which allows flexibility, as we’ve explained in the
submissions---——

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: =——=—- to hold the meeting earlier .than the period

defined in the Act, and that allows the flexibility that, if
the view is formed by the administrators that there's no use
continuing on with the administration, investigating further

things, but to call the meeting earlier, that allows it to be

done. Can I just point you to two authorities on that?

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: The first is in the bundle that I handed up to

your Honour, tab one, and I was just going to take - it's the

decision in River City Motorways. That was the first of a
series of decisions by Justice Logan in the Federal Court,

dealing with the Clem 7 collapse; and your Honour will see in

the order that has been made, three pages in, the order in
paragraph 2. That’s the same order which we seek.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: And that has become a common order, where an
extension is granted, to----—-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: What, does 44 - 447A says the Court may
make directions, does it?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes. It’s — it’s that case that O'Brien, the

High Court decision, O'Brien, has said that’s a very broad
power to a Court—-—-—-—-—

1-7
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‘ THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: -—-——-- to change how the part operates in relation

to administrations.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: And if your Honour goes to the final case in the

bundle, at tab 8, that’s the decision of Riviera Group, which
is one of the common decisions referred to. If your Honour
looks at paragraph 20 of that decision.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: This is where Justice Austin laid down on
the factors to be taken into account, 1is it?

MR SULLIVAN: That’s correct, your Honour, and, if your Honour

wished to look at it, I could - Justice Logan sets out a

significant portion of those matters raised by Justice Austin.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: ‘' I've read those.

MR SULLIVAN: So paragraph 20 deals with that 447A point

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: And so I just want to let your Honour know that
the common order to be made, it has a purpose, in that it
increases flexibility.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Right.

MR SULLIVAN: So that dealt with order 2. Order 3, 4 deal
with giving further notice to creditors.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: &And 5 is a liberty to apply, which allows
anybody, who can demonstrate a sufficient interest, to come
back in relation to the matter; and 6 is the usual order as
to costs, that they be costs in the administration.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. Order as per draft.

MR SULLIVAN: Thank you, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Now-----

MR SULLIVAN: To just take a moment to put this to one side.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Can I take - put forward this? Will I
need this material?

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour will need the affidavit material,

but can put the other material, such as sections, submissicns,

the draft order in that matter, material to be read in that
matter, to one side.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm hmm.
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MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, I will now hand up to your
Honour——=-—-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: That too—-——--

MR SULLIVAN: I've already handed up to your Honour the
material to be read in that matter. Can I hand up a copy of
the submissions by the applicant?

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Let me - let me be sure that I have the
material. The material you're relying on in the second
application is the affidavits by persons surnames, Federico,
Pan, Park.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and the large affidavit from the first
application.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Park.

MR SULLIVAN: Will you - Park. Yes. If you want to duplicate
it-———- ' :

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: That I got out before?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And an application?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, your Honour. WNow, I should say the---——-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: When was the - can I have the application,
please? The application.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, that should be document one in the
E-Court numbering system, filed on the 26th of March.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: It’s in 2869. Thank you. Mmm.

MR O'DONNELL: Is it convenient if I read my material now,
your Honour?

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Have you finished reading the material?
MR SULLIVAN: Yes I have, your Honour.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And do you have an outline?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, I do. I have an outline together with two
different draft orders.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: And certain of the statutory provisions referred
to. I’1l include two copies of the outline, one for the file
and one for your Honour; and, your Honour, can I hand up a
bundle of authorities as well? Thank you. Just a separate
bundle to the other matter.
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' THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Now, Mr O’ Donnell?

MR O'DONNELL: Thank you, your Honour. I need leave to read
and file the affidavit. It’s an affidavit of Amanda Kim
Banton, sworn today the 12th. My learned friend has a copy.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: No objection? No objection to leave?
MR SULLIVAN: I have no objection, your Honour.

MR O’DONNELL: I also hand up my written submissions and a
form of draft order which my side proposes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: How should I run this?

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour might have some benefit from reading
the affidavit - the submissions first, and then hearing -
probably hearing from myself first and then my learned friend.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, I'll go outside and read the
outlines, at this stage.

MR SULLIVAN: I should indicate that I'm - it’s not clear ~
there’s another set of persons which I think my learned friend
is proposing be appointed receivers, if your Honour were going
to put receivers in.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm hmm.

MR SULLIVAN: But I'm just not sure whether ASIC has been
given notice of that.

MR O'DONNELL: My instructing solicitor thinks ASIC has been
told, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Is that enough? Is that enough,
Mr O'Sullivan - Mr Sullivan?

MR SULLIVAN: Well, maybe we might make an inqguiry of what
they were told, again, your Honour. We certainly had - had
served ASIC with the application, and there’s the letter from
ASIC, in Mr Pan’s short affidavit, stating that they know of
the existence of the application and it do not intend to be
heard today.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, I'll go outside and read the
outlines.

THE COURT ADJOURNED AT 11.13 A.M.
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\ THE COURT RESUMED AT 11.43 A.M. 1

MR OfDONNELL: Your Honour, I have one more piece of evidence
I need to tender. It’s to tender a financial services licence
held by our - the people we propose, if your Honour makes an
order today, Company 333 Pty Ltd, so I tender that.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Exhibit 1. 10
ADMITTED AND MARKED "EXHIBIT 1"

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: .Mr Sullivan, does - do Mr Park and
Ms Muller have licences?

20

MR SULLIVAN: There are none before. This is presently an
unregistered scheme.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.
MR SULLIVAN: Under a trust.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I know, but do they have---—-
MR SULLIVAN: I’ll get instructions, your Honour 30
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: -——- an Australian Financial Services
licence.
MR SULLIVAN: I’'ll get instructions on that, your Honour. I
should note, in relation to that licence, you’ll see at the
bottom, your Honour, it’s in relation to wholesale finance.
As I understand it, this trust alsoc involves retail finance,
so that licence wouldn’t be able - is of - sorry. No. The
licence is just wholesale. 40
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Exhibit 1.
MR SULLIVAN: Hold on. Yes. Your Honour, in the intervening
period, I’ve spoken to Miss-----
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Oh, the other - well - thing I wanted to
ask you, though, so I'm clear about this, the directors - the
composition of the board of directors of ILMIM and LMA. Now, I
know that Mr Drake is a director of LMIM. 50
MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, I’11l just see. One of the
affidavits has a number of company searches, I believe.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I'm interested in his power on the board,
as it were.
MR SULLIVAN: Sorry. His——---
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THE CHIEF JUSTICE: He’'s one of how many directors, for
example?

MR O'DONNELL: Just see if we can turn it up, your Honour. I
did want to.

MR SULLIVAN: I did want to inform your Honour about ASIC.

Ms Ann Gibbons from - a senior lawyer from ASIC 1s in the well

of the Court and she’s asked me to communicate their position

in relation to the material served by my learned friend’s side
to this effect: if the issues raised are as important as they

say they are, they ought to be properly served on ASIC with
the material, and ASIC given a reasonable time to consider
their position as to whether they wish to intervene. So
that’s the position.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Is that right? What does that mean?

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: If I say the issues are as important,
potentially, as they claim, then ASIC wants to be given an
opportunity to look at them.

MR SULLIVAN: Well, they haven’t been served with the
material, as I understand it.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: ©Oh, I see, by Mr O'Donnell’s side?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes and so they - I think what Ms Gibbons is
saying is that, not having been served, they haven’t had an
opportunity to consider the substance of the material and
whether they ought to intervene in light of the substance of
the material

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.
MR SULLIVAN: So I wanted to communicate that to your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: What - what is the - where do - does one
find the requirement to serve ASIC-—-—-

MR SULLIVAN: Ah--——-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: —=--- with proceedings of this character?
I

know I'm often informed ASIC's been served with this and has
no wish to appear, but where - where does that reside, the
requirement? : ‘

MR SULLIVAN: I'm not sure there’s - I suppose they’ve been
served because of the complex nature of these matters, your
Honour. I'm not able to point you to a particular section of
the regulation at the moment. -

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right.
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MR SULLIVAN: But certainly the administrators took the
position that, in relation to both applications, they ought to
serve them on ASIC and did, amongst others.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But it is - it’s like, when I was at the

bar, that the Judges would impishly say, when you brought on a.

motion for probate, "Under what section of the legislation
this, Mr De Jersey?", and we were all ready for those
questions. This now points up a need, doesn’t it, to look at
any statutory requirement in relation to ASIC, because -
because the point - the position taken by Mr O'Donnell’s
clients is really a very significant position, and if there’s
an obligation to keep ASIC informed as these things develop,
then it should go to them, I think.

MR SULLIVAN: Well, we’ll look for the specific power. I
suppose, your Honour, I came today--—---

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: ----- making sure that we’d given notice to
everybody we thought we’d given notice to.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, yes.

MR SULLIVAN: And it’s - my learned friend - it’s their side,
whether they give a notice to anybody beyond serving us
outside the Court this morning

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm, because they're - yes, they’'ve put a
twist on - on to the proceeding, really, haven’t they?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes. If there’s not a specific power in the Act
or the regulations, then my side has been overcautious in
serving ASIC, but still I would submit, your Honour, proper,
given the nature of this group. -

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: To support ASIC’s position here, you have
to have some obligation to keep ASIC informed of the positions
taken in proceedings.

MR SULLIVAN: There’d be no doubt, I would have thought-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: There’d be no - I doubt there’'d be a
provision to that effect.

MR SULLIVAN: Serving with the extension----—-
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But Ms Muir’s found something there.

MR SULLIVAN: There - yes, in the schedule, schedule 1A, there
are certain applications under the Corporations Act where it
is obligatory to serve ASIC, but, of course, this isn’t an
application of the Corporations Act, but given the nature,
amongst other things, there’s an issue whether it’s possible
that this might, in fact, be an unregulated management
investment scheme.
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. THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. 1

MR SULLIVAN: And if it turned out that it was, your Honour,
then the appropriate order that I would perceive would be
somebody making application under 601EE for the winding up of
that scheme, but that’s a matter which ASIC has raised and is
being looked at both by ASIC and the administrators. Nobody’s
come to this Court at the moment and can confidently say to
your Honour—----—-

10
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: To wind it up, mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: ———-- "You have jurisdiction under 601EE to make
that order. It needs to be investigated. There’s a proper
fact—-——-
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, from what you tell me, you've -
you’' re going to quickly apprise ASIC of this proceeding and
there’s no need to adjourn it so that ASIC can have a look at
Mr O’Donnell’s presentation? 20
MR SULLIVAN: Well, at least ASIC’s been apprised of our
material.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: They haven’t been apprised of Mr——---
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But there’s no statutory obligation-----

30

MR SULLIVAN: None that I can point to, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: -—-———-— to put - put that into ASIC’'s Court.

MR SULLIVAN: None that I can point to.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: WMmm hmm.

MR SULLIVAN: But, obviously, as the regulator, given the
circumstances of this case, they’re probably seeking to remain 40
informed of the circumstances, what is going on in the back

stages.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And they will be informed of
Mr Of'Donnell’s material, no doubt, too. Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, can I take you to the affidavit of

Mr Park in the matter of - in 2859, and take your Honour to

page 4 of the exhibits with the numbering down the bottom
right-hand corner. 50
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: ©Oh, vyes, yes.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, at page 3, will see that’s LM
Investments Management.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Hang on. LM-----
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MR SULLIVAN: At page 3 at the top. This is the company----- 1

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: ===-— LM Investments Management Pty Ltd.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: MIM, mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: And if your Honour goes to the next page—-———-

10
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: -—-——- a third of the way down, "current company
officers™.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: So he’s one of four directors?

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and there seems to be several.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: The obvious significance is that, although 20
this isn’'t a point taken by Mr 0'Donnell, that the current
administrators, who are appointed by this board of directors,

and one of their interests will be the dealings with Mr Drake

and his companies.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, your Honour.

THE CHIFF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: But these are two various—-——-- 30
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, I know that.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes. They're caught off-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: 1It's a matter of perceptions is what I was
thinking.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, your Honour. It - well, it may - it may,

in one instance, be a matter of perception but it’s a 40
perception without substance

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: They’re good officers. They’re well experienced
in complex administrations, ligquidations and recelverships
and, once you’re appointed, it matters not a jot that a
director has appointed you.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: WNo, and--~--- 50
MR SULLIVAN: Your obligation is-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And you would say that the anxious concern

of a beneficiary that - that the receiver or the trustee be

the same person who was appointed to administer the company
voluntarily by Mr Drake would be an uninformed concern?
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MR SULLIVAN: That’'s correct. 1
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right.

MR SULLIVAN: But, your Honour, I'11 take your Honour-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Albeit a natural human concern.

MR SULLIVAN: And that’s accepted, and, your Honour, it’s been
accepted in the declaration of independence----—- 10

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: -———-—- that there is the possibility that, during
the course of the administration, conflicts may arise.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: May have to change, yes.

MR SULLIVAN: And - and I'1ll take your Honour—-—---
20

.~ THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, what he says in respect of that is,

"Well, look, they were only appointed on the 19th of March.
It's not as if they’ve been there for years and developing a
comprehensive corporate knowledge of the affairs of the
companies.

MR SULLIVAN: Well, the answer to that is they’ve had at least
the month of---—-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Apropos duplication, I mean. ' 30
MR SULLIVAN: Well, there’s past duplication, so there will be

some past duplication, and they've sworn to, amongst other

things, the contact they’ve had with secured creditors.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: The investigations they’ve made and so forth.

But, accept, your Honour, that it’s only, I think,

approximately a month at this point in time, but there’s the 40
duplication moving forward, because what you then have, if you

have two sets of insolvency---—--

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: -—-———- practitioners, each incurring costs, where
there will be some commonality of interest-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: One - one - one set covering a range of

targets and other, on his approach, with a single focus on 50
one.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: That’s correct, but there will be - what there

will be 1s crossover.
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THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: So there will be a duplication of costs and
there will be the difficulties associated with two regimes
running side by side.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I think - I think his point about the
receivership is, on the face of it, a good one. Why would you
appoint a receiver to a solvent institution such as this and
give it the bad smell that necessarily attaches to that?

MR SULLIVAN: What I'd say about that, your Honour, is 1I'd
take your Honour to the trust deed first-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: --—-- just to explain why the administrators have
brought the application, because it was the administrators
that had raised with-----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But could - but could they be appointed
trustee?

MR SULLIVAN: They could.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: They could. I suppose the point taken in
relation to receiver versus trustee is the receiver at this
stage is, until further order of the Court, and the Court very
much maintains control over--—-—--

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Whereas the trustee would be a permanent
replacement.

MR SULLIVAN: And there are powers in the trust deed, once
you’re a trustee, that you can exercise, and you’ll see that
we had alternatives in our application. We actually had
"receiver or trustee”. :

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I don’t think I actually saw that. I-----
MR SULLIVAN: Perhaps I could take your Honour to that.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm. Mmm hmm.

MR SULLIVAN: It’s paragraph 3 of the application, your
Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Paragraph 3.

MR SULLIVAN: And section 80 under the Trusts Act is the
jurisdiction of the Court to appoint.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I don’t think I’ve got them in order here.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, I have a copy of the Trusts Act, if
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. that would assist you. Sorry, your Honour. This is 1
application 2869 of 13.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Just look at these two orders that you

gave me before. They both appear to provide the appointment
of receivers.

MR SULLIVAN: That’s corréct. In the application we had

sought, as an alternative, appointment of the trustee.

A 10
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Oh, in the application. I'm looking at

.the draft orders.

MR SULLIVAN: Oh, sorry, your Honour.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Why do I have two draft orders?

MR SULLIVAN: One is this de minimis powers of a receiver, my
reference to section 420. The other one has slightly more
extensive powers and they were derived from a - an order that 20
I obtained previously from Justice Muir in a case called
Mansukhani-———-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right.

MR SULLIVAN: -—--—- which has slightly more extensive powers,
and it was just a matter of preference for your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Oh, now, in the application - I have that.

' 30
MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour will see in paragraphs 1 and 2 was
an application for receivers.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, I see. I see that now.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and 3. The position which the
administrative of Storm was that at this particular stage it
was more appropriate for the appointment to be receivers under
the supervision of the Court--—-——-

40
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: —=——- rather than as trustees, and they had in

mind that there are, amongst other things, powers within the

trust deed once you are trustee, that could be exercised, and

they include a decision, for instance, to wind up, to bring to

an end, the trust and start to wind up. Now, I - your Honour,
ultimately that may be an appropriate thing to be done in

relation to this particular trust, but the administrators ‘
didn’t want to take it on themselves to clothe them with that 50
power at this point in time but take the more conservative

route of, on an interim basis, filling in the difficulty which
arose as a result of clause 23 of the trust deed. Could I

take you to the affidavit in 2869, the large affidavit of

Mr Park, the first one?

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: DMmm.
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. ) MR SULLIVAN: And page 100. Your Honour will see the trust 1
deed starts at page 67.

. THE CHIEF JUSTICE: What page?
MR SULLIVAN: Page 67 of the exhibits, your Honour.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: It will have "deed poll" at the top. 10
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: BAnd then at page 102, your Honour will see
paragraph 23, or clause 23, and 23.1(b)(ii). Now, in the
Mansukhani decision - and it’s in the authority bundle I've
handed up to your Honour.

-THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, the - adopt - an appointment by the
Court would have to be under the Trusts Act. 20

MR SULLIVAN: That’s correct, section 80.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Because this contemplates the unit holders
appeointing a new trustee.

MR SULLIVAN: That’s correct, and that's also one of the
reasons why the administrators decided that it wasn’t
appropriate for - for it, at this stage———--

30
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: They shouldn’t at this stage use this
usurping the power of the--——--
. MR SULLIVAN: That----—-
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: --———- beneficiaries to appoint the trustee
of their own choice.
MR SULLIVAN: That’s correct, your Honour. At the end of the
day, the beneficiaries under the deed have a right to hold a 40
{:} meeting and seek to appoint whoever they wish to as the
trustee.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: And whilst we - when we formed the application,
put it as an alternative, the administrator didn’t believe it
was their position to, as your Honour say, usurp the right of
the actual investors in this fund. Now, there may come a time
where that is an appropriate order to seek, but not at this 50
early stage. The receiver allows the benefit for - to provide
a guiding mind to the trust and that’s the risk which is
apparent from 23.1(b) (ii). It provides that the manager must
resign, if it becomes an externally administered body, as
defined in the Corporations Act. That has occurred here.

Now, it’s unclear, your Honour, whether that’s an automatic
resignation or whether it requires a positive act. There’s
nothing in there which says that it needs a positive act that
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we can see, but the concern is that that leaves the trust 1
without a guiding line

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: Now, the managed investment schemes, which are
separate to this trust, have the corporate entity as the RE of
those funds. This, of course, has not been registered, and,
as I said to your Honour, there is a matter about whether it
should have been registered, but at this stage we would submit 10
you don’t need a licence in relation to it, and certainly we
appraised ASIC of the nature of the application we’re bringing
and ASIC hasn’t come and asserted any licence is needed for
this unregistered fund. If it should have been registered,
your Honour, ultimately, it ought - it can be subject of a
601EE, the winding up order I've taken you to before, the
point being - is that there is - the actual bare legal title
is invested in a custodian entity and that’s in our written
submissions.

20
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, I’ve seen all of that.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes. But the custodian entity simply holds it.
There needs to be somebody making decisions to reserve the
property. Now, the administrators have fulfilled that role to
date, quite properly, but they, given this deed, believe it
was necessary to come to the Court, appraise the Court and get

an order which regularises what - moving forward.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm. 30

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, can I take your Honour to the
authorities now? And I’ve handed up, I believe, a second
bundle of authorities to your Honour. Could I take your
Honour to tab 11 in that bundle? Now, this is one of the
early ASIC and Westpoint authorities, and a decision of
Justice Siopis in the Federal Court.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: You’ve extracted these in your outline,
haven’t you? 40

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, I have, your Honour, but I just wanted to
take your Honour--—---

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: The relevant principles are from paragraph 19

and over the page, your Honour. One of the arguments - and
particularly paragraph 26 - one of the arguments raised that

there may have been theoretical conflicts——--- 80

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I hope you don’t expect a judgment as
comprehensive as this out of me.

MR SULLIVAN: I just want to take your Honour to the relevant
principles, that’s all. So the issue that there may be--—--
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: From paragraph 26.
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1
MR SULLIVAN: -——--- theoretical or hypothetical conflicts———--
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: =—--— and your Honour will see how Justice Siopis
dealt with that in 32 and 33, referring to the English
authorities.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm. I’'ve read that. 10
MR SULLIVAN: Yes
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: That was in your outline.
MR SULLIVAN: And that’s point. So, your Honour, looking at
the matters which have been raised by my learned friend’s
material, none of them raise above the possible or
theoretical. There’s not a real conflict raised at this
particular point this time. 20
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: The other point which was raised in the
affidavit was the suggestion that that notice hadn’t properly
been given to the investors.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: Could I take your Honour to the affidavit of 30
Miss Banton - my learned friend - particularly at page -
paragraph 7.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Just a moment. Mmm hmm.
MR SULLIVAN: Now, the first thing to note is that--—-——
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Perhaps I should have a look at the letter
that was sent. _
40
MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, could I ask you to look at Miss
Frederico’s affidavit in 28697
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm hmm. What page?
MR SULLIVAN: And your Honour will see at - the exhibits are
paginated in the right-hand bottom corner. Page 1 you will
see the letter and-----
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Let me - let me read that. Wrong one. 50
The letter enclosed the originating application which names :
the beneficiaries as respondents.
MR SULLIVAN: It names them as respondents, your Honour,
around will turn to page 4 of the exhibit.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, "if you wish to be heard".
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) MR SULLIVAN: That's correct, and at page 5, your Honour, 1

identifies "be served on members of LM Mahagéemént Performance
Fund and ASIC. So, with respect, there’s nothing misleading
about that. Secondly, there’s actually no evidence that
anybody was misled.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: All you have is an expression of opinion by Miss
Banton, who has dealt with a number of investors, who have 10
obviously gone to a legal representative and she represents

here today seven investors. So, far from it being misleading,

it actually put people on notice and people have sought

solicitors. 8o, with respect, there’s nothing in that point.

In the affidavit there, under the heading "potential '
conflicts™, I've made a generic submission to your Honour that
nothing rises above, as that suggests, a potential or

hypothetical.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Is that Amanda Banton’'s affidavit? 20
MR SULLIVAN: That’s correct, so above paragraph 10.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm,

MR SULLIVAN: And, if I could deal with each of the points

raised there, the first one "investors are not creditors",

with respect, that deals with a matter really involving the
administration. At the end of the day, the administrators

have to rule on proofs, and there’s - your Honour, there’s an 30
issue - which is obviously one they had to consider - is

whether particular investors have equity or whether they have

a claim and that matter’s not written in stone. It’s a matter
which Mr Park has deposed to in his last affidavit of today,

at paragraph 10, that, "The administrator’s independent review

of claims of the investors is continuing. The administrator

intends to update investors and creditors of any material
developments.™ But that’s just a matter which, in the

ordinary course, administrators must do. Is it in the nature

of a debt which they can prove for, is it something they can't 40
prove for, but that’s - doesn’t create any real conflict.

At paragraph 14 there's reference to the declaration of
independence, and, your Honour, that is set out at page 27 of
the original affidavit. The point there is at -~ made at
paragraph 15 - that the administrators can see the possibility
of conflicts. That’s correct. If - but if conflicts arise,
then they’1l be dealt with in the usual way, including by
seeking directions of this Court. So it's a proper
acknowledgement, in that declaration, by the administrators, 50
of that position. And your Honour - would have been surprised
if there’d not been a concession of & possibility of conflicts
down the track.

The Westpoint case I took your Honour to was a case where the
point being raised there was whether there should be one

liguidator for the whole group or separate liquidators for
separate corporations, and that type of point just raised
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* there is the type of point which was raised in Westpoint and

the point made in west point is the same here, is that
hypothetical and possible conflicts are not a reason not to
make the appeointment in the absence of a real conflict.

Twenty-one claims - well, that talks again in very
hypothetical terms of the possibility of claims being made.
If individuals have claims, then those - they can be made,
and, if the individuals, as a group, wish to a point another
trustee following the mechanism set down in the trust deed,
they can appoint another trustee, but the receiver is
important because it’s in their - in the short term, at the
least, as a guiding line for the trust in light of clause 23.
So again there’s no real conflict arising from that.

Your Honour, I'm happy to take you to any of the other
authorities you wish to go to.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Sufficiently comprehended.

MR SULLIVAN: They’re of the same - the same ilk. The
Mansukhani case was a cas€ - I might just - that was a case I
was in. That was a situation where there was a corporate
trustee, it had gone to ligquidation and there was an automatic
termination clause within the deed. Now, in that case, there
was evidence that there was dissipation of the assets and so
there was perhaps the stronger need in that case to protect
the assets. The point made here is that - is a slightly
different point, because the assets are in the custodian but
there is the lack of the guiding mind.” But the - but the
point there about hypothetical and real conflicts - one of the
reasons for putting the receiver in was because there will be
liabilities of the trust entity which have been incurred as a
trustee, where there will be a lien - an equitable lien
securing it, and the trust - or the receiver, I should say, is
the mechanism ultimately whereby that lien could be enforced.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR SULLIVAN: Excuse me for a moment, your Honour. My learned
junior makes this point, and - and I suppose it goes to the -
the short notice, is that there leant been any appraising of
the other investors of the prospect of KordaMentha being
appointed. Whether they had an issue with KordaMentha’'s is a
matter which can’t be spoken to on the material, your Honour.
Unless there’s something further at the moment that I could
assist vyou with---—-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Thank you. Mr O'Donnell?

MR O DONNELL: Your Honour will appreciate our primary
position is that there needs to be better notice to all
beneficiaries in the trust. It’s our submission the notice
which the applicants gave, your Honour’s been taken to, is not
sufficient. If your Honour has Miss Frederico’s affidavit
there commencing at page 1.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
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MR O’DONNELL: The letter in the application was sent but not

the affidavits, so the unitholders didn’t receive any of the
affidavits the applicants rely upon.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O'DONNELL: The covering letter in paragraph 2 refers to
appointing receivers. That does not say, "The application
also involves changing your trust deed."” Someone reading the
LA might pick it up, but the letter doesn’t tell them that.
The letter also doesn’t tell them simply that, "You are a
party to the application and you have the right to appear and
make submissions to the Court." If anything, in our
submission, the covering letter in the third paragraph goes
the other way, saying, "I will keep investors informed of the
status of the application.”, suggesting, "You don't need to do
anything. I’11 let you know."

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Some of those situations, parties approach
the Court proactively for a direction-----

MR O'DONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: -—-——- as to service before the thing is
mounted.

MR O'’DONNELL: Yes. 1In our submission, that would have been
the better course here, particularly in - as many of the
investors are overseas and, therefore, service by e-mail or by
fax is far more desirable.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR O'DONNELL: And, of course, the other unitholders don’t

know that we are here today saying that, if the Court is to
make an order, it should be (a) appoint trustee rather than
receivers and (b) appoint KordaMentha rather than Mr Parkin.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, Mr Sullivan took that point against
you. He said what’s good for the goose is good for the gander
and I think, in support of his contention that the
notification, which has been given, was adegquate. But you -
you would put the position that what you - that your
alternative proposal should be notified to the members.

MR OfDONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O’ DONNELL: And there is a possibility for unitholders to
nominate someone else - that is, they could have a say as to
who should be the replacement trustee.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm,

MR O’ DONNELL: After all, we're talking about the welfare of

the trust, so the primary issue is what is in the best
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\ 1] L] U 1
i interests of the beneficiaries.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O’DONNELL: It’s desirable, in our submission, that the

beneficiaries be given a full opportunity to understand what’s
going on and to put their views before the Court.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And it’s - it’s a wealthy fund, if I can
use that term.

MR O'DONNELL: Yes. There’s no suggestion that, if this is
adjourned-—----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Because the assets aren’t in jeopardy.

MR O'DONNELL: No. Millions of dollars - there’s no
suggestion that anything’s going to happen in, say, the next
two weeks, that would put - that would need any sort of urgent
action. So, to that extent, we have formulated a draft—-——--

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: The primary objective is to investigate
what’s gone on.

MR OfDONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And pursue any necessary claims.
MR OfDONNELL: Yes, that’s our submission.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O'DONNELL: So we have annexed that - or produced to your
Honour a draft order, which we say would appropriately give
notice to all of the investors.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: You misspelt the name of the
administrator. Ginett it is, G-I-N-E-T-T.

MR OfDONNELL: Thank you, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, did you want to say anything else
about the - about - Mr - Mr Sullivan dealt with your point
about trustee as opposed to receiver.

MR O'DONNELL: Yes. In my submission, it’s appropriate, if an
order is to be made, to a point a replacement trustee. Under
the trust deed, the current trustee is obliged to resign I
think only to the extent of administration.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, it’s taken to have resigned after

the - I could make a declaration. If the proceeding is

properly constituted, the Court can make a declaration that
the—————-

MR QOf DONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: -—-———- trustee’s gone.
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MR O'DONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But then I think - I got something in his
response to you on that count, but it might be more
appropriate to appoint a receiver, albeit a solvent trust,
because the receivership could more readily be terminated, as
necessary, than the appointment of a new trust - I suppose the
Court could appoint a new trustee at some stage further down
the track.

MR O’DONNELL: The Court could appoint a new trustee now,
rather than the receiver.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I know that, but he says that----—-
MR Of DONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: -——--- the power to appoint a trustee is
primarily meant to be exercised by the members.

MR O DONNELL: No. We would disagree with that, your Honour.
Under section 80 of the Trusts Act, the Court can replace the
trustee.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I understand that, but under the trust
MR O’ DONNELL: Under the trust deed, you have to have 50 per
cent of them—----

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O'DONNELL: -——-——- that’s in favour of the replacing the
trustee, which is very impractical, given that this trust was
sold to investors worldwide, largely overseas investors.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR OfDONNELL: There’s no mechanism in the trust deed even for
calling a meeting of members of the trust.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O'DONNELL: So it doesn’t seem to be a very practical
option.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Is - or the other point - the only other
point then is the - is the identity of ~ of the trustee or
receiver.

MR OfDONNELL: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And you’ve made your points about that.

MR O'DONNELL: And we say it should be KordaMentha rather than
the applicant.
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° THE CHIEF JUSTICE: What about the - this licence issue,

financial services licence issue?

MR O'DONNELL: Yes, your Honour. It’s our submission that the

trustee does have to have a licence. Does your Honour have
the Corporations Act?

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: 1I’'ve looked at these provisions before.
They're very complicated. :

MR O'DONNELL: They are. It’s our submission that even though

the fund is unregistered, and even if it does not have to be
registered-—---

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.
MR O'DONNELL: --—-—- under chapter 5---—-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: It’s still the provision of financial
services. ‘

MR OfDONNELL: That’s right, because it involves dealing in
financial products. Financial products are defined as
including units in a managed investment fund, even if it does
not have to be registered.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR O'DONNELL: So, for the trustee, for example, to redeem -
units, it has to have a licence.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: It’s a very broad definition. I had a
look at this some years - some time ago, I gave a judgment on
it.

MR O’DONNELL: Yes. So it’s our submission the trustee does
need to revise—-———-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I can’t remember if it survived the Court
of Appeal or not.

MR Q' DONNELL: The current trustees—--—-——

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I'm to a point in my career where I'm not
really troubled by that so much any more.

MR O'DONNELL: No. But the current trustee does have a
licence, but its licence has been suspended by ASIC.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. I know that.

MR O’ DONNELL: That’'s exhibited to Miss Banton’s affidavit.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: But there was an issue about your licence,
the KordaMentha one, because the suggestion was confined to

wholesale—-——-

MR Of DONNELL: Yes.
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THE CHIEF JUSTICE: -—-—- operations or something. What’s the
point there?

MR O'DONNELL: That licence 1is, but KordaMentha has a number
of service companies which hold different licences and are now
proposing a different service company owned by KordaMentha
called Calibre Capital Ltd, which holds a financial licence
which he sends to both retail and wholesale clients.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: So you're telling me that your nominees do
have the requisite licence? '

MR O'DONNELL: Yes, your Honour, and I'm seeking to tender the
alternate licence they hold, having both retail and wholesale.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Did I give you back the other one?
MR O’DONNELL: No. Your Honour still has it.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Exhibit 1. All right. This will be
Exhibit 2 then.

ADMITTED AND MARKED "EXHIBIT 2"

MR OfDONNELL: Thank you, your Honour,

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. And, ves, finally, the issue about
would should take on the role, if it’'s to be billed.

MR O'DONNELL: Yes, your Honour. We say--—---

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: The big point taken against you there is
that you could only point to theoretical conflicts and there
seems to be a weight of authority saying the Court shouldn't
be too perturbed about - about that, on the basis that they
can be - arrangements can be made down the track if a real
conflict emerges.

MR O’DONNELL: That’s right, but that involves the proposition
that you appoint someone now and there may be a conflict later
on after they’ve done months of work and incurred large fees.
Then they come to Court, identify a conflict. They have to be
replaced and all that work is largely lost. 1It’s much better
to sort out who's the appropriate trustee now. As my learned
friend concedes, his clients have only begun work recently on
the 19th of March, so they can't have done very much. The
second - second aspect is, on the authorities my learned
friend cites, there seem to be simple cases of a single
corporate trustee and a single trust, where is this is a
complicated case. Here the trustee was the trustee of a
number of funds and at least half a dozen, involving very
large amounts and substantial inter-company dealings.
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THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, you've covered that in your outline.

MR OfDONNELL: Yes.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I'm seized of that.

MR O DONNELL: And there are cases where one fund is first
mortgagee, our fund might be the second mortgagee, and there
can be different interests as to how best to realise the
asset. We've also got the problem here that the former
trustee appears to have lent the majority 390 odd million
dollars worth of funds, the majority of it companies
associated with one director---—-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.

MR O' DONNELL: -—=-—- which raises the immediate guestion should
that be properly investigated now in the interests of this
trust. The best person to investigate is someone independent.
Otherwise you would have a situation where the applicants were
both investigating on behalf of the trust--———-

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, I read that in your outline.

MR O'DONNELL: -—=--— but also sitting on the other side of the
fence.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. I’ve even underlined it.

MR O’ DONNELL: Thank you, your Honour. So we say it’'s
desirable to have - appoint someone right at the start, who is
independent--—---

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Understand your point.

MR Of DONNELL: -—=—- of any other relationship. B2And can I also
say though this: the primary consideration in who should be
fthe trustee must be what’s in the best interests of the
beneficiaries.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR -0’ DONNELL: My side is the only beneficiary before your
Honour, the only beneficiary expressing a view. We would
prefer someone separate from the applicants. The applicants
are not a beneficiary and they’'re not a trustee. They’ re the
administrators of the trustee and they’re effectively asking
for additional work, so their interest, in our submission, is
really of no weight in overall determining what’s in the best
interests of the parties. Thank you, your Honour.

THF. CHIEF JUSTICE: Thank you. Thank you, Mr O’Donnell. I'm
troubled about the service point, I have to confess,

Mr Sulliwvan.

MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour—-—---—-—

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: You’ve said all you can say on that,
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) haven’t you? ' 1

MR SULLIVAN: Well, no, because two of the things that were
said were incorrect.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: Firstly, it is true that the letter didn't say,
"appointing trustees", but, your Honour, I’'m not here seeking
appointment of a trustee. So, whilst it - they got the 10
application. BSo the letter attached the application, so they

had the application. So the point my friend said I didn’t say
seeking to appoint a trustee. That’s not what the

administrators have now sought in this matter.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: The second point is - is that the covering

letter in the second last paragraph identified that relevant
documents would be posted on the website and that included the 20
affidavit of John Park, filed in support of the application,

as deposed that they were put up on the website. So what was

sent on the e-mail and in the correspondence was the letter

and the application and identifying that the affidavit was
available on the website and it’s deposed it was posted on the

website. So, with respect, it’s quite incorrect to say, "Oh,

well, it was just the application."™ It was the application

with the affidavit material on the website; and that is

broadly similar to what was done in equity trust matter last

year, which I acted for ASIC in and Miss Banton acted for 30
other investors in. And the second point is, your Honour - so

there is ~ and there’s just no evidence that anybody has said

they were misled about it. In fact, investors are here.

Secondly, the point made about my learned friend representing

some investors, he represents seven investors, and, relatively
speaking, they are a very small percentage. I'm not sure

whether they come to a million dollars. They might come to a
million dollars. 8o it’s something like for 300 and something
million dollars of the investments, a fraction of a per cent. 40
S0 it shouldn’t be thought that they represent the position of
investors. BAnd your Honour might well think that the fact the

other - the other investors hadn’t turned up is they don't

have a problem with the application that’s being made.

The next point in relation to the need for a licence - we say
there’s no need for a licence. ASIC has received it and

there’s no suggestion from ASIC that there is a need for a

licence in relation to a Court appointed receiver of trust

assets. 50

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, that may be so.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and it’s just thrown in there, your Honour,
as some - with respect, a red herring, where at the Bar table
we’re given a licence, firstly, which only dealt with

wholesale people and apparently your Honour'’s been handed
another licence, which I haven’t seen, for some other entity,
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w which there’s nothing in the material about, and I wouldn’t

have a clue as to its position, its standing, the terms of its
licence and whether it’s got sufficient to handle this fund.
So your Honour shouldn’t be distracted by what’s been thrust
to your Honour. What we’'re talking about here is a Court
appointed receiver to trust assets on an interim basis,
pursuant to the power of the Civil - Civil Proceedings Act,

.and alsc the power in the UCPR. So there is plenty of power,

your Honour, in relation to that, to take action in relation
to the preservation and management of trust assets and nothing
in the Corporations Act requires a licence for that. If your
Honour was troubled about that, then I'd ask for further time
to look into it, given it was a matter only—-----

- THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right.

MR SULLIVAN: -———- raised this morning.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mr O'Donnell, could your nominees be
appointed as receivers?

MR O’DONNELL: Yes, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: And would they accept appointment as
receivers, those two companies, if I - if T took that course?

MR O'DONNELL: Yes, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: On the terms that Mr OfDonnell has
proposed?

MR OfDONNELL: Mr Sullivan.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mr Sullivan has proposed?
MR O'DONNELL: Yes, your Honour.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: I’m not saying we can do that. I just
wanted to know.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and the final point is, your Honour, that
we’ve included within the orders a liberty to apply. If your
Honour goes to those orders, you’ll see that they have - that
has been included.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes, I've heard - I've seen that. 1 saw
that.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes, and that’s based on at least one of the
authorities I have in there, saying that that’s an appropriate
provision in there to protect beneficiaries of trusts, that,
if they’re not happy with what’s going on and what’s happened,
that they can apply to the Court.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right. ILook, I’'1l give - I’1ll give
judgment at 3 o’clock this afternoon. Adjourn until 3 p.m.

MR SULLIVAN: Oh, your Honour, I'm - excuse me, I'm sorry to

1-31

10

20

30

40

50

60

77



23042013 D.1 T(1)6-9/SDH (BRIS) BRIS13 (de Jersey CJ)

"j do it, but there may be a problem with corporate entities 1

being appointed receivers.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, that’s why I asked the question, but
I got a very confident affirmation from Mr O'Donnell.

MR SULLIVAN: Well, as we understand it, the - it - the
practice of this Court it has to be individuals.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Has to be an actual person? 10
MR SULLIVAN: Mmm.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: That was the query in my mind.

MR SULLIVAN: Yes.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: You could have — you could have a
corporate trust deed.

20
MR SULLIVAN: You can, your Honour.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right. Thank you.

MR SULLIVAN: Thank you, your Honour.

THE COURT ADJOURNED AT 12.33 P.M. TILL 3.00 P.M.
30

THE COURT RESUMED AT 3.00 P.M.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Have you given - have you given copies of
these to - to Mr Sullivan, the consents?

MR O'DONNELL: Yes, yes, your Honour. 40

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: You want - well, I’ll mark the consent to
act as trustees as Exhibit 3.

ADMITTED AND MARKED "EXHIBIT 3"
50

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Aund the other consent of Mr Winterbottom
and Mr Furtulla as Exhibit 4.

ADMITTED AND MARKED "EXHIBIT 4"
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; 1
MR O’ DONNELL: Yes, thank you, your Honour. Your Honour, our
consent was contained in the affidavit material.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes.
MR O'DONNELL:. I just wanted to send that up because there was
some confusion at the end of the argument-----

~ THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Sorry? 10
MR OfDONMELL: There was some confusion at the end of argument
as to who we're proposing to be receivers, if your Honour
decides to appoint receivers, but we want-—---—-—

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, I don’t think you can appoint a
company as a receiver.
MR OfDONNELL: No, but, as your Honour will see from the
consent, we're proposing two liguidators from KordaMentha----- ' 20
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: As what?
MR O’ DONNELL: As receivers.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Oh, yes, vyes. I did see that. Mmm.
Actually - what’s - these are alternates in - is this - has
this draft order come from you?
MR OfDONNELL: Yes, your Honour. It does. One is if your 30
Honour decides to appoint trustees. The other is if your
Honour decides to appoint receivers.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right, but if I appointed trustees,
you’d need more than paragraph one, wouldn’t you? Is that all
you’d need?
MR Of DONNELL: Yes, yes.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: It’s only when you appoint receivers that 40
you need to specify what the powers are, because the truss
deed specifies the powers but the trustee is the appointment.
MR OfDONNELL: Yes. I was assuming that from my learned
friend’s draft. He had that in his draft.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: BAnd is it called Calibre Capital Pty Ltd?
MR O’DONNELL: Yes, your Honour.
50

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: All right. Is that - is that the one
covered by the consent?
MR.O’DONNELL: Yes, and it has the financial services licence.
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Right. Thank you.
MR SULLIVAN: Your Honour, I don’t think I did take you
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P ) through - I did some research about appointing corporations 1
receivers. That’s probably dead now, so---—- )

2 THE CHIEF JUSTICE: You can’t - you can’t have a — I don't

think you can have a corporation as a receiver. You can as a
trustee, of course, but--—--

MR SULLIVAN: You can’t for corporation assets and it - and it
would appear that generally you can’t, it would seem, for

Court appointed receivers for trust assets. If there was a 10
limited class of corporations, I think it’s the Company

Trustee Act, it’s the State Act.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: It identifies a small class of what I'd call
institutional professional trustee companies, or State
instrumentalities like the Public Trustee—----—-—

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm. 20

MR SULLIVAN: -——==- of which these entities aren’t.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.

MR SULLIVAN: The only thing I’'d add, your Honour, in relation
to that licence that your Honour has had handed, of course,
there’s no affidavit material surrounding that, and your
Honour will note that there’s a number of conditions which
attach to that, including the need to have a certain minimum 30
net tangible asset position as a condition. There’s just no
material whether, if they’re appointed to this, they’d meet
the conditions within the licence and that’s - that’s the
problem, and no disrespect to my learned friend, of just
handing a licence to your Honour at the Bar table without the
benefit of any affidavit material.

; THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Well, it would really be — it would really
i be a matter for them to satisfy themselves that they're
f:> operating in accordance with the law, wouldn’t it? 40

MR SULLIVAN: Except they’re asking your Honour to make an
appointment as trustee.

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Mmm.
MR SULLIVAN: And that’s the problem. You'd just be handed a

licence from the Bar table. You don’t know anything about the
company, or we would - we’'d satisfy the conditions.

50
THE CHIEF JUSTICE: Yes. Could I see Exhibits 3 and 4,
please?
TAKE IN ORDER
}
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THE CHIEF JUSTICE: This is an application for the appointment
of Mr Park and Ms Muller, who are the administrators of two
companies, LM Investment Management Limited and

IM Administration Pty Ltd, as receivers and managers of the
assets of The Managed Performance Fund. The application
alternatiwvely, seeks their appointment as trustees, pursuant
to section B0 of the Trusts Act. They were appointed as
administrators of those two companies on the

19th of March 2013.
The Managed Performance Fund, which T will call “the Fund”,

ligbilities of appr031mately $16.5 million.

-;aﬂa -‘v&:%ﬁ
registered under chapter 5(c) of the Corpqﬁgtldgs Ag%,

apparently in reliance on its being establls;“h far 1nvestors
.

outside Australia, global platform aﬁégﬁgﬁgg%bgﬁd operators
and institutional/wholesale 1nv%s%%%s Qggg%er or not that is

g

-;r' .

right is an issue being revieweg%py Agﬁgfand the

Cne of the companies o é%' ch the applicants are

P T
administrators, _@&m%%y LM E.vestment Management Limited, was
= 4
trustee of the FE% “&ause of clause 23.1(b) (ii) of the
B

S

Trust Deed, upon théﬁfcompany going into administration, it
was obliged to resign as trustee. The present application is
?remised on its no longer being trustee, although there is no
evidence of any actual act of resignation. It is appropriate,
to remove any doubt, that I order now that LM Investment

Management Limited be removed as trustee 6f The Managed

2 , ORDER
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Performance Fund. There is obvious need for the appointment of

some entity to manage and control the Fund which is presently

rudderless.

There are approximately 350 million issued units in the Fund,
which is a unit trust. I assume that there are numerous unit
holders, many of them apparently located overseas. The
application names the members of the Fund, as a category, as
the respondents. Seven of them are represented here by

Mr O'Donnell. His first contention in opposing the
application was that the application was not adequately

notified to the members of the Fund.

On the 5th of Aprll 2013 known investors lE’th

i =
& RER & ‘

either e-mailed or posted notice of thggggp »atlon and
B,

advised that the Court documents werel

&,

administrators’ website, where %ﬁ‘m&Te %ﬁ%y fact, published.

e

E Liﬁ-

Mr O'Donnell suggested that the

mislead. But it enclosed

clearly set out the re%ief . being clalmed and advised in the

e N
usual form of the rlghtggf a ;espondent to be heard. In all
of the c1rcumst§p52§§ T co
A -j-_:,. __{g_g_l

ﬂw@

Mr Sullivan who appears for the applicants, urges their
appoiﬁtment as receivers not trustees on the basis that as
trustees they would have unnecessarily wide powers and because
their appointment as receivers may allow the Court more

readily to intervene.

3 ORDER
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On the other hand, the Fund is in a healthy financial state
and there is no suggestion the assets of the Fund are in
immediate jeopardy. A trustee could achieve everything a
receiver could achieve. The Fund should have a trustee and
the Court has statutory power to appoint one. While the trust
deed provides for the possible appointment by members in
clause 23.2, that would probably be a cumbersome and possibly,
protracted process and that weighs in favour of a Court

appointment now.

There is another, though somewhat less weighty consideration,

S,

elver,

D-lj?.

favouring the appointment of a trustee rather th g

KordaMentha Pty Ltd a%g-Callbre Capltal Pty Ltd.

- k

S
e
W

It is necessarygﬁp %%y a lﬁtéle about what lies ahead for any
replacement trusgéﬁgﬁi%ﬁf'lnvestment Management Limited, the
previous trustee, 15?%& was trustee of a number of other
funds, including The LM First Mortgage Income Fund, The 1M
Cash Performance Fund, The LM Australia Income Fund Currency
Protected, The IM Currency Protected Australian Income Fund,

The LM Institutional Currency Protected Australian Income

Fund, and others.

4 ORDER
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Mr O'Donnell submitted that a new trustee of the instant Fund
should be left to act solely in the interests of that fund,

not to be distracted by the interests of other funds and those

of the company itself.

It will be desirable for the new trustee to investigate a
circumstance that approximately $288 million of the
approximately $395 million Fund assets was lent to companies
asscciated with Mr Peter Drake, a director of IM Investment
Management Limited, which could iead to a claim by the Fund
against that company or its associated administration company.

If so, it would be difficult for the admlnlstratgfgﬁﬁ%%illl
both roles. :

Ay B
Also, the instant Fund has transacted ug%? 'ﬁ)_r ﬂﬁnds managed
& s Vg
L me , ; i

SR
By reference to Eas%; 11kefés ASIC v Westpoint Corporation
eu-s @-’- E

Pty Ltd [2006] FCﬁm

=2

# ,gﬁr Sullivan stressed that the only
conflicts raised heré“are theoretical, and that if they arose,
in fact, receivers, or I would add trustees, could, if
necessary, seek direction from the Court. With his favoured
position, the appointment of a receiver, the Court could
terminate the receivership in the event of a serious problem,

appointing another. The guiding consideration should be the

5 ORDER
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appointment of a trustee who will act optimally in the best
interests of the beneficiaries. The potential complexity of
the issues to be investigated here militates in favour of

appointing trustees who can give their undivided attention to

this particular Fund.

I am also significantly influenced by the sorts of potential
conflicts of interest raised by Mr O'Donnell. They exist and
they would render it awkward for the administrators to act
also as trustees and were they appointed as trustees, their

appointment may turn out to be short lived. Of course,

ey
i

avoiding duplication is important and worthwhile BU
Er
been administrators for only three and a-half _tekg.

Accordingly, in addition to removing Llé\,%hn
é‘é‘

Limited as trustee, I appoint Kordaley

fhkrustees,f No doubt, those

=,

femtha stable, will

THE CHIEF JUSTICE: The costs of all parties, assessed on the

indemnity basis as necessary, to be paid from the Fund.

6 ORDER
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Your Ref.

19 April 2013
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By Email: emma.costello@au.kwm.com;
cameron.mew@au.kwm.com; philip.pan@au.kwm.com
Original forwarded by Post

King & Wood Mallesons
Level 33 Waterfront Place
1 Eagle Street

Brisbane Qld 4000

Attention: Mr Phiiip Pan/ Ms Emma Costelio/ Mr Cameron Mew
Dear Sirs
The LM Managed Performance Fund ABN 95 595 833 174 (Fund)

We enclose by way of service Originating Application which our clients have
instructed us fo file today, and which we are seeking to be heard by the Court
this afternoon.

Our clients will rely on an affidavit of Mr Vertullo which we will serve shortly.

In order to avoid the costs of the Application and hearing, please seek your
clients’ urgent instructions as to whether they will consent to orders in the form
of the draft Consent Orders which are also enclosed. If Consent Orders cannot
be agreed, we are instructed to proceed with the application on an urgent
hasis.

Yours faithfully
Piper Alderman

Per: /

Amanda Banton
Partner

27994953v1

Lawyers

Sydney «» Melbourmne
Brisbane + Adslaide

ABN 42 543 327 183

Level 23

Governer Macywarie Tower

1 Farrer Place

Sydney NSW 2000

BX 10218 Sydney Stock Exthange

t +61 29253 Bopp
T +61 29253 8000

www.piperalderman.com.au

Partner:

Amanda Banton

{ +81 2 02639020
abarton@plperalismman.com.au

Contact:

Anna Fraemarn

Paitner

t +61 2925398034
afreeman@plperaldernan.com.ay
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brisbane
NUMBER: 2013

Applicants: KORDA MENTHA PTY LTD (ACN 100 169 391)
AND

CALIBRE CAPITAL PTY LTD (ABN 66 108 318)

AND

First Respondent: JOHN RICHARD PARK AND GINETTE MULLER AND)

AND

Second Respondent: LM ADMINISTRATION PTY LTD (ADMINISTRATORS
APPOINTED

AND

Third Respondent LM INVESTMENT LIMITED
(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)

ORIGINATING APPLICATION

To the respondents, John Richard Park and Ginette Muller , LM Administration Pty Ltd
(Administrators Appointed) and LM Investment Limited (Administrators Appointed).

TAKE NOTICE that the Applicants are applying to the Court under ss. 82, 80 and 96 of the
Trusts Act (QLD) 1973 (“the Act’) and pursuant to the Court's equitable jurisdiction for the
folfowing orders:

1. An abridgement of the time for service to enable the application to be heard;
2. Leave to proceed against the Second and Third Respondents;
3. An order that immediately from the time of this order the Respondents deliver up to

the Applicants’ at the Appiicants’ offices at level 14, 12 Creek Street Brisbane QLD
4000 all books, records, documents and other matters (Including elecironic material)
in their possession or control pertaining to the trust known as the LM Managed
Performance Fund (“Trust”) as required by clause 23.3 of the instrument creating the

Trust (“Trust Deed").
Originating Application Piper Alderman
Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place
Filed on bshalf of the Applicants SYDMEY NSW 2000
Form 5 R.26 Tel:  +812 9253 9999
Fax: +612 9253 8900
Ref.  AKB.WN.380287-0001
27991186v5
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4. Alternatively, an order that immediately from the time of this order the Respondents
make available for inspection and copying by the Applicants at the registered office of
LM Administration Pty Ltd (Administrators Appointad) all books, records, documents
and other matters (including electronic material) in their possession or controf
pertaining to the Trust.

Administrative

5, An order that the Respondents pay the Applicants’ costs, to be agreed or assessed,
such costs not to be paid from Trust assets.

6. Such further or other orders as the Court considers appropriate.

This application will be heard by the Court at Brisbane.
on: April 2013 at 10 am

Filed in the Brisbane Registry on April 2013

Registrar:
If you wish to oppose this application or to argue that any different order should be made, you
must appear before the Court in person or by your lawyer and you shail be heard. If you do
not appear at the hearing the orders sought may be made without further nofice to you. In
addition you may before the day for hearing file a Notice of Address for Service in this
Registry. The Notice shoulkd be in Form 8 to the Uniform Civil Procedure Rules.  You must

serve_ab? copy af it at the applicant’s address for service shown in this application as soen as
possible. _

On the hearing of the application the Applicants intend to rely on the following affidavit:
1. Affidavit of Simon Michael Vertullo swom 19 Aprii 2013,

If you intend on the hearing to rely on any affidavits they must be filed and served at the
Applicants’ address for service prior to the hearing date.

if you object that these proceedings have not been commenced in the correct district of the
Court, you must apply fo the Court for dismissal of the proceedings.

The Respondent is sued in its capacity as responsible entity of the income Fund.
THE APPLICANTS' ESTIMATE THE HEARING SHOULD BE ALLOCATED 2 HOURS.
PARTICULARS OF THE APPLICANTS:

Applicants’ Names: KORDA MENTHA PTY LTD
(ACN 100 1689 391)
AND
CALIBRE CAPITAL FTY LTD
(ABN 66 108 318 985)
27991186v5
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Appiicants’ residential or business address:

Applicants’ solicifor's name
and firm name:
Solicitor's business address:;

Address for service:
DX:
Telephone:

Fax;
E-mail address:

Signed: JM

Description:  Solicitor for the Applicants
‘l’
Dated: A "

This application is to be served on:

John Richard Park and Ginette Muller
AND

April 2013.

Level 14, 12 Creek Strest,
BRISBANE QLD 4000

Amanda Kim Banton

Piper Alderman

Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower,
1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSVY 2000
Level 36, 123 Eagle Street

Brisbane Qid 4000

10216 Sydney Stock Exchange
+81 2 8253 9099

+61 2 8253 9900
abanton@gigeralderman.com.au

LM Administration Piy Lid {Administrators Appointed).

AND

LM Investment Limited (Administrators Appointed).

Australian Securities and Investments Commission

Attention: Tim Walker
GPO Box 9827
Sydney NSW 2001

27951186v6
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Applicants:

First Respondent:

Sscond Respondent:

Third Respondent

Judge:
Date:

Initiating document:

SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brisbane
NUMBER;: 12013

KORDA MENTHA PTY LTD (ACN 100 169 391)
' AND

CALIBRE CAPITAL PTY LTD (ABN 66 108 318)
AND

JOHN RICHARD PARK AND GINETTE MULLER
AND)

AND

LM ADMINISTRATION PTY LTD
(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED

AND
LAt INVESTMENT LIMITED
(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)

CONSENT ORDER

19 April 2013

Originating Application filed 19 April 2013

THE ORDER OF THE COURT 1S THAT:

1. There be an abridgement of the time for service fo 1.00pm on 19 April 2013.

2. Leave to proceed against the Second and Third Respondents.

3. By 4.00pm on 12 April 2013, the Respondents deliver up to the Applicants at the Applicants’
offices at Level 14, 12 Creek Sireet, Brishane QLD 4000, all books, recards, documents

Consent Order Piper Alderman
Filed on behalf of the Applicants Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower
Form 59 Rule 661 1 Farrer Place

27935001v1

SYDMEY NSW 2000

Tel: +61 29253 9999
Fax; +61 2 9253 8900

Ref: AKB.AF.380287-0001



and other matters (including electronic material) in their possession or control pertaining the
trust known as the LM Managed Performance Fund (“Trust") as required by clause 23.3 of
the instrument creating the Trust ("Trust Deed”).

Signed:
[REGISTRAR]

27985001 vt
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Applicants:

First Respondents

Second Respondents

£" S CR6’!

SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brishane
NUMBER: 3681 /2013

KORDA MENTHA PTY LTD (ACN 100 169 °391)

AND

CALIBRE CAPITAL LIMITED (ABN 68 108 318) (IN
THEIR CAPACITY AS TRUSTEES OF THE LM
MANAGED PERFORMANCE FUNDY)

THE MEMBERS OF THE LM MANAGED
PERFORMANCE FUND

JOHN RICHARD PARK AND GINETTE MULLER IN
HEIR CAPACITY AS JOINT AND SEVERAL

ADMINISTRATORS OF LM INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT LBMTED (ADMINISTRATORS
APPOINTED) ACN 077 208 481

AMENDED ORIGINATING APPLICATION

To the respondents, the members of the LM Managed Performance Fund, and John

Richard Park and Ginette Muller in their capacity as joint and several administrators
of LM investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed).

TAKE NOTICE that upon the Applicants' undertaking that until further order of the
Court or without first giving the Second Respondents by their solicitors seven days'
written notice they will not:

(a) deal with the assets of the LM Managed Performance Fund (Trusf), or
increase the liabilities of the Trust, other than carrying on the ordinary
business of the Trust, except in so far as the Applicants consider it necessary
to make any applications to the Court in respect of the Fund or their
appointment as Trustee. For the avoidance of any doubt, carrying on the

Amended Originating Application Piper Alderman
Level 23, Governor Macquarle Tower
_ 1Farrer Place .
Filed on behalf of the Applicants SYDNEY NSW 2000
Form 5 R.26 Tel:  +61 2 9253 0999
Fax: +81 2 9253 9900
Ref:  AKB.WN.380287-0001

28004624v1



ordinary course of business of the Trust includes any action fo enforce and
recover any loan, guarantee or security;

(b) Make any distribution to unit holders of the Trust or any payment by way of
redemption of units

the Applicants are applying to the Court under ss. 82 and 80 of the Trusis Act (QLD)
1973 ("the Act’) and pursuan{ to the Court’s equitable jurisdiction for the following

orders.

28004624v1

A vesting order pursuant to sections 82 and 90 of the Trusts Act 1973
{Qid), vesting the choses in action in Schedule 1 to the Originating
Application of LM Investment Management Limited ACN 077 208 461
(Administrators Appointed) in its former capacily as trustee of the
Trust, or of the Trust Company (PTAL) Limited ACN 008 412 913
(I‘rusi Company) as the Custodian of the Trust, in the Applicants in
thelr capacity as joint and several trustees of the Trust.

An order that the section 440B notices issued by fhe Administrators of
the former frustee of the trust to the trust company dated 10 April 2013
in fespect of registered fixed and floating charges (PPSR number
201201240186427 and 201112180779630) are assigned to the
Applicants.

An order that:

(8  within 7 days‘ of the date of these orders, LIM and the
Administrators of LMIM will provide the Applicants with a
breakdown of the fees, costs, expenses and other liabitities that
are the subject of the liens asserted by LMIM and the
Administrators of LMIM over the Trust's assets; and

()] when the books and records of the Trust and details of the
liens claimed by LMIM and the Administrators of LMIM are
provided tc the Applicants, all parties will work co-operatively
with each other to agree a procass that allows the Applicants to
be reasonably defermine any quantum and any priofity with
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respect to the alleged liens of LMIM and the Administrators of
LIVEM,

4, An order that the Applicants' costs of the application be paid from the
Trust's assefs.

5. Such further or other orders as the Court considers appropriate.

This application will be heard by the Court at Brisbane on: April 2013 at
am/pm :
Fited in the Brisbane Registry on Aprit 2013

Registrar:

Ofgdthgt hearing of the application the Applicants intend to rely on the following
affidavit:

1. Affidavit of Simon Michae! Vertullo sworn April 2013.

THE APPLICANTS ESTIMATE THE HEARING SHOULD BE ALLOCATED 2
HOURS.

PARTICULARS OF THE APPLICANTS:

Applicants’ Names: KORDA MENTHAPTY LTD
(ACN 100 169 381}
AND
CALIBRE CAPITAL LIMITED
(ABN 66 108 318 985)
Applicants' residential or business address: Levef 14, 12 Creek Strest,
BRISBANE QLD 4000

Applicants’ sollcitor's name Amanda Kim Banton
and firm nams: Plper Alderman
Sollcitor's business address; Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower,
1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 2000

Address for service: Level 36, 123 Eagle Street

_ Brisbane Qld 4000
DX: 10216 Sydney Stock Exchange
Telephone: +61 2 8253 9999
Fax: +61 2 8253 8200
E-mail address: abanfon@®piperalderman.com.ay
Signed: W

Description:  Solicitor for the Applicants
Dated: April 2013,
This application is pet intended to be served on aavone the Second Respondents.

28004624v1



Schedule 1
Those choses in action vested in LMIM or the Trust Company pursuant to:

1. Any loan agreements and any deeds of variation to those agreements
executed by or on behalf of LMIM as Trustee or Manager, or by or on behalf
of the Trust Company as Custodian, of the Trust.

2. Any charges or morigages or other security interests granted to LMIM as
Trustee or Manager, or to the Trust Company as Custodian, of the Trust.

3. Any deeds or contracts of guarantee and indemnity entered into in favour of
LMIM as Trustee or Manager, or the Trust Company as Custodian, of the
Trust,

4. Any agreements which confer on LMIM or the Trust Company any rights or
entitlements in respect of the Trust, or any powers of management in respect
of the above documents in respect of the Trust, but without vesting any of the
obligations or liabllities under those agreements in the Applicants.

280046241
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Form 15
Rules 8.01(1); 8.04(1)
Originating application

FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA .
QUEENSLAND DISTRIGT REGISTRY|  No. of 2013

Federal Court of Australia
District Registry: Queensland 12 APR 2013

Division: General FILED /‘R%D
RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE AND ANOTHER NAMED IN THE SCHEDULE

Applicants

LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED (ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED), ACN
077 208 461, IN ITS CAPACITY AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY OF THE LM FIRST
MORTGAGE INCOME FUND AND THE OTHERS NAMED IN THE SCHEDULE

Respondents

To the Respondents
The Applicants apply for the refief éet out in this application.

The Court will hear this application, or make orders for the conduct of the proceeding, at the
fime and place stated.below. If you or your lawyer do not aitend, then the Court may make
orders in your absence.

You must file a notice of address for service (Form 10} in the Registry before attending
Court or taking any other steps in the proceeding.

“SCR7"” QUD"19 2/15

Time and date for hearing: o( r?)Or:v-\ FRIDAY 100N 2013

Piace: Level 7, Harry Gibbs Commonwealth Law Courts Building

119 North Quay
BRISBANE QLD 4000 FOR DIRECTIONS ONLY

The Court ordered that the time for serving this application be abridged to

Filed gnbehalfof:  The Applicants

Prepared by Amanda Banton Ref AKB.SP.380287-0001

Law firm Piper Alderman
Tel +61 2 9253 6999 Fax +81 20253 8900
Email abanto | lerman.com.au

Address for service  Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower, 1 Famer Place, SYDNEY NSW 2000
DX 10216 Sydney Stock Exchange

27928302v2
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DETAILS OF APPLICATION

This application is made under sections 601FN and 601FP of the Corporations Act (Cth)
2001 (the Corporations Act), regulation 5C.2.02 of the Corporations Regulations 2001
(Cth) (the Regulations) and section 80 of the Trusts Act {Qld) 1973 (the Trusts Act).

On the facts stated in the supporting affidavit, the Applicants seek:
Leave to Proceed
1. An order pursuant to section 440D of the Corporations Act, that the Applicants be

granted leave to bring these proceedings against the First Respondent, in its
capacity as responsible entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund (the income

Fund).
Replacement of L M as responsible enfity of the Income Fund

3. Further or in the alternative to order 2 hereof, an order pursuant to regulation
5C.2.02 of the Regulations that Trilogy Funds Management Limited (or such other
company as the court determines appropriate) is appointed temporary responsible
entity of the income Fund.

4. In the altenative to orders 2 and 3 hereof, an order pursuant to section 80 of the
Trusts Act, that Trilogy Funds Management Limited (or such other company as the
court determines appropriate) be appointed responsible entity/frustee of the Income
Fund until further order of the court or an extraordinary resolution of the Income
Fund’s members providing for an alternative appointment.

Notification Procedures

5. An order that the First Respondent provide the Applicants with a current electronic
version of the register of the members of the Income Fund, fo include the email
addresses of the members, where known (the Register), within 3 working days of
the date of order.

27928302v2
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6. An order that the Applicants shall serve the originating application and any

supporting affidavit (s) filed in respect of the originating application on the Australian
Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC).

7. An order that the Applicants shall serve the Second Respondents, the members of
the Income Fund (the Members) with the originating application and any supporting
affidavit {s) filed in respect of the originating application (the Originating
Documents) by:-

7.1  sending the Originating Documents by ordinary post to the Members at their
last known address as contained on the Register; and

7.2 sending the Originating Documents by email to the Members where the
Members have an email address.

8. An order that the First Respondent make the Originating Documents available in

pdf. format on the website of the First Respondent, being www.Imaustralla.com
within 3 working days of the date of order,

orders made in respect of the originating application be effected byfkse ghift ”,_“'*'*;\}
documents being made available by the First Respondent in .pdf féimatianis /'~

website at www.imaustralia.com.

Dated: 11 April 2013, By REGSS

27928302v2
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Applicants’ address

The Applicants’ address for service is:

Piper Alderman Lawyers

Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place
Sydney NSW 2000

Email: abanton@piperalderman.com.au

The Applicants’ address is:
167 Foreshore Road, RD1, KAITAIA 0500, NEW ZEALAND

Service on the Respondents QOURT ¢

It is intended to serve this application on all Respondents and ASIC inthe
above,

P
pln,

o, QUEERS: 5, .
Date: 11 April 2013

SignedAy Megan Pearson
On behalf of Amanda Banton
Solicitor for the Applicants

27928302v2
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Schedule

No.
Federal Court of Australia
District Registry: Queensiand
Division: General

Applicants

Second Applicant Vicki Patricia Bruce

Respondents

Second Respondents The Members of the LM First Morigage

Date: 11 April 2013

27928302v2

of 2013
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IN THE FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA (FCA)

QUEENSLAND REGISTRY - FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA
GENERAL DIVISION No: QUD192/2013

NOTICE OF FILING

This document was filed electronically in the FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA (FCA)on
17/04/2013.

DETAILS OF FILING

Document Lodged: Notice of Discontinuance - Form 48 - Rule 26.12(1)
File Number: QUD1%2/2013

File Title: Raymond Edward Bruce & Anor v LM Investment Management Limited

(Administrators Appointed) ACN 077 208 461 in its capacity as Responsible
Entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund and Ors
District Registry; QUEENSLAND REGISTRY - FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA

Car

Dated: 17/04/2013

A
Repistrar

Note

This Notice forms part of the document and contains information that might otherwise
appear clsewhere in the document. The Notice must be included in the document served
on each pariy to the proceeding.
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Form 48
Rule 26.12(1)

Notice of discontinuance

No. QUD 192 of 2013
Federal Court of Australia
District Registry: Queensland
Division; General

RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE AND ANOTHER NAMED IN THE SCHEDULE
Applicants

LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED (ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED) ACN 077 208
461, IN ITS CAPACITY AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY OF THE LM FIRST MORTGAGE
INCOME FUND AND THE OTHERS NAMED IN THE SCHEDULE

Respondents

Raymond Edward Bruce and Vicki Pafricia Bruce, the Applicants, discontinue the whole of the
proceeding.

The Applicants have not served the proceeding on the Respondents and discontinue the

proceeding before the first return date fixed in the Originating Application in the proceeding,
namely 10 May 2013.

There should be no order as to costs on the basis that the proceeding was never served on the
Respondents.

The Applicants do not intend to serve a copy of this notice of discontinuance en the
Respondents.

Date: 17 Aprit 2013

L S

Signed by Amanda Kim Banton, Partner
Lawyer for the Applicant

Filed on behalf of the Applicants

Prepared by Amanda Banton Ref AKB.380287
Law firm Pipor Alderman
Tel +61 2 9253 9989 Fax +61292538800
Email abanton@piperaldemnan.com.au
Addrass for service Level 23, Sovernor Macquarie Tower, 1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 2000

DX 10216 Sydney Stack Exchange

[Form approved 01/08/2011)

27982343vt
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Nofe in relation to costs

Under rule 26.12(7), unless the terms of a consent or an order of the Court provide otherwise, a
party who files a notice of discontinuance under rule 26.12(2) is liable to pay the costs of each
other party to the proceeding in relafion to the claim, or part of the claim, that is discontinued,

27982343v1
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Federat Court of Australia

District Registrty: Queensiand
Division: General

Applicants

Second Applicant

Respondents

Second Respondents

Date: 17 April 2013

279823431

SCHEDULE

No. QUD 192 of 2013

Vicki Patricia Bruce

The Members of the LM First Morigage Income Fund
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LM Invesiment Management Lid

The global pathway to Australian investment solutions

10 October 2012

Dear Investor

A terrible thing that affects you is underway.
Recognised plrates are stealing your investments and will wipe out your unit price
value.

Incredibiy, Trilogy Funds Management Limited (Trilogy) is writing to you io replace LM as manager of two LM
funds which invest directly in the LM First Mortgage Income Fund. The funds are the LM Wholesale First
Meortgage Income Fund and the LM Currency Protecied Australian Income Fund and we are writing to you as an
investor in either one or both of these funds. It is Trilogy's first step in a campaign they are mounting to gain
control of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund, which will decimate the money you have invested in LM.

A prior Trilogy takeover of a City Pacific fund resulted in the unit price being slashed from 61 cents to 13
cents in Trilogy’s management timeframe of 3.5 years. Shockingly, during that period, investors
received the return of only 8 cents of their investment capital. (We refer you to two important articles
below). .

Scary, isn't it?

Trilogy's takeover bid is unethical and equal to piracy. It is opportunistic and without any consideration for your
interests. Whilst we fully understand your frusfration with the necessary fime taken to realise liquidity from the

" fund, our constant communication with advisers and investors across all of the funds makes us confident that we

will retain the necessary 51% majority required to manage the LM funds.

What Trilogy proposes is to commence the fund liquidity process that we have almost finalised, with no
knowtedge and with further delays and costs to you.

In the next few days we will provide further detailed information for investors in LM Currency Protected Australian

Income Fund and LM Wholesale First Mortgage Income Fund addressing more specifically the misleading details
of Trilogy’s bid which they plan to take to vote on November 1.

Background on Trilogy

Trilogy is providing advisers and investors with misteading reasons to be concerned about LM's management of
the Funds in their bid. They are unfairly preying on the frustration and emotions of investors like you who are
anxiously awaiting liquidity.

Without any factual foundation, Trilogy’s deceitful suggestion of inappropriate management on LM’s behalf is
unfair and misleading.

Any information Trilogy is ufilising is superficial at best. Incredulously, Trilogy is pitching management fees and
has absolutely zero knowledge of any of the assets that they want to sell for you. They are making the same
hollow promises they made to City Pacific investors when they replaced the original manager of that fund.

Trilogy is not offering any magic solution for investors in the fund, who like many others throughout the world
have suffered due to the Global Financial Crisis (GFC). The fund was closed in 2009 due to the GFC and not
due to bad or poorly performing loans. ltis LM’s obligation to act in the best interests of investors in the fund.
We stress that it is not in your best interests for Trilogy to take over the fund.

ABN 68 077 208 461 Responsible Entity & AFSL No. 220281
GOLD SCAST | BAMGKOK I DUBA! | BONG KORG | JOBANNESBURG | LONDOMN | QUEENSTOWIN | SYDONEY  www. LMaustralia.com
HEAD OFFICE Lavel 4 9 Beach Rd Surfers Paradise Qld 4217 Australia T +61 7 5584 4500 F +61 7 5592 2505 Freecall 1800 062 819 E mail@L.Maustralia.com
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Reasons it is not in your best interests for Trilogy to manage the Fund

It is important that investors understand the position of the fund and its assets entirely
and comprehensively before making any decision with respect to any offer or vote that
Trilogy or any entity presents. LM has communicated regularly with investors regarding
the complex asset and financial analysis it is undertaking currently with respect fo each
asset. This includes the review of independent properiy experts. We are currently
limising with ASIC in relation to the strategy for the fund and the presentation of all
information for investors.

Trilogy has no knowledge of the assets of the fund.

Trilogy wishes to simply sell all the assets of the fund. This does nof require any asset
management on their part, as in cases such as this, assets are usually placed in the
hands of receivers, with the receivers conducting the sales process and charging the fund
very high fees in addition to the management fee. Their track record demonstrates that
theirs is too simplistic an approach which will likely result in disaster for investors in the
fund.

It would appear that Trilogy does nof have the property expertise required to manage or
adequately assess the assets of the fund, including development management expertise.

LM has a team of 20 with the property and development management expertise required
to undertake the review and to manage the property assets the fund now controls.

Realising liquidity for investors is LM's prime concern. However, we must stress the
importance of conducting this analysis for presentation to investors, as to sell all the
assets without proper and thorough analysis would be premature and ill considered. Our
analysis will determine for investors the value of conducting further development work on
some assets, as well as the value of the continuing sales of other assets.

In the current markst it is common for property managers, banks and financial institutions
to be conducting such proper analyses of property assets fo ensure strategies for assets,
whether they be hold or sale strategies, are the right strategies.

We question Trilogy’s expertise in the intense management required with assets of this

- nature. It would appear they do not have a depth of property development skill and they

do not appear to have any strategy which involves actually managing the assets.

On the face of it, Trilogy's course of action arificially raises the hopes of investors in need
of liquidity, as it is without proper analysis, and wil} in fact add to the time, delay,
frusiration and potential loss for investors in realising their capital.

LM has made it clear thét following the release of the analysis we are conducting, if an
orderly sell down of all assets is proven the best course of action, then LM will conduct
same on behalf of investors, without any delay.

LM is focused on bringing liquidity to investors. LM's currently orderly sell down of asseis
is progressing well, with the settlement of some major transactions occurring to bring
liquidity into the fund towards the end of the year. LM’s sales campaign has not stalled
while we finalise the asset and financial analysis for investors.
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Whilst it has been frustratingly slow for us all, we are close to finalising the investor information and
providing the clarity advisers and investors are understandably concerned about and insistent on. We
all want to get on with it! LM believes that it is in the best interests of investors to bear with us and not
to act on any information received from Tritogy without first considering our proper fund analysis.

We will kesp you informed.

Yours faithfully,

The Directors
LM Investment Management Ltd

The LM products are solely for distribution via financial advisers and intermediaries. LM requests
investors consult a financial adviser before making any decisions on their investment. This
communication is general information on the 1M funds issued by LM investment Management Ltd.
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Read this Sydney Morning Herald news article dated 5 August 2011 to learn
about the alarming shortcomings of Trilogy and its Directors.

Beware an angry debt collector

The managers of the City Pacific-founded First Mortgage Fund do not only have to worry
about 11,000 angry (and largely retired) unitholders breathing down their neck. They now
have a very determined debt collector on their tail. ‘

Stephen Ecob from Collection Corporation of Australia in Hobart has had little success

 getting the responsible entity of the fund, Trilogy Funds Management, to cough up $4.8

million in unpaid owners' corporation (aka strata) fees linked to the $650 million Martha Cove
marina project.

"They wouldn't even come to the front counter," Ecob said about his recent visit to the
reception of the Trilogy office.

The First Mortgage Fund took possession of several large lots in the marina development on
Port Phillip Bay that were seized from its now bankrupt former manager and debtor, City
Pacific. City Pacific borrowed more than $200 million from the fund (containing more than
$900 million of deposits) to develop the project.

"They are just milking the joint for fees and haven't even paid the rates,” Ecob told CBD,
clearly frustrated at the lack of response he was getting from the fund's new managers.

The debt collector's complaints about Trilogy and its co-manager Balmain might also raise
tempers among First Mortgage investors, who have so far only received a capital return of 5¢
for each of their units that were originally worth $1.

Despite having a debt coliector on its case over unpaid strata fees, the managers Balmain
Trilogy have still been able to pay themselves fees from the fund once worth $1 billion. The
fund paid out $2.9 million in management fees in the last six months of last year.

The Trilogy Funds chairman, Rodger Bacon, was unable to provide a clear position on
whether he thought the fund was liable for the strata fees.

"The various interested parties and companies that are involved and the receivers that are
involved, I wouldn't even attempt to give you any clarification of that," Bacon said. He
suggested CBD put a call through to his co-manager, the loan manager Balmain. Balmain's
chief executive, Andrew Griffin, failed to return CBD's phone call.

WHICH BANKER?

Stephen Ecob had even less luck chasing another party who he says owes about $2.4 million
in strata fees in relation to Martha Cove.

"I have not been able to contact anybody in the Commonwealth Bank who deals with that,” he
told CBD. "You can't just walk into one of their branches and find the right person." Ecob
claims the CBA owes the fees in relation to some of the land it took possession of at Martha
Cove. - :
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Read this Courier Mail news article dated 17 June 2009 to discover Trilogy’s
Managing Director was sued by corporate watchdog, ASIC.

Executive in raid on City Pacific fund was once sued

AN executive with a Brisbane finance group attempting to seize control of a $630 million
mortgage fund has previously been sued by the corporate regulator.

Trilogy Funds Management managing director Philip Ryan was a partner operating Lawyers
Private Mortgages Pty Ltd, which the Federal Couirt ruled in 2006 had made dishonest,
misleading and negligent representations to 37 investors who collectively provided $1.4
million for a loan.

After the borrower defaulted, the Australian Securities & Investments Commission mounted a
successful class action against Mr Ryan and his three partners in the Brisbane legal practice
McCarthy Durie Ryan Neil Solicitors.

The court awarded investors $792,509, which was later paid out by insurers.

Trilogy has now joined with property financier Balmain NB Corporation in a bid to oust
struggling Gold Coast financier City Pacific from its oversight of the frozen First Mortgage
Fund, which was once worth $1 billion. Unitholders are set to vote on the Balmain Trilogy
proposal next week. '

Mr Ryan said yesterday he did not believe the matter should concern any of the more than
11,000 investors in the fund, who have been unable to access their money or receive
distribution since mid-2008.

Mr Ryan stressed that he and his fellow directors had to bear personal liability for the actions
of a rogue employee, who made the loan back in 1999. "There are completely different
regulations today. Our compliance is totally different to what it was then," he said.

Mr Ryan also noted that ASIC had not banned him as a company director, while the Law
Society had taken no action to have him struck off.

Trilogy chairman Rodger Bacon defended Mr Ryan. "He's a fine guy with great skills and
abilities and has never been restricted by any legal body," Mr Bacon said.

City Pacific managing director John Ellis was reluctant to be drawn on the case yesterday.
"I would let the matter speak for itself," Mr Ellis said.

Meanwhile, City Pacific accused Balmain Trilogy yesterday of "deliberately misleading”
unitholders and "blatant misrepresentation” about its proposed fees and charges. Mr Bacon
responded by attacking City Pacific for "grasping at straws" and "trying to frighten
unitholders with unsubstantiated allegations".

Balmain Trilogy had vowed to cap annual fees at 1.5 per cent of funds under management,

But explanatory notes released last week show the fund will pay 0.12 per cent annually for an

17170
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independent custodian and independent registry provider. Up to $200,000 will atso be used
from the fund for one-off asset and legal reviews.
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23 November 2012

LM Wholeéale First Mortgage Income Fund — Welcome

Following our recent appointment as Responsible Entity (RE), we warmly welcome investors and
advisers in the LM Wholesale First Morigage Income Fund ("Wholesale Fund’ or ‘the Fund’).

Through an Extraordinary General Meeting held in Sydney on 1 November 2012 (the Meeting),
69% of Members representing 53.8% of the value of the Wholesale Fund voted in favour of
replacing LM Invesiment Management Limited (LM) with Trilogy Funds Management Limited
(Trilogy) as RE. Our appointment took effect on 16 November 2012, when ASIC updated the .
register to note Trilogy Funds Management Limited as the new RE.

We believe that our appointment confirms widespread investor support for a change in RE and is a
clear endorsement of our decision to bring about this change on behalf of investors in the
Wholesale Fund.

Please note that we remain firmly committed to our strategy on behalf of concerned investors and
their advisers to bring about a change in RE of the LM Currency Protected Australian income Fund
{‘Currency Protected Fund’) and LM First Mortgage income Fund ("Holding Fund’). The
accompanying Appendix shows the relationship between these funds and inextricable link between
your investment and that of the Holding Fund (the units of which represent the sole asset of your
Fund).

Our appointment as RE of the Wholesale Fund has provided immediate benefits for
investors:

1. LM has started to communicate with you, the investor and your financial planner.

2. LM has intfroduced the same significant and ongoing fee reductions for the Fund as was
proposed by us. Effective 1 November 2012 (the date of the Meeting), investors in the
Wholesale Fund will now save more than $2.2 million in management fees per year. On a
combined basis, investors in the Holding Fund and its associated feeder funds will now save
more than $8.8 million in fees per year.

Before After Annual
Meeting Meeting saving

Sy St R

LM Currency Protected Australian income Fund $4.4m $1.3m $3.1m

$19.6m $9.6m $9.9m

Please note: All figures are based on the accounts for the year ended 30 June 2011
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3. LM has listened to investors and has withdrawn its unpopular proposal to split the assets in the
Holding Fund and implement a buy or hold scheme. Instead LM has agreed to sell down the
fund’s assets and allow all investors to share equally in the Fund's assets.

4. LM has followed Trilogy’s lead and announced its intention to establish an investor committee
to allow investors greater involvement in the fund. However, while Trilogy proposed an
independent member selection process, LM intends to choose members itself.

What can Trilogy do as RE of the Wholesale Fund?

While Trilogy is not in a position to control the disposal of assets and won’t be until we become the
RE of the Holding Fund, we intend to use our influence as a 20% unitholder in the Holding Fund
(see accompanying Appendix) to overses LM’s performance and exert due pressure to help
protect the interest of Wholesale Fund investors.

1. We have met with the Wholesale Fund auditors Ernst & Young, who are also the auditors of

- the Holding Fund, to understand why the 2012 accounts are so late. Without access to the
accounts, investors remain oblivious to the true financial state of the Fund and the value of
their investment. This is particularly concerning given successive write downs in unit value and
LM’s 8 November admission that a further write down for the 2012 financial year is likely.

2. We have had meetings with ASIC to discuss the ongoing breaches by LM in respect of the late
accounts and the failure to lodge an RG45 since August 2011.

3. As the RE of the Wholesale Fund, our first question to LM relates to the disposal of a Holding
Fund asset, described as a ‘student accommodation property’ iocated in Caimns. The property
was last purchased for $10 million but recently sold for as lite as $3.85 million. We also
understand that the carrying value of the loan was more than $10 million. If this is correct, we
need to understand how this gross loss of investor funds came about under LM's management.

We will hopefully be in a position to provide investors with an update on our discussions in the near
future. In the mean time, we welcome the opportunity to discuss any concerns you may have or to
share with you the vision for your Fund that your fellow investors have asked us to pursue.

Please feel free fc contact Joe Christie on + 61 2 8028 2804 or j.christie@trilogyfunds.com.au or
for New Zealand, David Jansen on + 64 21 675 244 or jansendw@gmail.com

Yours sincerely

Rodger Bacon
Executive Deputy Chairman

This letter has been prepared as general information only and is not intended to take the place of professional financial
advice. Recipients of this letters should conduct their own investigations and analysis regarding any information,
representation or statement contained in this or any other written or verbal information made available to them.

113



Appendix

The Wholesale Fund holds units in the LM First Mortgage Income Fund (the Holding Fund) as its
sole asset. As at 31 December 2011, the Wholesale Fund held in excess of 20% of the units in the

Hoiding Fund. All the real assets (primarily commercial mortgages over real property) are held by
the Holding Fund.

Trilogy is the RE

LM Wheolesale First Mortgage Income Fund -

(cnly asset is uriiis ifi the
LM First Mortgage Income Fund)
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Search Resuits for: Historical Search Orggnisation Number 080383679

*Extracted from ABR's database at 15:56:09 on 30/04/2013
*Extracted from ASIC's dataiase at 15:56:01 on 30/04/2013

This extract contains information derived from the Australian Securities and Investment Commission's (ASIC) database under section
1274A of the Corporations Act 2001. Please advise ASIC of any error or omission which you may identify.

Organisation Details

Organisation Name
Australian Company Number
State of Incorporation
Registration Date
Governance Type
Organisation Number Heading
Australian Business Number

Review Date

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Details Stari Date
Organisation Name

Name Start Date
Organisation Status
Organisation Type
Organisation Class
Crganisation Sub-Class

Disclosing Entity Flag

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Details Start Daie

Details End Date
Organisation Name

Name Start Date
Organisation Status

Organisation Type

TRILOGY FUNDS MANAGEMENT LIMITED
080383679

Queensland

13/10/1997

Constitution

ACN (Australian Company Number)
59080383679

13/10/2013

026434711

Current

18/03/2010

TRILOGY FUNDS MANAGEMENT LIMITED

'09/11/2004

Registered

Australian Public Company
Limitedi By Shares
Unlisted Public Company
Y

013615923

Ceased/Former

13110/1997

08/11/2004

MDRN INVESTMENTS LIMITED
13/10/1997

Registered

Australian Public Gompany

Organisation Class Limiied By Shares
Organisation Sub-Class Unlisted Public Company
Disclosing Entity Flag N

Company Address
Document Number 022456310
Details

Type(current/ceased/iuture)} Current
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Address Type
Address Start Date
Address

Document Number

Details
Type{current/ceased/future)

Address Type
Address Start Date
Address End Date
Address

Document Number

Details
Type{current/ceased/future)

Address Type
Address Start Date
Address End Date
Address

Document Number

Details
Type(current/ceased/future)

Address Type
Address Start Date
Address

Document Number

Details )
Type(current/ceased/future)

Address Type
Address Start Date
Address End Date
Address

Document Number

Detaills
Type({current/ceased/uture)

Address Type
Address Start Date
Address End Date

Address

Document Number

Details
Type(current/ceased/future)

Address Type

Registered Office
10/05/2006
LEVEL 10 241 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

020244607
Ceased/Former

Registered Office

21/07/2004

09/05/2006

SUITE 7B LEVEL 7 300 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

013615923
Ceased/Former

Registered Office

13/10/1997

20/07/2004

80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157

022456310
Current

Principal Place of Business
28/04/2006
LEVEL 10 241 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

020244607
Ceased/Former

Principal Place of Business

| 09/07/2004

27/04/2006
SUITE 7B LEVEL 7 300 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

019771271
Ceased/Former

Principal Place of Business
26/09/2003
08/07/2004

MDRN INVESTMENTS LIMITED LEVEL 7 344 QUEEN STREET BRISBANE QLD
4000

013615923
Ceased/Former

Principal Place of Business
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Address Siart Daie
Address End Date
Address

1311011897
25/08/2003
80 OLD GLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157

Company Office Holders

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appoiniment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Fuil Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Detaills Type(current/former}
Role

Appointment Date

Fuli Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{eurrent/former}
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

013615937

Current

Director

13/10/1997

RYAN PHILIP ASHLEY

15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

020244607

Cusrent

Director

09/07/2004

BACON RODGER INGLE

20/01/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 18 65 KIRRIBILL] AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061

020244807

Current

Director

09/07/2004

BARRY JOHN COLLIS
201021952 SYDNEY NSW

153 SEAFORTH CRESCENT SEAFORTH NSW 2092

024950346

Current

Director

29/07/2008

BUTCHER ROHAN CHARLES

19/09/1969 BRISBANE QLD

262 SIMPSONS ROAD BARDON QLD 4065

026044522

Current

Director

09/10/2009

WILLCOCKS ROBERT MOYSE

08/10/1948 BRISBANE QLD

750 NEW SOUTH HEAD ROAD ROSE BAY NSW 2029

117



o eedde

Document Number

Details Type(current/former}
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/formetr)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Deocument Numbet

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appoiniment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

0252942696

Ceased/Former

Director

14/10/2009

12/05/2012

CHA IGEE 1AN

16/06/1951 LONDON UNITED KINGDOM
27 BENNISON STREET ASCOT QLD 4007

023142527

Geased/Former

Director

14/08/2006

01/08/2011

GIBSON TREVOR JOHN

295/03/1955 SYDNEY NSW

86 DUGANDAN ROAD BUNYA QLD 4055

022471586

Ceased/Former

Director

24/01/2006

29/07/2008

HOGAN DAVID JOHN

02/10/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088

016549371

Ceased/Former

Director

13/10/1987

31/01/2008

MCCARTHY JONATHAN JAMES

22/02/1953 BRISBANE QLD

12 ESPLANADE WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160

020244607
Ceased/Former
Director
08/07/2004
17/01/2007
BLEY MICHAEL NARD
28/04/1947 BRISBANE QLD
29 MAIN ROAD WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160
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Document Number

Details Type(currenifformer)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Fult Mame

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(curreni/former)
Role

Appointment Daie

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(curreni/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Naime

Birih Details

Address

Documeni Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Detalls

Address

Document Mumber

- (013615937

Ceased/Former

Director

13/10/1997

09/07/2004

NEIL IAN Al EXANDER

27/08/1957 MARYBOROUGH QLD

2 TAHOE COURT THORNLANDS QLD 4164

013615937

Ceased/Former

Director

13/10/1997

09/07/2004

DLRIE BRUCE MICHAEL

12/06/1952 BRISBANE QLD

13 EDWARD STREET ALEXANDRA HILLS QLD 4161

016683390

Ceased/Former

Director

131101987

28/03/2001

CAMPBELL BRUCE CHARLES

09/09/1855 AYR QLD

UNIT 41 78 CAIRNS STREET KANGAROO POINT QLD 4169

020244607

Current

Secretary

08/07/2004

RYAN PHILIP ASHLEY

15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

025147439

Current

Secretary

30/09/2008

HOGAN DAVID

02/10/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088

016549371
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E)etails Type{current/former)
Role

Appoiniment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Documeni Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Mame

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Detalls Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Daie

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document NMumber

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Ceased/Former

Secretary

1310/1997

09/07/2004

MCCARTHY JONATHAN JAMES

22/02/1953 BRISBANE QLD

12 ESPLANADE WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160

023121807

_ Current

Aliernate Director

03/11/2006

RYAN PHILIP Y

15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

024505422
Current
Alternate Director
30/05/2008
YA IL
15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC
25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

024505423

Current

Alternate Director

29/09/2008

BARRY JOHN

20/021952 SYDNEY NSW

152 SEAFORTH CRESCENT SEAFORTH NSW 2092

024503906

Current

Alternate Director

30r09/2008

BACON RODGER INGLE

20/01/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1B 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061

028279320

Current

Alternate Director

10/09/2012

BUTCHER ROHAN CHARLES
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Birth Details
Address

Document Number

Details Type(curreni/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former}
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Decumeni Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointmeni Date

Cease Date

Fuil Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Fuli Name

19/09/1969 BRISBEANE QLD
262 SIMPSONS ROAD BARDON QLD 4065

027037965
Ceased/Farmer
Alternate Director
08/09/2010
12/05/2012
M NIGEL
16/06/1851 CROYDON UNITED KINGDOM
27 BENNISON STREET ASCOT QLD 4007

027037985
Ceased/Former
Alternate Director

08/08/2010

12/056/2012

Wi YSE
08/10/1848 BRISBANE QLD

750 NEW SOUTH HEAD ROAD ROSE BAY NSW 2029

022939074

Ceased/Former

Alternate Director

18/05/2006

01/08/2011

GIBSON TREVOR JOHN

26/03/1955 SYDNEY NSW

86 DUGANDAN ROAD BUNYA QLD 4055

022276420
Ceased/Former
Alternate Director
09/09/2005
20/07/2008
AN DAV
02/10/1948 SYDNEY NSW
UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088

023581822
Ceased/Former

Alternate Director
22/03/2007

29/07/2008

BACON RODGER INGLE
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Birih Details
Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/iormer)
Role

Appoiniment Date

Officer Organisation Number
Officer Name

Address

Organisation Number Heading -

Australian Business Number

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Officer Organisation Numbear
Officer Name

Address

Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Betails Type(current/former)
Role

Appoiniment Date

Cease Date

Full Name
Address

Organisation Number Heading

20/01/1946 SYDNEY NSW
UNIT 18 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061

027755274

Current

Appointed Auditor

26/11/2010

134022870

BDO AUDIT PTY LTD

BDO KENDALLS (QLD} LEVEL 18 300 QUEEN STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000
ACN (Australian Company Number)

33134022870

023550440
Ceased/Former
Appointed Auditor
07/07/2006

22/11/2010

076649100

MGI WHITE HANCOGK 7
'CENTRAL PLAZA TWO' 66 EAGLE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4001 '
Number

014671241

Ceased/Former

Appointed Auditor

04/03/1998

07/07/2006

EDWARDS GEORGE ANTHONY

C/- EVANS EDWARDS & ASSOCIATES 7 ARCHER STREET ROCKHAMPTON CITY
QLD 4700

Number

Share Structure - Issued and Paid Capital

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Share Class Code

Share Class Title

Number of Shares lssued

Total Paid on Shares Issues

Document Number
Document Number Qualifier

Details Type(curreni/ceased)

022254602

Current

CRP

CUMULATIVE REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES
. 265000

$ 265,000.00

080383671
(AR 1998)

Current
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Share Class Code

Share Ciass Title
Number of Shares Issued

Total Paid on Shares Issues

Document Numiber
Document Number Qualifier
Details Type{curreni/ceased)
Share Class Code

Share Class Title

Number of Shares Issued

Total Paid on Shares Issues

Document Number
Document Number Qualifier
Details Type({current/ceased)}
Share Class Code

Share Class Title

Number of Shares Issued

Total Paid on Shares issues

Note: For each class of shares issued by a proprietary company, ASIC records the details of the twenty members of the class (based on
shareholdings). The details of any other members holding the same number of shares as the twentieth ranked member will also be recorded
by ASIC on the database. Where available, historicat records show that a member has ceased to be ranked amongst the twenty members.
This may, but does not necessarily mean, that they have ceased to be a member of the company.

A

A CLASS
27000

$ 27,000.00

080383671

(AR 1998)

Gurrent

ORD

ORDINARY SHARES
100400

$ 100,400.00

BEQ700476

(AR 2001)

Ceased/Former

RED

REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE
20000

$ 20,000.00

Charges Registered and Related Documents

ASC Charge Number

Charge Status

Date Regisierad

Time Registered

Charge Type(Fixed/Floating/Both)
Date Created

Australian Company Number

Organisation Name

Document Mumbet

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(ii Imaged)
Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

1141977

Satisfied

22/03/2005

102400

Both Fixed & Floating
18/03/2005
071292594

INVESTEC BANK (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

027041319
25/08/2010

312

26/08/2010

2

312
NOTIFICATION OF
312A

DISCHARGE

123




N

ASC Charge Number

Charge Status

Date Registered

Time Registered

Charge Type(Fixed/Floating/Both)
Date Created

Australian Company Number

Organisation Name

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

1354876

Satisfied

196/09/2006

113200

Both Fixed & Floating

28/08/2006

071292594

INVESTEC BANK (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

023097566
25/01/2007

312

25/01/2007

1

312
NOTIFICATION OF
312A

DISCHARGE

Company Document Listing

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Addiiional Description

Additional Description

Docurment Number
Date Received

Form Code

028058550

3/01/2013

484

01/02/2013

4

01/02/2013

4B4E

Change to Company Details Appointment or Cessation of A
Company Officeholder

026349193
3110/2012

3688

20/12/2012

39

30/06/2012

(FR 2012)

388A

Financial Report Financial Report - Public Gompany Or
Disclosing Entity

028279320
13/09/2012
484

10
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Daie Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Iimaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Documerit Number

Date Received

Form Code

Daie Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Bocument Nurmber

Date Received

Form Code

Daie Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Efiective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Sub-form Code

14/09/2012
4
14/09/2012
484E

* Change to Company Details Appointment or Cessation of A

Company Officeholder

7E4451349

14/05/2012

484

14/05/2012

2

14/05/2012

4B4E

Change to Company Details Appoiniment or Cessation of A
Company Officeholder

7E4444726

10/05/2012

FS88

10/05/2012

3

10/05/2012

FSB88A

Pds In-Use Notice ~ By Afs Licensee

7E4444725
10/05/2012
878
10/05/2012
2
10/05/2012
878

Notice of Australian Offer Under Foreign Recognition Scheme

027755274

03/10/2011

388

05/10/2011

38

30/06/2011

{FR 2011)

388

Financial Report
3B8E

11
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Additicnal Descripiion
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Pocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-iorm Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Daie Processed

Company - Appoint Change Name/address of Auditor
388A

Financial Repori — Public Company or Disclosing Entity

7E3057130

19/09/2011

FS90

19/09/2011

2

16/09/2011

FS20A

Notice That a Product in a Pds Has Ceased to Be Available -
By Afs Licenses

027836207

17/08/2011

309

05/09/2011

29

25/05/2011

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

027836208

17/08/2011

308

05/09/2011

28

25/05/2011

300A

Notification of Details of 2 Charge

027836206

17/08/2011

309

05/08/2011

29

25/05/2011

309A

Notification of Detalls of 2 Charge

027824266
03/08/2011
484

18/10/2011

12
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Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Suh-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Fortm Code

Date Processed

Number of Pagesl(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Pescription

Document Number

Date Received

3

18/10/2011

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

ZE3763932

27/06/2011

Fsa8

27/06/2011

3

27/06/2011

FS88A

PDS IN-USE NOTICE - BY AFS LICENSEE

027445257
25/03/2011

878

25/03/2011

2

25/03/2011

B78

NOTICE OF AUSTRALIAN OFFER UNDER FOREIGN RECOGNITION SCHEME

027161123

30/11/2010

315

04/01/2011

1

2211/2010

315A

NOTICE OF RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF AUDITOR RESIGNATION OF
AUDITOR

027068202

16/11/2010

5122

17111/2010

8

16/11/2010

5122

NOTICE OF DECLARATION RE MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME

027080028
16/11/2010

13
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Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub~form Code

Additional Deseription

Additional Desctiption

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Daie Processed

Number of Pages(it imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Forim Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date '
Sub-form Code

Additional Descripition

Document Mumber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additionat Description

Additional Description

5120

1711/2010

6

16/11/2010

5120

NOTICE OF EXEMPTICN RE MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME

ZE328105!

08/11/2010

FSe0

08/11/2010

2

05/11/2010

FS90A

NOTICE THAT A PRODUCT IN A PDS HAS CEASED TO BE AVAILABLE -
BY AFS LICENSEE

7E3280355

08/11/2010

FS88

08/11/2010

3

08/11/2010

FS88A

PDS IN-LISE NOTICE - BY AFS LICENSEE

ZE3281108

08/11/2010

F588

08/11/2010

3

08/11/2010

FS88A

PDS IN-USE NOTICE - BY AFS LICENSEE

027027904

01/11/2010

388

17/12/2010

38

30/06/2010

(FR 2010)

388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT — PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

14
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Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description’

Document Mumber
Date Received
Form Code A

Date Processed

7 Number of Pages(if Imaged)

Effective Date
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Iimaged}

Eftective Date

027037965

14/08/2010

484

15/09/2010

6

15/09/2010

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

ZE3050759

20/07/2010

FS88

20/07/2010

3

20/07/2010

FS88A

PDS IN-USE NOTICE - BY AFS LICENSEE

ZE3050703

20/07/2010

FS90

20/07/2010

2

19/07/2010

FS90A

NOTICE THAT A PRODUCT IN A PDS HAS CEASED TO BE AVAILABLE -
BY AFS LICENSEE

2 72
07/06/2010
343
09/06/2010
7
07/06/2010
343
NOTICE UNDER SUBSECTION 329(1A) TO REMOVE AUDITOR

026715613
12/04/2010
3an
02/05/2010
15
01/03/2010

15
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Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

311A
NOTIFICATION OF ASSIGNMENT OF CHARGE

6 13
09/04/2010
350
12/04/2010
2
09/04/2010
350
GERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH STAMP DUTIES LAW BY
PROVISIONAL CHARGE
Alters 026 237 511

026434713

16/03/2010

7051

18/03/2010

17

31/12/2009

7051

HALF YEARLY REPORTS

026434712
15/03/2010
7051
18/03/2010
17

© 31/12/2009

7051 .
HALF YEARLY REPORTS

026434711

15/03/2010

7051

18/03/2010

17

31/12/2009

7051

HALF YEARLY REPORTS

026434714
15/03/2010
7051

18/03/2010

16
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Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-~form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Addiiional Descripiion

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code _
Additional Description

Additional Description

17

31/12/2009

7051

HALF YEARLY REPORTS

026402488

02/02/2010

309

04/02/2010

35

07/07/2009

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

026237611

25/01/2010

309

27/01/2010

45

23/12/2009

308A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE
Altered by 026 438 413

026358094

2711/2009

388

01/02/2010

39

30/06/2009

(FR 2009)

388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

025942696

20/10/2009

484

21/10/2009

2

21/10/2009

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

17
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Documeni Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additionai Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

026044522

12/10/2009

484

13/10/2009

2

13/10/2009

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

0L0306653

18/03/2009

FS02

18/03/2009

24

18/03/2009

FS02

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

025328328

22/12/2008

388

08/01/20089

5

22/12/2008

388C

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT — SUPPLEMENTARY — COMPANY
Alters 025 222 463

024503906

13/11/2008

484

14/11/2008

5

14/11/2008

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

025147439
05/11/2008
484
06/11/2008
4
06/11/2008

18
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Sub-form Code
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Pocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Recelved

Forim Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

4B4E

CHANGE TQ COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

025292463

31/10/2008

388

12/11/2008

30

30/06/2008

(FR 2008)

388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANGIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY
Altered by 025 328 328

024305422
17/10/2008

484

20/10/2008

5

20/10/2008

484E _

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR GESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

024505423

17/10/2008

484

20/110/2008

4

20/10/2008

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

1F0215793

19/09/2008

484

19/09/2008

4 .

18/09/2008

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

19
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Document Numbet

Date Received

Forrn Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(it Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Desetription

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Documeni Number
Date Received

Form Code

ZE1784503

01/09/2008

350

01/09/2008

2

01/09/2008

350

CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH STAMP DUTIES LAW BY
PROVISIONAL CHARGE

Alters 7E1 731 366

024966371

08/08/2008

484

11/08/2008

4

11/08/2008

4B4E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

24 4
07/08/2008
484
08/08/2008
4
08/08/2008
484E
CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A i
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER '

24 2
31/07/2008
FSes
09/09/2008
5
16/07/2008
FS89B
NOTICE OF CHANGE TO FEES AND CHARGES IN A PDS — BY BODY
CORPORATE

7E1731366
28/07/2008
309

20
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Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Numbet

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

pate Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

28/07/2008

3t

13/06/2008

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE
Altered by 7E1 784 503

024474614

16/04/2008

FS53

05/05/2008

11

15/04/2008

FSE3A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

023107288

04/02/2008

484

05/02/2008

4

05/02/2008

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFIGEHOLDER '

024183542

02/01/2008

309

02/01/2008

35

20/12/2007

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

024497218

21/12/2007

FS853

05/02/2008

7

20/12/2007

F853A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

024455465

21
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Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages({if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-torm Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed ‘
Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Bocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Recelved

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Eftective Date

Sub-iorm Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number ot Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

26/11/2007

FS53

08/01/2008

6

22/11/2007

FS53A

NOTIFIGATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

0L0501648

18/11/2007

FS502

19/11/2007

26

19/11/2007

FS02

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

023995265

31/10/2007

388

26/05/2010

29

30/06/2007

(FR 2007)

38BA

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT — PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

024024388
10/07/2007

FS53

2710712007

8

06/07/2007

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

023581822

29/03/2007

484

02/04/2007

5

02/04/2007

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A

22
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Additional Description

Document Numbey

Date Received

Form Ceode

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Numbet

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Mumber

Date Hecelved

Form Code

Date Processed

MNumber of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eftective Date

Document Number Qualifier

COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

0304417
22/03/2007
FSo2
22/03/2007
24
22/03/2007
Fs02
COPY OF AFS LICENCE

023550128

21/03/2007

F853

17/04/2007

6

18/03/2007

FS53A

NOTIFIGATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

023550127

21/03/2007

F353

17/04/2007

8

16/03/2007

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

023087252

06/03/2007

FS53

14/03/2007

6

05/03/2007

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

023550440
14/02/2007
388
26/05/2010
28
30/06/2008
{FR 2006)

23
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Sub--form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(ii Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub~form Code

Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

388

FINANCIAL REPORT

388E

COMPANY —~ APPOINT CHANGE NAME/ADDRESS OF AUDITOR
388A

FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR DISCLOSING ENTITY

023097564
25/01/2007

312

25/01/2007

i

25/01/2007

312C

NOTIFICATION OF RELEASE OF PROPERTY

235321
2b/01/2007
484
09/02/2007
2 .
256/01/2007
484E
CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

0L0501463

17/01/2007

FS02

17/01/2007

24

17/01/2007

Fs02

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

023426447

09/11/2006

484

13/03/2007

5

09/11/2006

484

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS
ABAG

NOTIFICATION OF SHARE ISSUE

24
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Sub-torm Code

Additional Description

Documeni Number

Daiz Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eftective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

NMumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Additional Description

Document Nummber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-~form Code

Additional Description

Document NMumber
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

4840
CHANGES TO SHARE STRUCTURE

023079431

06/11/2008

FS53

09/11/2008

6

02/11/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

023121807

06/11/2006

484

08/11/2008

6

08/11/2006

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

023236735

22/09/2006

484

29/09/2006

5

26/09/2006

4B4E 7

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

021374073
19/09/2006

309

19/09/2006

33

28/08/2006

308A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

023092439
12/08/2006
FS553

18/10/2006

25
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Number of Pagesiii Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Documetit Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub~form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received

Form Code

6

06/09/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

230924
12/09/2008
FS53
18/10/2006 .
6
06/09/2006
FS53A
NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

023108160

05/09/2006

FS53

08/09/2006

11

04/09/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF FDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

023090853

04/09/2006

309

04/02/2006

37

21/08/2006

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

23142527
15/08/2006
484
21/08/2006
4
21/08/2006
484E
CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

1FO006273
08/08/2006
484

26
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Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Etfective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Sub-~form Code

Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub~form Code

Additional Description

Additional Desctiption

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Eifective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Pate Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eitactive Dats

Sub-form Code

10/08/2006

3

10/08/2006

484

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS
484G

NOTIFICATION OF SHARE 1SSUE
4840

CHANGES TO SHARE STRUCTURE

023038433

17/07/2006

315

20/07/2006

2

07/07/2006

J15A

NOTICE OF RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF AUDITOR RESIGNATION OF
AUDITOR

0L0303774

12/07/2006

FS02

12/07/2006

24

12/07/2006

FS02

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

022825646

07R7/2006

FS53

21/07/2008

i

01/07/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

021556363
05/06/2006
484
22/06/2006
8
05/06/2006
484N

27
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Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Prbcessed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(ii Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-fotm Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if lmaged)

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS CHANGES TO (MEMBERS) SHARE
HOLDINGS

022936074

25/05/2006

484

30/05/2006

5

30/05/2006

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

022811763
19/05/2006

FS53

02/06/2006

6

12/05/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022811762

19/05/2006

FS53

02/06/2006

6

12/05/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022814151

12/05/2006

FS53

29/05/2006

11

12/05/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF LISE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022456310
03/05/2006
484
15/06/2006
3

28
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Effective Daie
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form: Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Document Numbet Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Dale

Sub-form Code

Additionat Description

. Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Daie Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

03/05/2006

484

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS

484B

CHANGE OF REGISTERED ADDRESS

484C

CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS (ADDRESS)

022861003

09/03/2008

388

06/05/2006

29

30/06/2005

{FR 2005}

3B8A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REFORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

022348883

21/02/2006

FS53

05/09/2006

6

20/02/2006

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022471586

02/02/2008

484

15/02/2006

4

02/02/2006

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

1E0098100
27/01/2006
FS53
24/02/2008
11
19/01/2006
FS53A

29
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Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

" Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

. Date Processed

/ Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

’ Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS ~ BY AFS LICENSEE

0L0303263

13/12/2005

FS02

13/12/2005

24

13/12/2005

FS02

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

022344790

30/11/2005

FS53

12112/2005

11

25/11/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022344789
30/11/2005
FS53
12/12/2005
11
25/11/2005
FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

022331268
28/10/2005

- FS53

1111/2005

6

27/10/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022331262
28/10/2005

FS53
11/11/2005
6
27110/2005
FS53A

30
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Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Pocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Reesived

Form Code

Date Processed
Number of Pages(it imaged)
Efiective Date
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additionai Description
Sub-forim Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Nurmber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additicnal Description

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022276430

21/09/2005

484

23/09/2005

6

23/09/2005

484E

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A
COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

022285350

21/09/2005

F853

03/10/2005

6

16/09/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

022254602

16/08/2005

484

30/09/2005

7

16/08/2005

484

CHANGE TO GOMPANY DETAILS

484H

NOTIFICATION OF SHARE CANCELLATION - REDEEMABLE PREFERENCES
4840

CHANGES TO SHARE STRUCTURE

484N

CHANGES TO (MEMBERS) SHARE HOLDINGS

020702200

16/08/2005

F853

23/08/2005

6

10/08/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE
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Document Number 020967081

Dale Received 22/07/2005

Form Code FS53

Date Processed 17/08/2005

Mumber of Pages(if Imagsed) 6

Effective Date 18/07/2005

Sub-form Code FS53A

Additicnal Description NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE
Document Number 020967080

Date Received 22/07/2006

Form Code F353

Date Processed 17/08/2005

Number of Pages(if imaged) 6

Effective Date 18/07/2005

Sub-form Code FS53A

Additional Description NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE
Document Number 021445524

Date Received 24/06/2005

Form Code 902

Date Processed 31/08/2005

Number of Pages(if imaged) 6

Effective Date 23/05/2005

Sub-form Code 902

Additional Description SUPPLEMENTARY DOCUMENT

Additional Description Aiters 020 857 231

Document Number 020966763

Date Received 24/06/2005

Form Code FS53

Date Processed 26/07/2005

MNumber of Pages(if Imaged) 6

Eftective Date 22/06/2005

Sub-form Code FS53A

Additional Description NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE
Document Number 020857231

Date Received 26/05/2005

Form Code FS63

Date Processed 02/06/2005

Number of Pages(if imaged) 6

Effective Date 23/05/2005

Sub-form Code FS53A

Additional Description NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

32
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Additicnal Descripgtion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

-.. Date Processed

7
s

Number of Pages(ii imaged)
Effective Date

Sub--form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(it Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

: {_) Document Number.

! Daie Received
| Form Code
Daie Processed
Nurmber of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date
Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Daie Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub~form Code

Altered by 021 445 524

021043730

30/03/2005

309

30/03/2005

26

18/03/2005

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

021083755

22/03/2005

309

22/03/2005

27

18/03/2005

309A

NOTIFICATION OF DETAILS OF A CHARGE

021085842

02/03/2005

FS53

07/03/2005

6

25/02/2005

F853A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LIGENSEE

021085841

02/03/2005

F&53

07/03/2005

6

25/02/2005

FSE3A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

0L0302437
01/03/2005
FS02
01/03/2005
24
01/03/2005
Fso2

33
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Additional Descriplion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Effective Date

Pocument Under Requisition
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effeciive Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

021085827

01/03/2005

FS53

07/03/2005

6

28/02/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

021120307

23/02/2005

FS53

25/02/2005

6

18/02/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020675874

12/01/2005

FS53

15/03/2005

6

07/01/2005

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020675875

13/01/2005

F&53

10/01/2005

Y

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020880105

25/11/2004

553

29/11/2004

6

23/11/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

34
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Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Daie Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-~form Code

Additional Description

DPocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Numbetr

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Nurmber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(ii iImaged)
Efiective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

020890106

25/11/2004

FS53

29/11/2004

6

23/11/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

019667614

09/11/2004

205

09/11/2004

1

14/10/2004

205A

NOTIFICATION OF RESOLUTION CHANGING COMPANY NAME

020814792 -

09/11/2004

FS53

11/11/2004

6

09/11/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

020814793

09/11/2004

FS53 |

10/12/2004

6

09/11/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020684364

15/10/2004

FS53

20/10/2004

6

13/10/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDE - BY AFS LICENSEE

35
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Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Proceésed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Dale

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Nurmber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifeciive Date

Sub-form Code

Additiohal Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

020684365

15/10/2004

FS53

20/10/2004 -

6

13/10/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020748408
30/09/2004
388
08/11/2004
17 |
30/06/2004
(FR 2004)

- 388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

020554662

20/09/2004

FS53

23/08/2004

6

16/09/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020552214

271082004

FS53

08/08/2004

6

25/08/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020378590
16/08/2004
410
24/08/2004
5 -
16/08/2004

36
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Sub-form Code
Addittonal Descripiion

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Bocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-~form Code

Additional Description

Bocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additiona! Description

Documment Namber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Gode

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)

4108

APPLICATION FOR RESERVATION OF A NEW NAME UPON CHANGE OF
NAME

020547462

28/07/2004

FS53

06/09/2004

6

26/07/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020380087

22/07/2004

FS53

24/08/2004

6

21/07/2004

FS53A

NbTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020551806

16/07/2004

FS53

26/08/2004

6

09/07/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020551907

15/07/2004

FS53

13/09/2004

6

09/07/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020244607
14/07/2004
484
16/07/2004
15

37
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Efiective Date
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additiona! Description

Documenit Number

Date Recelved

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

16/07/2004

484

CHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS

4848

CHANGE OF REGISTERED ADDRESS

484C

CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS (ADDRESS)

484E

APPOINTMENT OR CESSATION OF A COMPANY OFFICEHOLDER

020551434

05/07/2004

FS53

05/08/2004

6

01/07/2004

FSBH3A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

019716544

17/06/2004

F&53

27/07/2004

6

10/06/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS -~ BY AFS LICENSEE

019716543

17/06/2004

FS53

27/07/2004

6

10/06/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020454564

02/06/2004

FS53

25/08/2004

6

31/05/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

38
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Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

- Nuraber of Pagss(if Imaged)

Eftective Date
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

020454432

25/05/2004

FS53

07/07/2004

6

20/05/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020297916

07/05/2004

FS53

13/09/2004

6

04/05/2004

FSH3A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS — BY AFS LICENSEE

020417307

27/04/2004

F853

02/08/2004

8

21/04/2004

FS53A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020374460

01/04/2004

FS53

18/06/2004

6

26/03/2004

FSB3A

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY AFS LICENSEE

020074368

19/03/2004

FS53

30/04/2004

6

18/12/2003

FS53B

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

39
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Document Number

Date Recelved

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Pocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effectiive Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripticn

020074369
19/03/2004
FS53
29/04/2004
6
17/12/2003
FS53B

" NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

020074370

19/03/2004

FS53

28/04/2004

6

11/03/2004

FS53B8

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

020074371

19/03/2004

FS53

29/04/2004

6

11/03/2004

FS53B

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

0L0301482

10/03/2004

FS02

10/03/2004

22

10/03/2004

FS02

COPY OF AFS LICENCE

019715604
08/03/2004
FS53
26/03/2004
] _
16/10/2003
FS538

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY GORPORATE
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Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-iorm Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)

Eifective Date

019715603

08/03/2004

FS53

26/03/2004

6

05/12/2003

FS538

NOTIFIGATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

019299718

13/02/2004

F853

19/02/2004

6

29/09/2003

FS53B

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

019936456

10/02/2004

FS53

13/02/2004

6

06/02/2004

FS53B8

NOTIFICATION OF USE OF PDS - BY BODY CORPORATE

019688276

13/10/2003

7660

13/10/2003

1

13/10/2003

766C

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT
SCHEME

Alters 017 886 488

019771271
06/10/2003
484
22/10/2003
4
26/09/2003

4
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Sub-form Code
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Documerit Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additiona! Description

" Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eitective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additlona! Description

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Descripiion

Additional Description

Document Number

484C

GHANGE TO COMPANY DETAILS CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS (ADDRESS)

019893208

01/10/2003

388

15/12/2003

19

30/06/2003

(FR 2003)

388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC GOMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

017914441

30/06/2003

5122

03/07/2003

1

30/06/2003

5122

NOTICE OF DECLARATION RE MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME

14444
30/06/2003
5124
01/07/2003
1
30/06/2003
5124
NOTICE OF EXTENSION OF TRANSITIONAL PERICD

017686488

06/01/2003

764C

06/01/2003

38

14/01/2003

784C

PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)
Altered by 019 689 276

Altered by 019 689 276

185344

42
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Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Documeint Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additionzal Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

bate Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effeciive Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Desctiption

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effeciive Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effeciive Daie

Sub-form Code

01/10/2002

388

23/10/2002

26

30/06/2002

(FR 2002)

388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

SE0900965

30/09/2002

316

30/09/2002

4

30/09/2002

(AR 2002)

316G

ANNUAL RETURN - UNLISTED PUBLIC COMPANY

017928108

30/08/2002

7640

30/08/2002

39

07/09/2002

764C

PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

018173073

24/07/2002

852

30/07/2002

7

24/07/2002

852A

COPY OF OCCUPATIONAL LICENCE OF SECURITIES DEALER

016702356
28/12/2001
754C
02/01/2002
35
28/12/2001
754C

43
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Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Daté Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Nurnber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if maged)
Effective Date

Sub-~form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eftective Daie

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Desctipiion

REPLACEMENT PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME
Alters 017 933 544

016702341
21/12/2001

7108

24/12/2001

1

28/12/2001

7109

NOTICE OF EXTENSION OF EXPOSURE PERIOD UNDER SECTION 727
Aliters 017 933 544

016702340

20/12/2001

7660

20/12/2001

1

20/12/2001

766C

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT
SCHEME

Alters 016 700 486

017933544

14/12/2001

764G

14/12/2001

32

22/12/2001

764G

PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)
Altered by 016 702 341
Altered bf{ 016 702 356
Ahered by 016 702 356

017727453

02/11/2001

388

04/12/2001

25

30/086/2001

{FR 2001)

3B8A

FINANGIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR

44
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Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additiona! Description

Document Number

Date Recelved

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Heceived

Form Cede

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received

Form Code

DISCLOSING ENTITY

0700476
29/10/2001
316
29/10/2001
4
29/10/2001
(AR 2001)
316G
ANNUAL RETURN - UNLISTED PUBLIC COMPANY

017485261

20/08/2001

207

01/10/2001

1

19/10/2000

207

NOTIFICATION OF SHARE ISSUE

017151000

13/08/2001

7036

22/08/2001

1

13/08/2001

7036A

LICENSEE'S NOTICE OF CHANGES TQ DETAILS OF FROFER AUTHORITY
HOLDERS SECURITIES DEALER

016545623

29/03/2001

766C

29/03/2001

2

29/03/2001

766C

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT
SCHEME

Alters 016 700 486

018605462
29/03/2001
304
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Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effeciive Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Recelved

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Bocument Number
Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed
Number of Pages(if imaged}
Effective Date
Sub-form Code
Additiona| Description
Additional Description
Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Recelved

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Dats

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Forim Code

Date Processed

Number of Pageé.(if Imaged)

Effective Daie

04/04/2001

2

28/03/2001

304A

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE TO OFFICEHOLDERS OF AUSTRALIAN
COMPANY

016683390

10/01/2001

304

11/01/2001

2

02/01/2001

304C

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF NAME OR ADDRESS OF OFFICEHOLDER

016700486

11/12/2000

764C

11/12/2000

23

19/12/2000

764C

PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)
Altered by 016 545 523 '
Altered by 016 545 523

Altered by 016 702 340

Altered by 016 702 340

016739130

02/11/2000

A104 ‘
02/11/2000

4

02/11/2000

A104

SUPPLEMENTARY PAGES TO IMAGED DOCUMENT
Alters 014 117 786

014117786
05/10/2000
388
05/10/2000
23
30/06/2000

46
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Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Dascription
Additional Description

‘Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-jorm Code

Additional Desctiption

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Efiective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eifective Date

Sub-form Code

Additionai Description

Document Nurmber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Cede

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

{FR 2000)

388A

FINANGIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COCMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

Aliered by 016 739 130

016519431

02/10/2000

723

10/11/2000 |
17
30/06/2000

7238

RETURN BY MANAGEMENT COMPANY - OTHER

0E4885304
29/09/2000
a6 '
20/08/2000 |
4

28/09/2000

(AR 2000)

316G

ANNUAL RETURN - UNLISTED PUBLIC COMPANY

016549371

20/09/2000

304

22/09/2000

2

20/09/2000

304C

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF NAME OR ADDRESS OF OFFICEHOLDER

016095010

21/06/2000

852

25/07/2000

7

21/06/2000

852A

COPY OF OCCUPATIONAL LICENCE OF SECURITIES DEALER

015340641
11/05/2000
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Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages{(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub~form Code

Additional Description

DPocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Etfective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Desctiption

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processad

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

5124

11/05/2000

1

11/05/2000

5124

NOTICE OF EXTENSION OF TRANSITIONAL PERIOD

15340609

18/04/2000

7021

11/05/2000

2

18/04/2000

7021B

EXECUTED SUPPLEMENTAL DEED

015885222

02/02/2000

304

04/02/2000

2

20/01/2000

304C

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF NAME OR ADDRESS OF OFFICEHOLDER

015473369

30/12/1999

852

05/01/2000

5

30/12/1988

852A

COPY OF OCCUPATIONAL LICENCE OF SECURITIES DEALER

014793645

24/12/1998

764

07/01/2000

27

2411211999

764G

COPY OF PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

014793512
11/10/1999

48
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Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub~form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Efiective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effeciive Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

766A

12/10/1999

3

11/10/1999

766A

SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

3525847

01/10/1999

316

01/10/1999

4

01/10/1938

(AR 1998)

316G

ANNUAL RETURN — UNLISTED PUBLIC COMPANY

015869816

30/09/1999

304

30/09/1999

2

26/08/1999

304C

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF NAME OR ADDRESS OF QFFICEHOLDER

015869815

30/09/1999

388

30/09/1899

21

30/06/1999

{FR 1998)

388A

FINANCIAL REPORT FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR
DISCLOSING ENTITY

014571701

2B/09/1999

723

13/10/1999

14

30/06/1992

7238

RETURN BY MANAGEMENT COMPANY - OTHER

49
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Document Mumber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Pocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effectiive Date

Sub—form Code

Additional Description

Document Numbetr

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Addilional Description

Document Number

\__/ Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additiocnal Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-fortn Code

Additional Description

014793338

16/09/1999

766A

17/09/1999

3

16/09/1999

766A

SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

014793280

03/08/1999

784

06/08/1999

64

03/08/1999

764C

COPY OF PROSPECTUS FOR MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

015342840

07/07/1998

304

07/07/1999

2

06/07/1999

304C

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF NAME OR ADDRESS OF OFFICEHOLDER

015465013

02/07/1289

852

02071999

5

02/07/1999

852A

COPY OF OCCUPATIONAL LICENCE OF SECURITIES DEALER

014793229

30/06/1999

5125

01/071999

2

30/06/1999

5125

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO RETIRE FROM OFFICE OF UNDERTAKING
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Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Document Number Qualifier
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Document Number Qualitier
Sub-form Cede

Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Sub~form Gode

Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Descripiion

080383671

231011998

316

17/11/1998

3

20/10/1998

(AR 1998)

316G

ANNUAL RETURN — UNLISTED PUBLIC COMPANY

014671241

25/09/1998

388

30/09/1998

18

30/06/1998

{FR 1898)

388

FINANCIAL REPORT

388E

COMPANY ~ APPOINT CHANGE NAME/ADDRESS OF AUDITOR
38BA

FINANCIAL REPORT - PUBLIC COMPANY OR DISCLOSING ENTITY
388G

FINANCIAL REPORT - TRANSITIONAL PERIOD LODGEMENT (PUBLIC
COYTHAT IS NOT A DISCLOSING ENTITY)

014574485

18/08/1998

304

20/08/1998

2

13/08/1998

304C

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF NAME OR ADDRESS OF OFFICEHOLDER

012122682

07/071998

766

07/07/1998

2

07/07/1998

766

SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS — NON-MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

51
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Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged}
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Murnber

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-iorm Code

Additional Description

114299002

30/06/1998

7021

30/06/1998

3

30/06/1998

70218

EXECUTED SUPPLEMENTAL DEED

012129543

16/06/1998

766

16/06/1988

2

16/06/1998

766

SUPPLEMENTARY PROSPECTUS - NON-MANAGED INVESTMENT SCHEME(S)

012122322

16/04/1998

764

17/04/1998

66

16/04/1998

7648

COPY OF APPLICATION FORM AND PROSPECTUS

008683217

08/04/1998

7019

08/04/1998

3

08/04/1988

7019

DECLARATION THAT COVENANTS NOT REQUIRED FOR DEED

008693218

08/04/1998

7018

08/04/1998

3

08/04/1998

7018

DECLARATION UNDER SUB-SECTION 1084(6) CORF LAW (OFFERING

52
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Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Cods

Date Processed

Number of Pages(it Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Doecument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imagead)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-torm Code

Additional Description

Documeni Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Eftective Datie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Nuraber

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages{if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

SECURITIES FOR SUBSGRIPTION OR PURCHASE)

008693219

08/04/1998

7025

08/04/1998

3

08/04/1998

7025

INSTRUMENT OF APPROVAL OF TRUSTEE OR REPRESENTATIVE

012122294
06/04/1598

7021

08/04/1998

61

06/04/1998

7021A

EXECUTED PRINCIPAL DEED

008625864

13/03/1998

852

13/03/1998

2

13/03/1998

852A

COPY OF OCCUPATIONAL LICENCE OF SECURITIES DEALER

013262852

24/02/1998

207

24/02/1998

3

18/02/1998

207

NOTIFICATION OF ALLOTMENT OF SHARES

013271757
22/01/1998
207
22/01/1998
3
19/01/1998
207
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Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Mumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Daie

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effeciive Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Pocument Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

MNumber of Pages{if Imaged)
Effeciive Daie

Sub—form Code

NOTIFICATION OF ALLOTMENT OF SHARES

013615937

141101997

215

16/10M1997

2

13/10/1997

215

NOTIFICATION OF INITIAL AFPOINTMENT OF OFFICEHOLDERS

013615924

13/10/1897

305

13/10/1987

1

13/10/1997

305

NOTIFICATION OF CONSENTING DIRECTORS

013597349

13/10/1997

218

13/10/1897

22

13/110/1897

218

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF DIVISION 1 COMPANY

013587350

13/10/1997

204

13101897

1

131101997

204

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION DIVISION 1 PT 22

013615923
13/10A1997
201
13/10/1997
2
13/10/1997
201A
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Additional Description

APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION AS A PUBLIC COMPANY

Annual Returns

Annual Return Year
Outstanding

Return DBue Date

Annual Return Year
Outstanding

Return Due Date

Annual Return Year
Outstanding

Return Due Date

Annual Return Year
Outstanding

Return Due Date

Annual Return Year
Outstanding

Return Dug Date

1998
N
31/01/1999

1999
N
31/01/2000

2000
N
31/01/2001

2001
N
31/01/2002

2002
N
31/01/2003

Financial Report Details

Balance Daie

Report Due Date

AGWM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Exiended AGHM Due Daje
Ouistanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGW Due Date

AGiM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Outstanding

Document Number

Balance Daie

Report Due Date

30/06/1938
25/10/1998
Unknown
25/09/1998
Unknown
N
014671241

30/06/1999
31/10/1999
Unknown
28/09/1999
Unknown
N
015869815

30/06/2000
31/10/2000

55
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AGHM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Qutstanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGHM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Outstanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Ouistanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Daie
Extended AGM Due Date
Outstanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Quistanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Outstanding

Document Number

Unknown
28/09/2000
Unknown
N
014117786

30/06/2001
3110/2001
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
N
017727453

30/06/2002
31/10/2002
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
N
018534469

30/06/2003
31/10/2003
Unknown
24/09/2003
Unknown
N
019893208

30/06/2004
31/110/2004
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
N
020748408

30/06/2005
30/11/2005
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
N
022861003
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Baiance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Outstanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Ouistanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Daie
Outstanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Outstanding

Document Number

Balance Date

Report Due Date

AGM Due Date

AGHM Held Date
Extended AGM Due Date
Outsianding

Document Number

Balance Date
Report Due Date
AGM Due Date
AGM Held Date

30/06/2006
30/11/2006
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown

N
023550440

30/06/2007
31/10/2007
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown

N
023995265

30/06/2008
311072008
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown

N
025222463

30/06/2009
31/10/2009
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
N
026358094

30/06/2010
30/08/2010
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown
N
027027904

30/06/2011
30/09/201 1
Unknown

Unknown
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Exiended AGI Due Daie Unknown

Quistanding N
Document Number 027755274
Balance Date 30/06/2012
Report Due Date 30/09/2012
AGM Due Date Unknown
AGM Held Date Unknown
Extended AGH Due Date Unknown
Quistanding N
Document Number . 028349193

Contact Address

Section 146A of the Corporations Act 2001 states 'A contact address Is the address to which communications and
notices are sent by ASIC to the company.’

Details Type(current/ceased/future) Ceased/Former

Address Type Contact Address for ASIC use only
Address Start Date 28/06/2003

Address End Date 07/08/2006

Address PO BOX 709 CAPALABA DC QLD 4157

End of Search Report

The materials presented on this site are distributed as an information source only. The information recorded in this

document is provided on the basis that readers will be responsible for making their own assessment of the
information and are advised to verify all relevant representations, statements and information. No liability (in
contract, tort or otherwise) will be accepted for any loss or damage incurred as a result of reliance upon any

material contained in this publication, or for any information or advice provided in this publication or incorporated

mto it.

Disclaimer: searchESS reserves the right to manually or electronically charge any fees which are due and payable
by the customer at any stage.
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“SCRI11”

Search Resulis for: Historical Search Organisation Number 109457838
*Extracted from ABR's database at 09:00:23 on 25/04/2013
*Extracted from ASIC's database at 16:30:47 on 28/04/2013

This extract contains information derived from the Australian Securities and Investment Comumission's (ASIC) database under section
1274A of the Corporations Act 2001. Please advise ASIC of any error or omission which you may identify.

Organisation Details

Organisation Name TRILOGY CAPITAL SERVICES PTY LIMITED
Australian Company Number 109457838
State of Incorporation Queensland
Registration Date 09/06/2004
Organisation Number Heading ACN (Austraiian Company Number)
Australian Business Number 62109457838
Review Date 09/06/2013
Document Number 5E1220938
Details Type(current/ceased) Gurrent
Details Start Date 09/06/2004
Organisation Name TRILOGY CAPITAL SERVICES PTY LIMITED
Name Start Date 09/06/2004
Organisation Status Registered
Organisation Type Australian Propristary Company
Organisation Class Limited By Shares
Organisation Sub-Class Proprietary Company
Disclosing Entity Fiag N
Company Address
Document Number 022456311
Details Type{current/ceased/fuiure} Current
Address Type Registered Office
Address Start Date 10/05/2006
Address LEVEL 10 241 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000
Document Number 020244609
Details Type{current/ceased/future) Ceased/Former
Address Type Registered Office
Address Siart Date 21/07/2004
Address End Date 09/05/2006
Address SUITE 7B LEVEL 7 300 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000
Document Number | 020244609

Details Type(current/ceased/future) Ceased/Former
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Address Type
Address Start Daie
Address End Date
Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased/future)
Address Type

Address Start Date

Address End Date

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased/future)
Address Type

Address Start Date

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased/future)
Address Type

Address Start Date

Address End Date

Address

Document Number

Details Type({current/ceased/future)
Address Type

Address Start Date

Address End Date

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased/iuture)
Address Type

Address Start Date

Address End Date

Address

Registered Office

21/07/2004

21/07/2004

SUITE 7B LEVEL 7 300 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

5E1220938
Ceased/Former
Regisiered Office
09/06/2004
20/07/2004

MDRN SOLICITORS LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157

022456311

Current

Principal Place of Business

28/04/2006

LEVEL 10 241 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

020244609

Ceased/Former

Principal Place of Business

08/07/2004

27/04/2006

SUITE 7B LEVEL 7 300 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

020244609

Ceased/Former

Principal Place of Business

09/07/2004

09/07/2004

SUITE 7B LEVEL 7 300 ADELAIDE STREET BRISBANE QLD 4000

5E1220938

Ceased/Former

Principal Place of Business

09/06/2004

08/07/2004

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157

Company Office Holders
Document Number 020244608
Details Type(current/forrmer) Current
Role Director
Appointment Date 09/07/2004
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Full Name

Birth Details
Address

Document Mumber

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birih Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{currentfformer)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)}
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former}
Role

Appoiniment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

BAGON RODGER INGLE
20/01/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 18 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061

020244608

Current

Director

09/07/2004

B JOHN S

20/02/1952 SYDNEY NSW

153 SEAFORTH CRESCENT SEAFORTH NSW 2092

020244609

Current

Director

09/07/2004

BYAN PHILLIP ASHLEY

15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

023142528

Ceased/Former

Director -

14/08/2008

01/08/2011

GIBSON TREVOR JOHN

29/03/1955 SYDNEY NSW

86 DUGANDAN ROAD BUNYA QLD 4055

022471587

Ceased/Former

Director

24/01/2006

29/07/2008

H JOHN

02/10/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088

5E1220938

Ceased/Former

Director

09/06/2004

31/01/2008

MCCARTHY JONATHAN JAMES
22/02/1953 BRISBANE QLD
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Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Eirth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/fotmer)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type{current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

I-=ull Name

Birth Details

Address

Bocument Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Daie

Full Name

Birth Detalls

Address

13 THE ESPLANADE WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160

023121377

Ceased/Former

Director

09/07/2004

17/01/2007

CURLE LB D
28/04/1947 BRISBANE QLD

8 MINDI ROAD DOONAN QLD 4562

020244609

Ceased/Former

Director

08/07/2004

17/02/2006 ( ")
VERSI SILVANO JOSEPH JULI E

27/03/1949 TRIESTE ITALY

30 PEARL BAY AVENUE MOSMAN NSW 2088

020244609
Ceased/Former
Director
09/07/2004
2911/2005
B! NATHAN FREDERICK
15/01/1952 CHARLTON VIC
32 MIDDLE HEAD ROAD MOSMAN NSW 2088

020244609
Current

R
N

Secratary

09/07/2004

BYAN PHILLIP ASHIEY

15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

020982504

Current

Secretary

23/12/2004

HOGAN DAVID JOHN

02/10/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088
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Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Numbet

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Bocument Number

Details Type(currentfformer)
Role

Appointment Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number
Details Type(current/former)

Role

{ " Appointment Date

Full Name
Birth Details
Address

Document Number

Details Type(currentformer)
Roie

Appoiniment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type({current/former}

020244609

Ceased/Former

Secretary

09/07/2004

17/02/2006

v ILVAN EPH JULIAN PETER
27/03/1948 TRIESTE ITALY

30 PEARL BAY AVENUE MOSMAN NSW 2088

5E1220938

Ceased/Former

Sacretary

09/06/2004

09/07/2004

MCCARTHY JONATHAN JAMES

22/02/1953 BRISBANE QLD

13 THE ESPLANADE WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160

024505425

Current

Alternate Direclor

29/09/2008

BARRY JOHN

20/02/1952 SYDNEY NSW

152 SEAFORTH CRESCENT SEAFORTH NSW 2092

024503905

Current

Alternate Director

30/09/2008

BACON RODGER INGLE

20/01/1946 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1B 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2661

022938075

Ceased/Former

Alternate Director

18/05/2008

01/08/2011

GIBSON TREVOR JOHN

20/03/1955 SYDNEY NSW

86 DUGANDAN ROAD BUNYA QLD 4055

023121808
Ceased/Former
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Role
Appointment Date
Cease Date

Fuil Name

Birth Details
Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/iormer)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Full Name

Birth Details

Address

Document Number

Details Type(current/former)
Role

Appointment Date

Cease Date

Fuli Name

Birth Details

Address

Alternate Director

03/11/2008

01/08/2011

BYAN PHILIP ASHLEY

15/02/1961 MELBOURNE VIC

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

022298830

Ceased/Former

Alternate Director

02/09/2005

20/07/2008

HOGAN DAVID JOHN

02/10/1846 SYDNEY NSW

UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088
‘ O

023581821 :

Ceased/Former

Alternaie Director

22/03/2007

29/07/2008

BACON RODGER INGLE

20/01/1946 SYDNEY NSW

LUNIT 1B 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061

Share Structure - Issued and Paid Capital

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Share Class Code

Share Class Title

Number of Shares Issued
Total Paid on Shares Issues

Balance of Share Premium Account

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased}
Share Class Code

Share Class Title

Number of Shares Issued

Tota! Paid on Shares Issues

Document Number -
Detalls Type(current/ceased)
Share Class Code

020244609

Current .
5 )
CLASS B SHARES

40000

$ 40.00

$ 35,960.00

i

020658623
Current

A

CLASS A SHARES
640000

$ 640,000.00

027138457

Current
ORD
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Share Class Title ORDINARY
Number of Shares Issued 6633284
Total Paid on Shares Issues $ 2,664,663.55

Note: For cach class of shares issued by a proprietary company, ASIC records the details of the twenty members of the class (based on
shareholdings). The details of any other members holding the same number of shares as the iwentieth ranked member will also be recorded
by ASIC on the database. Where available, historical records show that a member has ceased to be ranked amongst the twenty members.
This may, but does not necessarily mean, that they have ceased to be a member of the company.

Share Holders
Document Number 022861607
Details Type{current/ceased) Cutrent
Class Code A
Number Held 60000
Beneficially Owned N
Fully Paid Y
Member Organisation Number Q10910835

Member Name
Address
Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

DRANLEX PTY. LTD.

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Numbser)

Document Number 022861607

Details Type(current/ceased) Current

Class Code A

Number Held 60000

Beneficially Owned N

Fully Paid Y

Full Name CURLE AEL BERNARD
Address 8 MINDI ROAD DOONAN QLD 4562
Joint Holding Indicator Y

lember Organisation Number Heading  ACN (Australian Company Number)
Document Numbet 022861607

Details Type{current/ceased) Current

Class Code A

Nurnber Held 60000

Beneficially Owned N

Fully Paid Y

Full Name CURLEY FRANCES ICIA
Address 8 MINDI ROAD DOONAN QLD 4562
Joint Holding Indicator Y

Member Organisation Number Heading

ACN (Australian Company Number)

Document Number 023121377
Details Type{cutrent/ceased) Current
A

Class Code
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Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

flember Organisation Number
ilember Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

WMember Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Qwned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Qwned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(curreni/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Kember Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator
Member Organisation Number Heading

Australian Business Number

60000

N

Y

010337078

DEBENGLEN PTY LTD

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
. ‘

ACN (Australian Company Number)

023121377

Gurrent

A

60000

N

Y

010337087

DEMIVILLE PTY LTD

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

023121377

Current

A

60000

N

Y

010413724

ALGUNA PTY.LTD.

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN {Australian Company Nurnber)

027251035

Current

A

85000

N

Y

0 81

AIMWIN PTY. LIMITED

153 SEAFORTH CRESCENT SEAFORTH NSW 2092
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)
88060522081

.«h\
e’
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Document Number

Details Type(curreni/ceased)
Class Code

NMumber Held

Beneficiaily Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Qrganisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Heid

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Hoelding Indicator

Member Crganisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

;\J Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number

WMember Name

027159222

Current

A

255000

N

Y

137824803

BACON MANAGEMENT SERVICES PTY LIMITED
UNIT 1B 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

020244509

Current

B

10000

N

N

010413724

ALGUNA PTY. LTD.

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

020244609

Current

B

10000

N

N

010337078

DEBENGLEN PTY LTD

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

020244602

Current

B

10000

N

N

010337087
DEMIVILLE PTY LTD
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/Address
Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(cutrent/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

iMlember Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Membet Organisation Number
hiember Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

iiember Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

020244609

Current

B

10000

N

N

010210835

DRANLEX PTY. LTD.

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
Ny .
ACN (Australian Company Number)

020244609

Current

ORD

65000

N

Y

010413724

ALGUNA PTY_LTD.

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN {Australian Company Number)

020244609

Current

ORD

65000

N

Y

010337078

DEBENGLEN PTY LTD

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

022861607
Current
ORD
156258

N

1\;./"

10
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Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

' Details Type(current/ceased)

Class Code

Number Held
Beneficlally Owned
Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Crganisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type({current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

fMember Organisation Numbes
Member Name

Address

doint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

BLEY MICH EBNARD
8 MIND! ROAD DOONAN QLD 4562
Y
ACN (Australian Company Number)
022861607
Current
ORD
156258
N
Y
CURLEY FRANCES PATRICIA
8 MINDI ROAD DOONAN QLD 4562
Y
ACN (Australian Company Number)

023121377

Current

ORD

65000

N

Y

010337087

DEMIVILLE PTY LTD

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australizn Company Numbser)

1F0118870

Current

ORD

215436

Y

Y

010910835

DRANLEX PTY. LTD.

LEVEL 1 80 OLD CLEVELAND ROAD CAPALABA QLD 4157
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

1F0118870
Current
QORD
148653

Y

1
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Fuily Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading
Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)

Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(curreni/ceased)
Ciass Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisaiion Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

flember Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased}
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Futly Paid

Y
HOGAN DAVID JOHN
UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088
Y
ACN (Australian Company Number)
1F0118870
Current
ORD
149653
Y
Y
HOGAN JANET BERYL
UNIT 1 10 RAWSON STREET MOSMAN NSW 2088
Y
ACN {Australian Company Number)
)
025940114
Current
ORD
77589
N
Y
055784062
NOBLESIDE PTY. LTD.
25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103
N
ACN (Australian Company Number)

025040114

Current ( i }
CRD

79657

N

Y

QUILL MIRELLE

25 BRISBANE CORSO FAIRFIELD QLD 4103

N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

025940114
Current
ORD
163768

N

Y

12
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éull Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator
Member Organisation Number Heading
Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fulty Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Natne

Address

Joint Holding Indicator
Member Organisation Number Heading
Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

GIBSON TREVOR

86 DUGANDAN ROAD BUNYA QLD 4055
Y

ACN (Australian Company Number)
025940114

Gurrent

ORD

163768

N

Y

GIBSON KAREN

86 DUGANDAN ROAD BUNYA QLD 4055
Y

ACN (Australian Company Number)

025940114

Current

ORD

718652

N

Y

CHRISTIE JOE

3 THE BATTLEMENT CASTLECRAG NSW 2068
N

ACN (Australian Cormpany Number)

025940114

Current

ORD

26234

N

Y

MCCARTHY J .}

PO BOX 4157 CAPALABA QLD 4157
Y

ACN (Australian Company Number)
025240114

Current

ORD

26234

N

Y

BYAN P.A

PO BOX 4157 CAPALABA QLD 4157
Y

13
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ilember Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fuily Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator
Merﬁber Organisation Number Heading

Australian Business Number

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Futly Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator
Member Organisation Number Heading
Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

ACN (Austratian Company Number)

025940114

Current

ORD

44633

N

Y

00350811

M. CHRISTIE PTY. LIMITED

3 THE BATTLEMENT CASTLECRAG NSW 2068
N

ACN {Australian Company Number)
76003508110

7E3080614 ( )
Current '
ORD

36249

N

Y

ARCHER JOHN

54 FAWKNER STREET ABERFELDIE VIC 3040

Y

ACN (Australian Company Number)

7E3080614

Current

ORD

36249

Y

REID WENDY,

54 FAWKNER STREET ABERFELDIE VIC 3040

Y

ACN (Australian Company Number)

025040114

Current

ORD

2022018

N

Y

082459821

ROJACAN PTY LIMITED

UNIT 1 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2061

14

186



o

)

Joint Holding Indicator
Member Organisation Number Heading

Australian Business Number

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator
Member Organisation Number Heading

Australian Business Number

Daocument Number

Details Type{current/ceased)}
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Fuli Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

N
ACN (Australian Company Number)
30062459821

027159222

Current

ORD

627233

N

Y

060522081

AIMWIN PTY. LIMITED

153 SEAFORTH CRESCENT SEAFORTH NSW 2002
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)
88060522081

027138457

Current

CRD

13333

N

Y

SMART JUSTIN JAMES

16 SIXTH AVYENUE SANDGATE QLD 4017
N

ACN {Australian Company Number)

027159222

Current

ORD

2107570

N

Y

137824803

BACON MANAGEMENT SERVICES PTY LIMITED
UNIT 1B 65 KIRRIBILLI AVENUE KIRRIBILLI NSW 2081
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

022861607
Ceaseleormef
A

340000

Y

15
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Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joini Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Member Organisation Number
Member Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

lember Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type{curreni/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Helding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Details Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Beneficially Owned

Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

Member Organisation Number Heading

Document Number

Detalis Type(current/ceased)
Class Code

Number Held

Y

108873258

DOME CAPITAL PTY LIMITED.

'ROYAL EXCHANGE' LEVEL 13 56 PITT STREET SYDNEY NSW 2000
N

ACN {Australian Company Numkber)

025946114

Ceased/Former

ORD

2510335

N

Y

108873258

DOME CAPITAL PTY LIMITED.
'ROYAL EXCHANGE' LEVEL 13 56 PITT STREET SYDNEY NSW 2000
N

ACN (Australian Company Number}

020244609

Ceased/Former

A

60000

N

N

CURL C NARD

23 MAIN ROAD WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4180
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

5E1220938

Ceased/Former

0oRD

1

Y

Y

MCCARTHY JONATHAN JAMES

13 THE ESPLANADE WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160
N

ACN (Australian Company Number)

020244609
Ceased/Former
ORD

54998

.\.../ I

16
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éeneﬁcially Owned
Fully Paid

Full Name

Address

Joint Holding Indicator

N
Y
CURLEY MICHAEL BERNARD

29 MAIN ROAD WELLINGTON POINT QLD 4160
N

Member Organisation Number Heading  ACN (Australian Company Number)

Charges Registered and Related Documenis

ASC Charge Number
Charge Status
Date Registered

Time Registered

Charge Type{Fixed/Floating/Both}

Date Created

Australian Company Number

Organisation Name

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)

Sub-form Code
Additiona! Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

1139553

Satisfied

14/03/2005

154900

Both Fixed & Floating

11/03/2005

005357522

AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND BANKING GROUP LIMITED

ZE4053141
01/11/2011

32

ai/11/2011

2

312
NOTIFICATION OF
J12A

DISCHARGE

Company Document Listing

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(ii Imaged}

Effective Date
Sub-form Code
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

028009982

26/04/2012

802

30/04/2012

4

21/09/2010

202

Supplementary Document
Alters 027 251 035

ZE4059141
oi111/2011
312

0111/2011

17
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ﬂumber of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pageé(if Imaged)
Eftective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number
Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed
Number of Pages(if In{aged)
Effective Date
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code
Additional Description
Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Bocument Number
Date Received
Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if Imaged)

2
01A11/2011
312A

Notification of Discharge

027680080
03/08/2011
484
19/08/2011
2
04/08/2011
484E

Change to Company Details Appointment or Cessation of A

Company Officeholder

027349640

18M11/2010

902

29/11/2010

2

22/09/2010

902

Supplementary Document
Alters 027 159 222

027138457

04/11/2010

484

05/11/2010

6

05/11/2010

484

Change to Company Details
484G

Nofification of Share lssue
4840 '
Changes io Share Structure
484N

Changes to {(Members) Share Holdings

027159222
20/08/2010
484
01/11/2010
8

18
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éﬁective Date
Sub—form Code
Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

Form Code

Date Processed

Number of Pages(if imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description
Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Daie Received

Form Code

Date Processed )
Number of Pages(if Imaged)
Effective Date

Sub-form Code

Additional Description

Additional Description

Document Number

Date Received

 Form Code

“~” Date Processed
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Address Start Date
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notices are sent by ASIC to the company.”

Ceased/Former

Contact Address for ASIC use only
17/04/2007

09/11/2007

GPO BOX 3555 SYDNEY NSW 2001

End of Search Report

The materials presented on this site are distributed as an information source only. The information recorded in this
document is provided on the basis that readers will be responsible for making their own assessment of the
information and are advised to verify all relevant representations, statements and information. No liability (in
contract, tort or otherwise) will be accepted for any loss or damage incurred as a result of reliance upon any
material contained in this publication, or for any information or advice provided in this publication or incorporated

27

199



mto it.

Disclaimer: searchESS reserves the right to manually or electronically charge any fees which are due and payable
by the customer at any stage. :

R

28

200



P

Page 5 of 3 Docld: 026349183 ACN 1080 383 679
“SCRI12"

Trilogy Funds Management Limited

ABN: 89 080 383 679
AFS Licence No: 261 425

 Annual Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2012

201



Papa 6 of 39 Docld: (28349193 ACN :080 383 679

Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Contents page

| Directors® repart

Auditar's independence declaration
Statement of comprehensive income
Statement of financial position
Statementof changes in equity
Statement of cash flows

FaN Noles to the financial statements

: Directors’ declaration
independent audit report

R

Page No

B o =~ o

10
T
)

202



- ——————

{0

Page 7 of 39 Dacid: 028349193 ACN :080 383 679

Trilogy Funds Management Limited

The Direstors of Tifogy Funds Management Limited (Responsible Enlily) (Comipany), a wholly owned -

Directors' report

subsidiary of Triligy Capital Services Ply Limited (TCS) present their repart together with the financia}
repost far the Company for the finencial year ended 30 June 2012,

Corporate Information

Tha Company is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office and principal place of the

Company is:
Brishane Club Tower
Level 10

241 Adelaide Strect, Brishane, Queensiand

Directors

The names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the end of the finantial year are:

Name and qualifications Age

Robert M Willcotks
IndependentNoere

Chairman
BA LB, LLM

Rodger | Bacon 6

BCam{Merit), AICD, SFFin

John C Barry 60

Execufive Divector
BA, ACA

Philip ARyan 51
Executive Direetor and
Company Secrelary

LL B, Grad Dip Leg Prac,
FTIA, FFIN

Experience and spacial responsibifities

Chairman of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Management
Commitiee

Former partner with the (aw fim now cafed ing & Wood
Mallesons. '

Wir Willcocks has been a director {inchuding Chairman) of a number
ﬁﬂdmﬁhmm&ksumﬁaﬁwﬁhm

Member of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Management
Committee

Former exscutive director of Challenger infemational Limied

Mr Bacon is a direcior of several public and privale companies

mnmmtm&mmmm .

Capital Services Ply Lid.
Director — Responsible Entify since 8 July 2004

Member of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Managesment
Commitiee

Former executive director of Challenger International Limited

Mr Bany is a director of several public and piivate companies
ineluding Trilogy Capital Services Py Ltd and Chairman of Westpac
RE Limited

Director — Responsihle Entity since 9 July 2004

Mr Ryan is a solicltor and member of the Queensland Law Socicly
ine.

Member of the Compliance Commitice

Fommer partner of a Brisbane law im

Mr Ryan is a director of several private companies including Trilogy
Capital Sevives Pty Ltd

Direclor — Responsible Enfily since 13 Octobar 1887
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Directors' report
Directors {continued) )
Rohan C Butcher 43  Member of the Lending Commities
Non-Executive Direclor Consultant to several major pubiic and private companies providing
Grad Dip PM, BASc{QS), development management seivices
Registered Buider, Director — Responsible Entily since 29 July 2008
Licensad Reat Estate Agent
Nigel A Chamier 61 Chairman of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Mansgement
Independent Non-Executive Commilice (resigned 14 May 2012)
Director Chainman of NAC [nvestments {QId) Ply Ltd and a Direclor of
OAM, RNO1K, FAP], several private companies
FAIDC Mr Chamier is the Hmmcmﬁdfnrm

Fommer Joint Managing Uirector (Qid) Jones Lang LaSafle
Director — Responsible Enfily since 14 October 2009 (resigned 14
May 2012)

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year o the date of this report uniess
othenwise stated.

The Company holds an Ausirafian Financial S8ervices Licence (AFSL), and acls as the Responsible Entity
for the following registered managed nvestmiant scheme's (Scheme's):

= Tiilogy Monthly ncome Trust (TMIT);
Twmﬁﬁmhmﬂnﬂﬂwmm

Pacific First Mortgage Fund (PFMF). {formedly Gty P2 St

mmmmmmwm

Trilugy Investor Cholce Melboume Campus Office Syndicate (Melboume Campus);

Tritogy HealthCare REIT (Heafthcare REIT);

Cape Park Funds (Cape Funds);

TﬂngyEppmgCommaﬁaIOIﬁnerpmminEcom.

Austgmith Property Syndicate No 18 (APSPS);

Austgrowth Proparly Syndicate No 18 Unit Trust (APSUT);

Brisbane Property Syndicate (BNEPS) - {(Proparty sold on 11 November 2011);

Brishane Property Syndicate Unit Trust (BNEUT) - (Property sold on 11 November 2011);

Canberra Properly Syndicate (CANPS) - (Property sold on 12 Octuber 2612); and

Canbetra Property Syndicate Unit Trust (CANUT).

There has beenn significant change in the nature of this activity during the year.

Review of operations

Financial summary

The Company produced a net profit after tax of $10,588 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: Profit
$56,686), aﬂemmnﬁng impairment losses of $89,022 (2011: $81,463). Tolal revenues reduced by
18.0% in comparison fo the previous financlal year, fargely as a result of the decline in the gross asset
value of the PFMF.

During the year, the Company repaid $400,000 (2011: $500,000) against fis subordinated loan faciity,
resulfing in a balance at year end of $1,750,000 (2011: §$2,150,000). The fotal assets of the Company
amounted to $4,310,580 as at 30 June 2012 (2011: §5,210,799).
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Directors' report

Dividends
No dividends wem declared or paid dwing the year (2011: nfl), or since the end of the year.

Significant changes in state of affairs

In the opinion of the Director's there were no significant changes in the stale of affairs of the Company
that occumred dwing the financlal year,

- Events subsegquent to the end of the reporting period

Proposal io raplace LM investment Management (LM) as Responsible Enfily

Subsequent to the end of the reporting peried, the Company has issued a Notice of Meeting (NoM) and
Explanatary Memorandum (EM) fo unithalders in the LM Whelesale First Morigage income Fund (FMIF)
and the LM Cumency Protecied Australian income Fund (CPATF), following a meeting convened by
certain investors in those funds o oocir on 1 November 2012 to consider and pass resolulions to
replace LM with Trilogy Funds Management Limiled as Respansible Entity for the FMIF and the CPAIF.

Appoiniment as Respensible Entily
A meeting was hald on 4 June 2012 and resumed or 14 June 2012, to vole on a resclulion fo remave
APGF Management Liniied (APGF) as Responsible Enfity of APS Number 21 and APS Number 24

(properly syndicaies), and replace them with Trilogy Funds Management Limitad. Legal procsedings
were issued subsaquert to the unitholder meeling.

On 9 August 2012 Justice M. Weison made a consent arder fhat APGF be removed as Responsitle

Enfily, and Trilogy Funds Management Limited be appointed Responsible Enlly for the properly
syndicafes subject to the folowing ferms and condifions Ested in the Commiliments Note 19,

On 13 August 2012 the Company was fisted on the ASIC register 25 Responsible Enity for both roperty
syndicates.

The books and - records of the Scheme were fransfemed to the New Responsible Enfily on 17 August

melnveﬂmenlpmpﬂlvhddbyﬁlammmﬂy&ndiﬁlewassﬂdm 12 Octobes 2012, The

RaspmsibleEnhlywillpmeedtowlnd—upmesmane.

AwnﬁactofsabbrmecmwsﬂestpmperlymedhyTﬂMHBHMmRﬂTmsﬂgmdmzz
Ottaber 2012, wih settlement scheduled for 30 days after the exchange of conizacts. The Respansible
Enfity will proceed to wind-up the Schems follawing the settiement of the propesiy.

Other than the iems mentioned abova, there has not arisen in the inferva) between the end of the
financial. year and the date of this report any item, fransaction or event of a material and unusual nature
likely, in the opinion of the Company, to affect significantly the aperations of the Company, meresulhof
those operalions, or the state of affairs of the Company, in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results
of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosuse of
the information would be likely to'result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

Environmental regulation

The operations of the Company are not subject to any parficular or significant environmental regulation
under a law of the Commonwealth or of a Stale or Tenitory. There have been no known significant
breaches of any cther environmental requirements applicable to the Company.
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Directors' report

Opiions granted ' ' : \
No opiions ovar issued shares or interests in the Company were granted during or since the end of the
financial year and there were no options cutstanding at the date of this report.

Audit, Compliance
and Risk
Management '
Commitiee
Meetings of Directors’ Board Meetings Mestings
A B A B :
Rabert M Willeocks () 1 5 6 4 ;
Rodger | Bacon 1 10 2 2 '
John C Bany "M - 10 6 6 ‘
Philip A Ryan 1 1 - -
Trevor J D Gibson (resigned 1 August 2011) 2 2 - .
Rohan G Butcher 1" 1 - -
Nigel A Chamier (resigned 14 May 2012) 10 6 5 4

A=anherofmd§mshaﬂdlmmmﬁemmrwashmmmepaﬁnd
B = Number of meelings afiended,

(*) Lezve of absance granted.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

ﬂuﬁuﬂem.wspaidamﬁmmmofﬂamismmuhﬂmmm on
behalf of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2012 to indemnify all curent and former directors and
officers of the Company (including agents of the Company) out of the propsrly of the Company against:
(a) any Hability for cosis and expenses which may be incumed by that persan in defending civil or
criminal proceedings in which judgement is given in that person’s favour, or in which the person
is acquitted, or in the connecion with an application in relation to any such proceedings in
which the court grants refief to the pesson ander the Carporations Act 2001 (Act); and
(b) fiabiity incumed by the person, as a direclor or officer of the Company or of a related hody ;
carpatate, to another person (other than the Company or a related bady corporate} unless the .
liabiiity arises out of conduct involving a lack of goad falth. .

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums gaid, during or since the end of the financiat
year for the auditor of the Company.

Litigation and contingent liablilities

Lifigation involving bomowers of the PFMF and qther Scheme's

The Responsitle Enfily of the PFNMF is parly to {tigation with bomowers (Kosho Ply Lid (Receiver &
Manager Appointed) and City Co Ply Ltd (Recsiver & Manager Appointed)) slleging it had breached the
finance facifity agresment o, altematively, the Trade Praclices Act 1874 (Cth).. The maximum awardable
amount for this contingent liability is estimated to be $81 million. The Respansible Evfity has filed a
defence denying liablity in respect of this claim in June 2010.

The Responsible Enfity's evidence in chief was filed and served on 10 Seplember 2012, the triel
commenced on 24 September 2012 and was expecied fo run for 7 days. On 2 October 2012 the matier
was adjoumed to 26 November 2012 (for 3 days) by reason of the borowers' request lo tender
addiional evidence (fo which the Responsible Entity objected). The bomowers were ordered to pay the
Responsible Enlity's costs, fixad at $24,000, by reason of the adjoumnment.

The Company is also parly to ather proceedings in its capacity as Responsible Enfity, however Directors
are not aware of any material liability likely to arise to the Company 2s a result of lifigation matters,

4
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Trilogy Funds Nanagement Limited
Directors' report

Litigation and eonfingent fiahilities {continued]

Dispufe with borrower

The Company was awarded judgement for unpaid application fees due from a borrower during the year.
the borrower subsequently appesled the rufing to the Queensiand Court of Appeal, which was
unsucsessful. The bomower has since sought leave to appeal to the High Court of Australia for which a
degision is panding.

The Company has recently served a bankmupticy notice on the borower and have received legal advice
to the effect that if the banknuptey action is successful, the bomower will be precluded from pursuing his
appesl The Company is unable o determine the fikely amount of the recovery should it be sucgessful in
its action.

No person has applied for leave of Court to biing proceedings on behalf of the Company or intevene in
any proceedings to which the Company is a party under section 237 of the Act.

Auditar’s independence declaration
The Auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 6 and forms part of the Directors’ report for
the year ended 30 June 2012,

This report is made in accondance with a resolulion of the Direclors of the Company.

Philip A Ryan Rodger | Bacon

Executive Director Executive Depuly Chainman
Dated: 31 October 2012 Dated: 31 Oclnber 2012
Brishane Brisbane
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. Tek: 461 7 3237 590 Leval 18, 300 Queen 5t
Fax: +617 322209227 Brishane QLD 4000,
: www.bdo,com.au GPO box 457 Brishane QLD 4001

Austratia

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY P A GALLAGHER TO THE DIRECTORS OF TRILOGY FUNDS
MANAGEMENT LIMITED

As the lead auditor of Trilogy Funds Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, 1 declare
that, to the bast of my knowledse and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

« the aufitor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 2udit; and
« any applicable code of professianal conduct in retation to the audit.

a
N
A
Director
BRO Audit Piy Ltd
Brisbamne, 31 October 2012
o,
)

BDp Auxtit Piylts AEH T3 lﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂisammtwnlnmﬂqﬂmdﬁmdlmmﬂsdlﬂlmmmmummmﬂﬂﬂm
11015, 20 Astraifan company Vimited by pamntes, mm:mtummmuuummh:unfmmﬁmmmu.auxmmm
By gurantes, ind fovm part uf the intematfonal GBO netwark of fad L mEmber s, Lahlity (mited by o sthome apamved inder Profesionl
Stamiarefs Legisdation {ather tanfor the arts oy omissiens of financlal sorvices Heensaes) in each State or Temitary sther than Tismania.
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 201: 20 ;
Revenue and cther income
Revenue from bommowers 4a) 44897 35781
Revenue from managed investment schemes 4) 4903592 6218462
Other revente 4c) 166816 192452

5546405 6778716
Expenses
Accouniing fees : (2865  (4379)
Amortisaticn expense (1,834) -
Audltar's remuneration § (12885}  (25080)
Director's fees 17 (100325 (W6222)
Expenses from managed invesiment schemes (785,305) (828,953)
Finance cests - 6 {243,959) (318,448)
losses
» Trade ard ofher receivables 02) (T26%8)  (81,463)
* Investments 10 {26,324) -
Legalfees (21,043) (2438
‘Management fees 15(s) (4:246040) (5,319,039)
Othér expenses 121
11

Profit for the year befare tax 15,518 58,656
{ncome taxexpense - 7 ﬁ 1810
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehesnsive incame for the yaar . i@ 5@_@

The Statement of comprehiansive ineome iz fo ba read in corjunction with the accompanying rotes to the financial
stalaments,

7
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2012 _
Note 2012 2011
$ $
Cument assels
Cash and cash equivalents 8 2691317 2140107
Trade and other receivables 9 _121341 2245801
Total cumrent assefs 3,902,658 4,366,008
Non-cument asseis
‘Trade and other receivables 9 443,000 218,254
Investments in joint ventures 10 . -
Deferred tax assels 7
; ' Toftal non-cument assets 407,922 791
o Total assets 2310580 6210789
Current liabilities
: Trade and other payables 11 1665881 1,735163
) Bomrowings 12 - 100000
Total cumrent kahilities 1665581 1,835,163
Non-canrent labilifies
Trade and other payables 1" 1450600 149000
Borowings 12 1,744887 2138449
‘ Defemed tax iabifiies 7 244088 591551
Total non-current liabilities 2131,775 2879000
Total liabilifes 3,803,356 4,714,163
Net assels 18(c) . Wg m
Equity
Share capital 13 332400 | 392400
Retfained eaminas 114824 104,236
- Total equity 507224 496636

statements,

The Statement of financial posiion is & be read in conjunsiion with the 2ccompanying notes o the financial
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2012
2012 am
: Note ] §
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from cuslomers 6,384,131 40848125
Payments to suppliers cms.m» (6.038,331)
interest received 156,662
Finance costs gm.m! (315.881)
Net cash provided byf(used in) operating activities 14 951,210 (347,405)
Net cash provided byi{used in) investing activities - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Praceeds from bormowings - -
Repayment of borrowings __l4w0.000)  (500,000)
Net cash used in financing activities __{400,000) _ {500.000)
Net incresse/{decrease) in cash held 651,210  (847405)
Cash at beginning of financial year _2M08071 2887512
Cash at end of firancial year 8 __ 2691317 21 ﬂﬂﬂ

The Stafement of cash flows is to-be read in conjunction wiih the accompanying rotes to e financial
statements,

10
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes fo the financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2012
foted  Reporling entily
Trilogy Funds Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Trilogy Capital Services Fly Limited
(TCS) is a public company Fmiied by shares, incorporated in Brishane on 13 Qclober 1897, and
domiclled in Ausiralia. The financial report is for the year ended 30 June 2012,

The Company holds an Australian Financial Services Licence (AFSL), and is the Respansible Entity
and Manage fora number of managed investment scheme's (MIS).

The registered office of the Company is located at Brisbane Club Touwer, Level 10, 241 Adelalde
Streat, Brishane, Queensland, 4000.

Note2  8asis of preparation

{a) Statement of compliance

The financial sistemenis are a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in
wmmmmmnmmmmmmlmam
the Corporations Act 2001 (Ach). The financial statements cover Trilogy Funds Management Limited
as an individual entity. The financial statements of the Scheme complies with Intemational Financlal
Reposting Standands and interpretations in their entirety.

The financial stalements have been prepared on an aceryals basis and are based on historical costs,
modifiad where applicable, mmmaﬁmmmmm
asseils and financial Eabiifes.

This financial seport has been prepared for a for-profit enfity.

The financial stalements were approved by the Board of Directors of Tdlogy Funds Management
Limited an 31 Oclober 2012,

(b) Interests injoint ventures

A joint venture is a contraciusl amangement whereby two or mare pariies underiake an economic
mm&m&mmmmmmammmmmm
the same reporting period a5 the Company, using consistent aceounting policies. Adjustments are
nmdetohiminhﬂnewdhﬁmhrammﬁngmﬁﬁahtmaya@mmemmmmt&of
the joint venture.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial stalements are presented in Austrafian dolfars, which is the Company's functional
cumency.

(d) Key assumptions and sources of estimation

The preparation of financial stalements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumpions thet affect the application of accounting polivies and the reported amounts of assets,
liahilities, income and expenses, Actual resulls may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underiying assumplions are reviewed on an ongoing basfs. Revislons to accounting
es&natesammqgmsedinmeneﬁndinmnhmeasﬁmteismisedandinanymm peiiods
affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and eritical judgements in
applying accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amounts recognised are
disclosed in:

¢ Noted: Impairmentlosses (Trade and other receivables);
» Note 10: Investments in joint ventures (impairment fosses);

"
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial stafements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note2  Basis of prepamaiion

(e} Key assumptions and sources of estimation
« Note 13: Cumulaiive redeemable preference shares;
» Note 15(a): Financfal risk managemsnt {credit risk).

Note3  Significant accounting policies
maamunﬁmmﬁdasﬁumhdmhmmanapplmdwnsmmm#pmdSMmmﬁe

financial statements, uﬁssohmﬁhihﬁehamehasnnteaﬂyaduﬁedwamunﬂg
standard.

(a} Financial instuments

(i} Classification

Tnvestments and financial assels in the scope of AASB 139 Financlal Insiruments: Recognition and
Measurement are categurised as either financial assels at fair vate through profit or loss, teans and
receivables, held{o-maturily ivestments, or availahle-for-sale financial assels. The classificalion

depends on the pupoese for which the invesiments were acquired or ariginaled. Designation is re-
evaliated at each reposting dafe, but there are resiricfions on reciassifying te other categories.

(7} Recognition
The Scheme recognises financial assels and financial Ezbififies on the date il becomes a parly to the

contractual provisions of the insrument.

Finencial assels are recognised using trade date accounting. Fram this daie any gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial iabilifes are reconded.

(@) Measurererit

Financial instuments are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs except where the
instnement is classed af fair value through profi or loss in which the ransaction costs are expensad

immadistely. Transaction costs an financial assets and financial fabiffies are amovlised over the Gfe
ofthe mormmmmmmm.

Subsequent fo initial recognition, all instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair velue with changes i thetr fair value recognised in the profit or loss.

Loans and recsivables are financlal assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an aclive market Such assels are recognised inftially at fair value plus any direclly attributakle
transaction costs. Financial assets classified as loans and receivables subsequently are carried at
amortised costusing the effective interest rate method, less impalrment losses, if any.

~ Financial fiabiliies, other than Mnseatfalrvalueﬂmugh profit or loss, are measured at amostised
cost using the effective interest rate.

() Impaiments

Financial assels, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairmant at the end of each reporfing period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is ohjecive evidenoe that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the inftial
recognition of the financial assel, the estimated fufure cash fiows of the investment have been
affecied.

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable canied at amorfised cost is revarsed i the subsequent
increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event oceurring after fhe impairmant
loss was recognised.

12
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Mote3  Significant aceounting policles {(continued)

{a) Financlalinstrumenis {continued)

(v} Derecagnilion

The Scheme dermcognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition in
accordance with AASB 139.

The Scheme uses the weighted average method to determine reafised gains and losses on
derecognition of financial assets.

A finanotal Sisbiity is derecognised when the obigation specified in the coniract is discharged,
cancelied or expires.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cument deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are shoriderm highly fquid
invesiments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of mesting shorttenn cash commitments rather
than for investment ar other purposes. :

{(a} Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is grobable that the econcmic benefits will flow to the
mnummmmmmmmnmm

The Company derives a fee frum bomowers for managing the lending operations of the morigage
investment schemes. The fea is recognised as revemie when the Company has a right to receive the
revenue.

Application, selfiement and exit fees

The Company is entilied to a fee from borrowers on the approved value of loans. The fee is
recagnised as revenue on the date the loan has selfied.

Revenire fiom WS

Trust establishment fees

The Company is enfitied to an establishment fee on the date of acquisition of a property for a
syndicate. Thefee is recognised as revenue on the date of acquistion.

Equily generation fees

The Companyis entitled to an equity generalion fee for raising investor funds o reduce the debt an a

property syndicate. The fee is recognised as revenue on a proporfional basis to the amount of funds
raised.

Salling and performance fees

The Company may be entitied to a fee from the sale of 2 property syndicate where the net proceeds
from sale exceed a particular benchmark. The fee is recognised as revenue when the Company has
atight to receive it

13
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012
Note3  Significant accounting policies {continued)
{3} Revenue recognition {contfnued)
Cost recovery fees
The Company leviss a fee on the Pacific First Morlgage Fund (formerly City Pacific First Morlgage
Fund) {PFMF}) for the provision of custodian and investor registry services. This fee is determined by

applying 12 basis points (bps) p.a. (plus GST, less reduced input tax credits (RITC)) fo the gross
asset value of the Scheme.

inferest revenua

Inferest revenve is recegnised using the effeclive interest method. All revenue is stated net of the
amount of gaods and services tax (GST).

Other

The Company incuss direct expenses on behaif of the MiS which it seeks recovery from the Stheme
atcost Cost recovery fees are recognised as revenue when the Company has a right to receive it.

~ (b) Expenses

All expensas, inchuding management fees, are recognised in the profit or loss on an accnls basis,
(¢} Taxation

" Income lax

The income t=x expense for the year is the tax payable on fhe current pariod's taxable income basad
on the nalional income tax rate for each juisdiction adjusted by changes in defemed tax assels and
liabilites attsibutabis to temporary differances between the tax bases of assels and abilifies and thelr
caying amounts in the financlal statements, amd to untsed tax losses.

Deferred tax assels and labillies are recognised for temporasy differences at the tax rates expected
fo apply when the assets are recovered or liabifiies are setfied, based on those fax rates which are
enacted or substantially enacted for each jurisdiciion. The relevant tax rales are applied o the
cumulaive amounts of deduclible and taxahle temporary differences arising from the initial

- recagrition of an asset or a fisbilly. No defered tax asset or lisbility is recognised in relafion fo these

temporary differences if they amse In a transacfion, other than a business combination, that at the
{ime of the transaciion did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Dﬁe@ﬂm&mmgnmdhrdmmmmwmmusmdmusedhﬂmmlyif
it is probable that future faxable amounts will be available to utiiise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax assels and liabifiles are offset when there is a lagally enforceable right to offset current
{ax assets and liabfifes and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxafion authority.
Current tax assete and tax liabifties are offset where the enfily has a legafly enforceable right to offset
and intends either to seffle on a net basis, or to reafise the asset and seitle the Gability
simulianenusly. Curent and defemred tax balances atiibutable to amounis recognised directly in
£quily are also recognised directly in equity.

Gootls and Seicss Tax {(GST)

Revenues, expenses and assels are recognised net of the amount of G8T, excepl where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstanees the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisifion of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of comprehensive income are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are plesehted in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

14
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note3  Significant accounting poilcies {continued)

id) interesi bearing loans and Hakilities

Al loans and bemowings are intially recognised at the fir value of the cansideration received less
directly attribufable fransaction costs. :

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and bomowings are subsequenty measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Fees psid on the establishment of loan factities
that are yield related are included as part of the camying amount of the loans and bomrowings.

Botrowings are dassified as cument fiabilifes unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer
seltlement of the abilily for atizast 12 months after the reporiing date.

{e) Borrowings costs

Bowowings are initiafly recognised at fair value, net of fransactions costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amorlised costs using the effective interest rate methad., Under this
methed, fees, costs, discounts and premiums directly related to the financial liability are spread aver
its expected lfe. Bomowings are classified as current Fabiliies unless the Company has an
uncondiional ight to defier settiement of the Esbilily for at least 12 months after reparting date.

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisiion, construction and production of assels that
newssmﬂyhleaa@lhlpaindofﬁnahmehrmmudwsh.maﬁdm
the cost of those assets, until such fime as the assels ere substantially ready for their intended vse.
All gther finance costs are recognised in tha profit or lows in the period in which they are incurred.

() Trade and other recelvahles

Receivables are recognised amd canvied at original amount, fess a provision for any uncoiiectible
debls. An estimate for doubifid debts is macde when colleciion of an amount is no longer probable.
Bad debts are wiilten off when identified.

Amounts are generally received within 30 days of being recorded as receivables.

{a) Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any indicafion that 2n
asset maybe impaired. The assessment will include considesing extemal and intemal sources of
information. Ifsuch an indication exists, an impairment test is camied out on the asset by comparing
the recoverable amount of the assst fo its camying value. Any excess of the assef's canying velue
over its recoverabie amount is expensed to the profit or loss.

Where It is nof possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating urit o which the asset belongs.

{h) Trade and other payables

‘Trade and ofher payables represent the lishiity outstanding at the end of the reporfing period for
goods and senvices raceived by the Group during the reporting period, which remains unpaid. The
balance is recognised as a curent fiahilily with the amounts nommally pald within 30 days of
recognition of the liabifity.

(i) Share capital
Share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Any

transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised direclly in equiy as a
reduction of the share proceeds received,

15
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2012
WNote3  Significant accounting policies (continued)
i Comparative figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparalive figures have been adjusted to cunform to
changes in presentalion for the current year.
{} New and amended standards and inferpretations -
A number of new standands, amendments and inlepwetstions are effective for annual periods
beginning after 1 July 2011, and have not been applied in preparing these financial stalements.
None of these is expacted to have a significant effect an the financial statements, except for the
(7 AASB 9 Financial Instruments (affective from 1 January 2015)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the ciassification, measuremant and de-recogniticn of
financizl assels and financiel liabilties. & simplifies the approach for classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. Financial assels are to ke
classified based on () the objective of the enlity’s business medel for managing the financial assets;
and (b) the characteristics of the contractiral cash flows. This replaces the numerous categories of
financial assels in AASB 139. The Responsihle Entity does not plan to adopt this standard early and
the extent of the impact has not been detemmined.

Note4  Revenue and otherincome Note 1: 201

' ]
(a) Revenue from borrowers
Administration and performance feas 02398 | 1532M
Application and seifement fees . 212498 214510
Total revenue from bomrowers 15(@) _  AT4B9T 367801
{6) Revenue from IS
Expense recoveriss 481,799 468,113
Selling and performance fees 884,243 -
Management fees ' : 3562160 5,802,270
Management fees waivedinebated __{245%) (1921)
Total revenue from MIS 15(2) _ 4,900,532 6218462
{c) Otherrevenues
Interest revenue 123,352 165,718
Other revenue 43,564 26,734
Total olher revenuss 1 [] k|
Total revenue and other income 5 6 1

Note5  Auditor's remuneration

During the year ike following fees were paid or payable for sevices
provided by the auditor of the Company:
- audit and review of the financial reporis of the Company ()
- other assurance services in relation to the Company ()

(8715}  (21,080)

* compliznce plan audit 500
11,215) 98
- offier services (i)
* taxation senices (1.750) (1,590)
4,750 1,500

@) The Responsible Enlify engaged BDO Audit Py Ltd as the Companys auditor. Tolal
remuneration paid and or payable fo BDO Audit Ply Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2012 totslied
$11,215 (201 1: $28,560), which inclutes an over-accrual of $11,310 from previous financial years.

1%
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 5  Audiior's remunerstion {Confiniied)

(i) Taxationsenices have bean undertaicen by BDO Pty Lid, a related practice of BDO Audit Py Ld.

Note 6  Finance costs Note 2012 2011
$ s
Amortised borowing costs : 12(i) {2,567}

Iterest expense 120 _1w_@rsm

Note 7  Income tax expense
The major comporents of income tax expense are:

Income tax expanse comprises:

Current tax (4.838) 124,084
Deferred tax {152) (141,835)
Under prowision in respect of prior years - 115%_
[ncome tax expense

The aggregals amount of income tax expense attributabie to the financial
year differs from the amount caloulated on the nat operating profit. The

differences are reconcied as follows:
Accounting profit befare tax from confinuing operations 16,678 58,596
Income tax expense calculzied @ 30% (2011: 30%) asn3) (175719
Less: Tax efiact of; :
* Permansnt diferences _ - @ {162)
= Net overlunder provision from prior year - 15,831
Aggregate income tax expense @ gmg
Charged
Opening Chargedto  directiyto  Exchange Closing
012 balance ___income equily difierences _balance
Deferved taxassets $ 3 $ "8 $
Curment year tax [oss 124094 (124,084) - - -
Carried forward tax losses from
prior years 26670  (26670) - - -
Trade and aiherpayables 455773  (186.:851) - - 258822
606,537 (347,615) - - 258922
2
Deferred tax labilities
Trade and cther receivables 591,551 (347.463) - - 244088
§91,861  (347.463) - - 244,088
Net deferred tax 14,586 152 - . 1
2011 '
Deferred tax asseis
Cument yeartax loss - 124,094 - - 124004
Canied forward tzx losses from
prior years 26,670 - - - 26,5670
Trade and other payables 47,343 408430 - - 455,173
74013 532,524 - - 606,537

i
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Notes to the financial siatements
For the year ended 30 June 2012
‘Noie7  Income tax exnense {confinued)
Chiarged
Opening Chargedto diretiyto  Exchange Closing
201 balance  _income equily differences _ balance
Deferred fax [abililies $ § % $ $
Trade and other recelvables 87,117 534434 - - _S91851
§T,117 634434 - - 591,551
Net deferred tax 16,858 4,910 - - 1
Note8  Cash and cash equivalents a2 2011
' $ $
Cash at bank and in hand 966,307 115,007
Short-tenm bank deposits ' 1,726,010 2025010
gg 2‘.140!107

The effeciive interest rate on short-ferm bank deposits was 5.70% pa. (2011: 6.24% p.a) these
deposits have an average mahuity of 183 days (2011: 142 days).
Note9  Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 43355 11,536
Other receivable 51,929 84,340
Prepaid expensas 5500 -
interest receivabie 36,237 35,707
Relaled parly loan - MIS 15(a) % 123818
Related party receivable - MIS 15(a) 1055522 1973917
Related parly receivable - Trilogy Capilal Services Ply Ltd
(TCs) _ 15(a) 149000 218254
Related party receivahle - Cyre Trilogy Investment
Management Ply Lid (CTi) 15(g) 14,480 1
1,361,228 2,464,155
Impaiment losses ' (887) -
1,360,341 2464155
Represented by:
Current 1,241,341 2245801
Non-cument ‘449,000 218,
1,360,341 ,155

(a} Provision for impairment of receivables

At 30 June 2012, as part of the annual balance date review procedures the Company recorded
impairment losses in respect of its trade receivables of $72,698 (2011: $81,463) for the year. During
the year the Direclors wrote off 571,811 as a bad debt (2011: $100,889).

Movement in the provision for impairment of recsivables is as follows: ,
Opening Chamefor Amounis Closing
balance  theyear wiittenoff  balance

2002 - $ § $ $
Trade recaivables - 72608 1,811 B87
' - o8 1811 BB7 .
M
Trade receivables 18,436 81,463  (100.889) -
19,436 81 400,850 -

16
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For the year ended 30 June 2012

- NoteS8  Twadeand other receivables {continucd)

{a) Pravisionforimpainnent of receivables (continued)

The Company considers that, based on evidence available as at 30 June 2012, the balance of nat
impaired trade deblors will be recovered in full and accordingly no further impairment losses have
been recorded. ' .

{b) Past due but not impaired receivables

The Company has a significant concentration of credit fisk with respect to a single counterparly other
than those reteivables specifically provided far and mentioned within Nole 9. The main source of
credit risk 1o the Company is considered to relate to the class of assets described a5 Related parly
recelvable - MS.

The following table details the Company’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk {prior to
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impaiment provided for thereon.
Amounts are considered gs ‘past due’ when the debt has not been setifed within the ferms and
conditions agreed between the Company and the customer or counterparty to the transaction.
Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining sohency of the deblors
and are provided for where there are specific circumsiances indicating that the debt may not be fully
repaid to the company.

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (25 detailed in the table) are

considered to ba of high credit qualily.
' Pastdue - Pastdue but not impsired (days overdue)
Gross and

Amount impaired lessthan30 2 31to& 61080 than 80
2012 $ $ $ $ $ $
Trade receivables 43355 - 20,181 14,708 4,645 3,821
Related party
receivable - MIS 1,055,922 - 623927 210035 2 205824
Related party loan -
MIS 25 - 25 - - -
Related party
receivable- TCS 149,000 . - . - 149000
Related parly
receivable - CTIM 14,460 - 14,460 - - -
Tolal 1,262,362 - 6586593 224743 210469 15282
201
Trade receivables 11,535 - 1,186 - - 350
Related party
recelvable - MIS 1,973,917 - 518206 924861 517,636 12,024
Related party loan -
MIS 123,818 - 123818 - - -
Relaied party
recsivable - TCB 218,254 - - 19,254 - 199,000
Related party
receivable - CTiM 16,583 - 16,583 - - -
Totat 2,344,108 - B/OB8B 944218 517636 2113714

‘The Company dees not held any financel assels whose terms have been renegotiated, but which
would otherwise be past due or impaired.

(c) Coliateral pledged
No collateral is held over irade and other receivables.

19
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2012 :
Not2 40 Investments in joint ventures 2012 2011
$ $
cm ' 26,324 -
Impairment iasses (zs,sm -

Theﬂnmpanyentemdfrﬁnajomtveumre agreement with Cyre Funds Managemumﬂad (CYRE)
to form Cyre Tiilogy Investment Management Pty Ltd, a properly and investment management enfily.
Under the Heads of Agreament goveming the operation, Trilogy Funds Management Ltd holds a 50%
interest in CTIM. The results of aperalions fram CTIM are not matesial, hence no disclosure has been
made in this financial report.

{a) Provisionforimpairment of investments

At 30 June 2012, as part of the annual balance date review procedures the Company recorded
impairment [osses in respect of fis invesiment in CTIM of $26,324 (2011: Not appiicable) for the year.

Movement in the provision for impainment of investments is as follows:

12
Invesiments
201
Invesiments | - - - -
Note11 Trade and other payables Nate 2012 2011
$ $
Audit and tax fees 20,325 26410
GST payable ) 157133 92,655
Income tax payable 4,839 -
Related party payanle - Rojacan Ply Lid 15(2) 143,000 149,000
Related party payable - MIS 15(a) 68,287 -
Relaled party payable - BTIM 15(a) 768,163 1410142
Related party payable - CTIM 15(a) 213,964 16,583
Relfated party payable - TCS 15(a) 287,556 6,849

Teade payables 145304 182,524
19014581 1 63

Represented by:
Current 1,665,581 1,735,163

Non-surrent 149,000 149,000
- 1.814,681 1,884,163
Note12 Bomowings
Loan - Popandnic Ply Ltd (BESF) - 100,000
Loan - Bacon Management Services Py Limited (BNS) 1,744,687 2138449
1,744,687 2238440
Represented by:
Current - 100,000

Non-current . 1,744,687 2138448
| ATGASST 3755

P e ———
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Note 12 Bomowings (continued)
The detalls of borrawings as at 30 June 2012 are set out balow:
Malaily Faclily30 Utiised30 Fagily30 Utlised 30

Facility Secured dale Jun2812 Jun2012 Jun2011  Jun2011
Loan BESF (@) Yes 30/06/2012 - - 200000 100,000
Lozn BMS () Yes 280772019 3.1 1,750,000 3,160,000 2.1

Tolz! faciities 3150000 4,750,000 3,350,000 2,260,000
Less umamantised ransaclion )

mmcmmmammmmmwmmumaw
mmwmmmwmmaammmmmemmmm
2000. The pwpose of the loan was to provide funding in support of the Company's AFSL
mmmmaanmmzmmammmmmmmmc
toizls $1,750,000 {2011: $2,250,000)). The interest rate charged on the facHly is the business
overdraft rate issusd by Westpac Banking Corporaion Limited (Westpac) plus 200% p.a. margin to
be reset quanierdy,

Interest 2012 am
Variable 10.711% 11.81%

The loan was witten on normal commercial terms and conditions. The Company repaid $400,000
dpainst the Faclity during the year (2011: $500,000).

() The Compxny entered into a loan agreement with Papandnic Piy Ltd ATF for the Bacon Executive
Superannusation Fund (an entily associated with zn Executive Director of the Company) on 30 June
2011 fo fund the cosls associaled with the Epping Commercial Office Incomre Trust EPCOIT). The
mmmmmmmmmmwmeMnm
subsequently repaid,

.{ii) Deferred bomowing costs comprise all costs in relation to the establishment, anangement and
documentation of the debt faciily. Such costs are recognised as part of the amortised cost of the
bomowing using the effective interest method.

Note 13  [Issued capital 2012 2011
$ $
(a) Share capital
Ominary shares
100,480 (2011: 10D,400) fully psid ordinary shares 100,400 100,400
‘ ' 100,400 100,400
A class chares o
27,000 (2011: 27,000) fully paid A class shares 27,000 27,000
27,000 27,000
Cumulative redeemable preference shares
265,000 (20111: 265,000) fully paid cumulative redeemable preference
shares 265,000 265000

3]
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For the year ended 30 June 2012
Maots 12 lssued capital {continued) 2012 2011
{b} WMovementin share capiiai RNumber Number
Batance at 1 July 392400 | 392400
New shares issued . -
Shares redeemed - -
Balance at 30 June 392400 392400

{c) Terms and conditions

The ordinary shares, A class shares and cumulative redeamable preference shares entitie the holder
fo receive nofie of meelings and to cast one vote for each share keld. All shares cany the sight to
receive dividends when declared at the discrefion of the Directors, however the amount declared on
the shares of any such class may be at a higher or lower rate than or at the same rate as the dividend
declared on the shames of the other classes provided that the shares in each class are treated
equally. Upon a reduction of capital or winding up of the company, each share class ranks equally
with olher shares in the capital of the Company.

Note 34 Reconciliation of cash Row from oparations with

profit for the year 2012 2011
$ $

Profit for the year 10,568 56,686
Adjustments for: '
Amuariised bonewing costs 2567 2667
Impairment - loans and olher receivables 72598 81463
Change in apemting asssfs and fabiflies:
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 1,103813 (1,722,850)
(increase)idecrease in defemad toes M7E15  (532,524)
Increase/{decresse) in trade and ofher payables (e9,582) 1,232,819
increasef{decrezss) in defened ¢ Hahifities {347453) 53444
Adjustments for balance sheel:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables {172,687) -
Increase/(decrease) in frade and other payables 1 74] -
Net cash provided by operaing actes L)

Note 15 Related party fransactions
(a) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parfies are on hormal commercial terms and conditions no more
favourable than those availsble to other parties unless otherwise stated.

The following transzctions accuwred with related pariies:

2012 2011
Transactions recorded in the Stafement of
camprehensive income Nate $ $
Revenue from bomowers 4{a) 474897 367,801
Revenue from managed invesiment schema's (refer Table '
15.1) 4(0) 4,903,692 6218462

5376489 6,566.263
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For the year ended 30 June 2012
Note 45  [Rolated party transactions (continued) Mot a2 20
{a} Transactons with related parfies {continuad) § $
" Transactions recorded in the Statement of
comprehensive income
fees
m”mgamem feas-m'rgga(ii (1,269,563) (1,032,873)
Management fees - Balmain Tiilogy Investment Management Ply Limited
|mm) () ' (?.170.!78)1 (4,285,1686)
Management fees - (CTIV) () —{80e1s -
' (4,246,040} (5,319,039)
Finance costs (iv) ’ (241,391) (316.881)
Director's foes __{100325)  (105222)
R8T B G
Transactions recorded in the Statement of financial position
Assels
Related party loan - MIS (refer table 16.1) s 123818
Related party reocivable - MIS (refer tabla 15.1) 1055522 1973817
Relaled pariy receivable - TCS 49000 218,254
Related parly receivable - CTIM 14,450 16583
Total assels ‘ 1213007 2332572
e payshie- BTl (758,163) (1,410,142)
Related parly -BTIM '
Related parly payable - GTIM (213988)  (16,583)
Related party payable - MIS {refer table 15.) {68.297) -
Relsted party payable - Rojacan Py Limited (143,000) ~ (149,000)
Bonowings _{L7sa887) (2238.448)
Tolellabifiies “3,251,556) (3,601,033)
Nt assets 01288 (1445T)
() Represents charges by TCS to the Company for the provision of management, ciient senvice,

accounting, administration and compliance services; .
{@ Upon the Company’s appointment es Respansible Entity for the PFMF, it entered info an
agmememuﬁmBﬂMhmvideassetmaganmmhmemmpanynnbahawofm
Scheme. BTIM isa joint venture enterprise betwean TCS and Balmain Carporation; ]
mmnmwmmmmawmmmwmmnmm
anmmmmmmmmmmmmammmmdme
Scheme. CYRE Trilogy is & joint venture enterprise between TFM and CYRE; and

() Represents interest charged on the loan from BMS fo the Company.
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Note 18 Related pariy transactions (continuad)
{a} Transactions with reiated parfies fcontinued)

2012 m
Related Relatad Related  Related
Revenue party Revenue party paity
Table 15.1 ﬁanlgmNahle(g payab!; fmmnﬁls:eeawahle(g payable
$ $
™IT 73,682 15,457 68,207 70177 8,145 -
TWFMIT {111) - - - - -
PFMF ‘ 3662027 661,242 - 5992703 1936130 -
Medifink 51,941 4,782 - 52,264 4,803 -
Melhoume Campus 74420 6966 - 86467 1978 -
Cape Funds 874 1,238 - an a7 -
TECOPT - - - 123818 -
APSPS 52,500 4813 - 4375 43705 -
SNEPS 556,979 - - 5542 5542 -
CANPS 431 351 - -
Total 03,532
(0 inchudes relzted parly loans receivable.
Trilogy Monthly income Trust (TMIT);
Teilogy Wholesale First me lmomeTnﬂ (TWHM)'
Pacific First .

Tmmmmnmmm
mmmmmmwmm
Cape Park Funds (Cape Funds);

(e} Related parly investments held by the Company
The Company has no investment in the MIS's it acfs a5 Responsible Enfity for.
Note16 Dividends
2012 2011
No dividends were paid nor declared during the year, ar the priar year. $ $
The balance of the franking account at year end, adjusted for franking
crediis from payment of provision for income tax and dividends
recognised as recelvables, franking debits arising from payment of
proposed dividends and franking credits that may be prevented from
distribution in subsequent financial years. 52,211 82,211

Note 17 Key personnel
Fees paid to Direclors for attendance at Board meelings during the year are as fallows:

Post employment benefits 4523 (4,625
Short term benefits - {86,203) (101,587

Total (100,325) _ (106,222)
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Nota 48  Finaneial risk manasement
Overview .
The Company's asseis principally consist of investments in short ferm depasits with financial
Specific financial risk exposures and management
The main fisks the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, Hquidity
fisk, and market risk relafing to inferest rate risk.

The nature and extent of the financial Instruments employed by the Company are discussed balow.
mmtepmgmlsmmonammmemmwsmneheam&ﬁmahmﬁmm
The Board of Diractors of the Comnpany has overall responsibiiity for the establishment and oversight
of the Company's risk managament framework.

The Board is responsible for developing and monitasing the Company's risk management pafdies,
including those related to MIS. The Responsihle Entity’s risk management paficies are established to
identify and analyse the risis faced by the Company, ta set appropriate risk Emits and controls, and to
menitor risks and adherence fo Emils. Risk management policies and sysiems are reviewed regularly
to refizct changes in market conditions and the Company's activilies.

mwmmmmmmmmwm
mmmmmmmwmmmm
mmmmmmwdm:ummmmmmmm
faced by the Company.

(a) Credit risk
MMEMMMampaMdmmHMMMMr
commitment that it has entered into with the Company and cause a foss. The Company manages the
exposuse to credit risk on an ongoing basis.

Mwwhgmmﬁﬂammmwmmmemﬁnmmgmm.
The Company's maximum exposure fo credt risk at the reporting date is as follows:

2012 2011
_ Note $ $
Financial assels .
Trade and other receivables 9 1,360,341 155
Total financial assets 1 2] 165

All cash held by the Company is invested with approved deposit institufions (ADI's).

The Company has a single credit risk exposue in relafion to the management fees receivables from
the PFMF (a scheme for which it acts as Responsible Enfily) tofalling $661,242 (2011: $1,836,131),
equating to 48.61% (2011: 78.57%) of fotal trada and cther receivables.

This risk is minimised by regularly reviewing the Company's trade and other receivables. Refer note
9 for information regarding ageing of trade receivables, and impairments recorded during the peried.

{b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Campany might encaunter diffiully in sething ils
debis ar otherwise meeting it obilgations related to financial fabififies. The Contpany manages this
risk through the following mechanisms:

« preparing farward-looking cash flow analysis in relafion to iis operational, investing and financing
aclivities; ,
e monitoring undrawn credit facilities;
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MNote 48  Finsnoial rick management (coniinued)
{t) Liguidity risk (continued)
» maintaiming a reputable credit profile;
» managing credi risk selated to fmancial assets;
* only investing surplus cash with major financis! institutions; and
¢ comparing the maturity profile of financial iabififes with the realisation profile of financial assets.

The timing of cash flows presented in the table below to setffe financial Fahifities reflect the earfiest
confractual selffement dates and do not reflect management's expectations that banking faclities will
be rolled farward,

The tables belsw reflect an undiscounied contractual matily analysis for financial Fabillies.
Cantraciual Less than 1 Greaterthan

;2 : _Cshfows  month 1-3 monihs 312 months 12 months

Imgmbmmnmmm-mmmmmﬂemdmm
financial year.

{c) Capital management

controls the capital of the Company in order to maintain a gond debt to equily ratio,
provide the shareholders with adequate retums and to ensure that it can fund its operations and
continue as a going concesm.

The Company's capital management objecives aim fo:
* ensure that the Company complies with its AFSL requirements;.
* ensure sufficient capita! resources to support the Company’s oparaional requirements;
* continue to support the Company's credit wosthiness; end
* safeguard the Company’s ahility to conlinue as a going concem.
Management effectively manages the Company's cagital by assessing ils financlal risks and adjusiing

its capital structure in response o changes in fthese risks and i the market, These responses
include the management of debt level, distibisions to sharehalders and share issues.

There have been no changes in the straiegy adopted by management to control the capital of the
group since the prior year.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ralio. The rafio is calculated as net debl
divided by adjusted assels. Net debt is calculated as total bumngslesseashandmsh
equivalents. Adjusted assets are calculated as tofal assets less cash and cash equivalents. The
gearing ratios as at 30 June 2012 and as at 30 June 2011 were as follows:
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Moie 48 Financial risk management {continued)
(c) Gapitai management {coninued] Notes 2012 2011

$ $

Total borrowings 12 1,744687 2238449
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 8  _(28%1317) (2140.107)
Net debt (346630} 98342
Total assels 4,310580 5210,799
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 8 7, 140.1
Adjusted 1619263 3070692
Gearing ratio {58.5%) {3.2%)

mecompm'smmislmduemm“deashequimmmmdm
borrowings.

AFSL adjusfed ncl tangible assst requirement

It is a requirement of e Company's AFSL. that it hold adjusted net tangible assets (NTA) (refer table
below) of 0.50%, of the vaiue of ital funds under management for all MIS for which it acls as
Responsible Entlly. The amount of this requirement as at 30 June 2012 totalied $1,048.222 (2011:
$2.276,624). '

Notes 2012 2011
Acfusted net assels $ $
Net assels fram the Statement of firanciatl pasition 507,224 495636
Adjustments: ' ’
Subondinated loan - BMS 120) 1,750,000 2150000
Defered tax assels ‘ (258,928} (605.537)
Deferred tax babifties 244088 551,551
Total adjusted et assets _220064 250041

The Company has maintained sufficient NTA in satisfaction of its AFSL for the year ended 30 June
2012, .

{d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in masket prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Company's
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. Market risk embodies the potential for
both less and gains. The objective of mariet risk management is to manage and contral market risk
a:pomnaswiﬂﬁnawepiahbpammﬁm.whﬁenpﬁnishgﬁm@unmriﬂn

i. Interestmferisk

The nﬂoﬁﬂnfﬁtaﬂumpmm’sﬁnanﬂalliaﬂﬂieaareinterestheaﬂnghauswhim are subject to
variable interest rafes. The following table summaries the balances at risk:

w2 2011
: $ $
Loan BESF - 100000

Loan B __4Tson 2150000
. ‘I& ézso!uun
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Note 18  Financial risk management {continued)
{d) Mariket risk (confinued)
i Interest raterisk {continued)

The following table provides a sensifivity analysis of a 3.00% p.a. increaseldecrease in the inferest
rate for the above balances at risk at the end of the financial year.

As at 30 June 2012 Profit$  Equity$
+ 3% i interest mtes 6273 513,497
= 3% in Inferest rates 14,803 522,127
As at 30 June 2011

+ 3% in inferest rates 51,138 847,774
=~ 3% in inferest rates _ 82,234 558,870

it. Other muarket risk

The Company is not exposed to other material market risk on fts financial assets and Rabifiies.
(e) Estimation of fair value

The canrying values approximate the value of the Scheme's financial assets and fabiliies.

Note 19 Commiiments

The Supreme Cowt of Queensland made a consent onder on 9 August 2012 in the matier of APGF
Management Limiied vs. Vivian Annette Anderson (Chair person elected at a mssting of unitholdars
on 4 June 2012) that the following costs be paid en the terms shpulated below:

* $655,278 (representing the balance of an MIS's unsecured facility with its farmer Responsihle
Enfily} is dua and payable by a MIS to APGF Management Limiied upan the regisiration of the
Company as Responsible Entily (refer Note 21). It is 2 condiion of the Court Order that no
interest be charged provided the Company ensure the payment is made on or before 31
December 2012; ,

e $17,474 {representing unpaid management fees to a former Respansible Enfity) is dve and
payable ondemand by the MIS to APGF Administrafion Py Lid;

* $12,913 (representing unpaid propesty management fees) is due and payable on demand by an
MIS fo APGF Investment Management Ply Lid; and

e $150,000 (representing a portion of the performance fees payable on sale of the proparty) is due
and payable by an MIS o APGF Invesiment Management Ply Lid.

In the event the MIS is unshle to pay the amounts stated above by the due date, the Company will ba
liable for these debls.

Note 20 Liiigation and contingent liabllities

Litigation involving borrowers of the PFMF

The Responsible Entily of the PFMF is party fo fligation with borrowers (Kosho Ply Lid (Receiver &
Manager Appointed) and City Co Ply Ltd (Receiver & Manager Appointed)) alleging it had breached
the finance facility agresment or, altematively, the Trade Practices Act 1974 (Cth). The maximum
awardable amount for this contingant liabllity is estimated to be $81 million. The Responsible Enfity
has fled a defence denying liabliity in respect of this claim in Jure 2010.

The Responsible Entity's evidence in chief was filed and served on 10 September 2012, the trial
commenced on 24 September 2012 and was expected to run for 7 days. On 2 October 2012 the
matter was adjourned fo 26 November 2012 (for 3 days) by reason of the borowers’ request to
tender additional evidence (to which the Responsible Entity objected). The borrowers were ordered
{o pay the Responsible Entily’s costs, fixed at $24,000, by reason of the adjoumment.
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Mot 20 Litigaiion and contingent Habilitios (continued)

Litigation inwilving barowers of the PFMF {continued)

The Company is also parly fo other pruceedings in its capacily as Responsible Entily for the PFMF,

however Direclors are not aware of any material fabiity likely to arise to the Company as a result of

litigation matiers.

Dispute with bomower .

The Company was awarded judgement for unpaitl application fees due from a bomowar during the

year. The bomower subsequently appealed the ruling to the Queensiand Court of Appeal, which was

unsuccessful. The bomower has since sought leave to appeal to the High Court of Australia for which

- @ decision is pending.

The Compary has recently served a bankruptey notice on the bomower and have received legal

advice to the effect that if the bankwuptey action is successful, the borower will be preciuded from
hisappeal The Company is unable to detenmine tie fikely amount of the recovery should it

be sucoessfil inils action. ’ :

No person has applied fur leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene
in any procesdings to which the Company s a parly under section 237 of the Act.

Note 21 Events subsequent to reporting date

Proposal fo replace LM Invesiment Management (LA) as Responsible Entily

Subsequent i the end of the repoiting period, the Company has issued a Nolice of Meeting (NoM)
and Explanatory Memorandum (EM) to unitholders in the LM Whoiesals First Morigage Income Fund
(FMIF) and the LM Cumency Prutecied Austrafisn income Fund (CPAIF), following a meeling
convened by cartain investors in those funds o ocour on 1 November 2012 to consider and pass
resolutions to replace LM with Trilogy Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for the FMIF
and the CPAFF.

Appoiniment as Responsible Eniiy

A meeting was keld on 4 June 2012 and resumed on 14 June 2012, to vote on a resolution to remove
APGF Management Limited (APGF) as Responsible Enfity of APS Number 21 and APS Number 24
{properly syndicates), and replace them with Tillogy Funds Management Limited. 1.epal proceedings
were issued subsequent to the unitholder meeting.

On 9 August 2012 Justice M. Wilson made a consent order thal APGF be removed as Respansile
Entity, and Trilogy Funds Mansgement Limited be appointed Responsible Entity for the property
syndicates subject 1o the foltowing terms and condifions l'sted in the Note 19.

On 13 August 2012 the Company was listed on the ASIC register as Responsible Entity for bath
praperty syndicates.

The books ard records of the Scheme were transferred to the New Responsibie Entity on 17 August
2012, '

Sale of

invesiment properiies
= e oV d‘ e

ank Properly Syndieate (CANPS) and anhs 1
The investment property held by the Canbena Property Syndicate was sold.on 12 October 2012. The
Responsible Entity will proceed to wind-up the Scheme.

29
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MNots 21 Evenis subsequent {0 reporiing date
Saia afmvasﬁnenrmemas {canﬁmed)

Amnﬂﬂdsﬂeﬁrhe%ﬂsﬁpmpwmwmgywmmsgnedonu
Oclober 2012, with seifiement scheduled for 30 days after the exchange of conbracis. The
Responsible Entity will praceed to wind-up the Scheme following the seifement of the properly.

* Other than the it=ms listed above, there has not arisen in the inferval between the end of the financial
year and the date of this report any flem, transaction or event of a material and unusual nahwe likely,
in the apinion of the Responsible Eniily, to affect significantly the operations of the Scheme, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Schame, in future financial years.
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Directors’ declarafion

The Directors' of Tritlogy Funds Managewent Limited daclare that:

{a) Theﬁmnu?alslate_mentsandnnﬁs.assetoﬂunpages?toanareinawmanuewiﬂlme
Corparations Act 2001, inciuding;
® givhgah:eandlahiwofﬁanme’sﬁnﬂﬁalmsiﬁmasatandunezmzandof
its performance, for the financial year ended on that date: and
M wmmmmmmwmmmmAnwmm
Interpretalions) and the Corporations Regulations 2011;

{b)ﬂteﬁmnchlmpnﬂahemnmﬂeswimlnlamﬁunalﬁmnﬁalnepmsmdardsas
disclosed in Nole 1; and

© nmmmmmmmwmmmemwmmmmmmdmﬁm
when they become due and payable.

swumammm:mmmfﬂmmmmfmewm.

Phiip A Ryan "Rodger | Bacon
Execufive Direclor Pxacuive Depuly Chainman
Dated: 31 Oclober 2012 Dated: 31 Octoher 2012

Brishane Brishane

n
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el 48173007 559 Level 18, 300 Queen St
Faz +51 7 3221 927 Brishane QLD 4000,
wwaw bifo.com.ats GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Report an the Financial Repert

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Trilogy Funds Management Limited, which
mmprises&esﬂtunmtufﬁmdﬂmﬁmasat:ﬂhme!ﬂhmemnmufmmhm
income, mmﬂmmm.mdmmmofaﬂ:mmmeymmm. notes
comprisine a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatary information, and the
directars’ declamtion of the company.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report

mm_mweﬁrmmﬁmdmmMNﬂmgivaamm&irﬁm
inmmmmmmmmwmmmmm
MMaMMMEmmmmmﬁmﬁﬂmﬁmmm
mmmammmmkmmmmmmmmm
error. n Note f, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101
mdmmmmmmwmwﬁmlmﬁm
Fingncial Reporting Stondards.

Auditor’s Responsibifity

Wmﬁﬂhmmnwﬁhmﬂnﬁwﬁmﬂ“mwmmwﬂm“
mmmmmmmwusm.anmmﬁmMmmm
mmlmmmmmmmmmmmmwm
mﬂemmmmﬁmﬂmmmmmm

,Anmnimmvsmnmmmdmmmmitmmmmmmmm

the finanial report. mepmselecteddepmdmmeawmrswmt. including the
assessment of the risks of materfal misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or ervar.
lnmﬁm&mﬂkmﬂ.ﬂmmﬂihrwﬁ&mhﬁamlmmlmmmﬂmmm;
pmmﬁunofmeﬁmdalrepoumatgivsamandfﬂﬁwmmmdﬁmauﬁtpmm
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpase of expressing an opinion on the
mdmmmshmlml.mmmmmmeapmﬁam
ofacmmﬁrgpnﬁcimedandﬂlemmblenssofamﬁngesﬁmammdebymedim.as
well as evaluating the overalt presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for aur audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001, We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporatians Act 2001, which
has been given to the directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited, would be in the same terms if
given to the directars as at the time of this auditor’s report.

00 Aic ey Lad 281 13 134 022 670 ix 8 miembier of anatiansl asscation ol Infiependent exlticies wivch are all mekers of BUD Auntealls L ABN 72 0650
110275, an Axtralian camparly Fmited by 800 Augit Py Ltd and BO0 Ausiralis Lad are mewbers of B0 Iniermational Lud, a UK cmnmany limited
by guarantee, and tem part of the inl jenal 855 nolwoek of indepondant membzr AnMS, Lizhility {imited by a stheme 2pproved undes Profesilenat
Standards beglslation {sthar than far theacts oronnitsions of financial services Heenseesy tn 2ach State ar Tenitory cther than Tastmania,
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|BDO

Opinion
(m our apinion:

(@} the financial repart of Trilogy Funds Management Limited is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2081, including:
(i) iving a true and fair view of the company's financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

{b) the financial report also complies with international Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 1.

Boo
R

Brisbane, 31 October 2012

mmwwunmnmmmaammumumtmmmmmumwummmmmmmwmmAﬂu non
“nm.mnmmnm Amited by 600 Andil Py tod and 650 Ausirails kid ere monthers of BDO intomatioral Lud, a UK compseny mited
by garatee, i famm pArt 6f the onal OO nstwork of Endont mmmﬁmymﬂnﬂwamumﬂmm;ﬂwt
smmmﬁw:nmmmrmmmmmmmﬁmd sendecs ticensees}in each State or Tertory cther than Tasmarfa,
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Directors' report

The Directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited (Responsible Entity), the Responsible Entity
of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund (Scheme), present their report together with the financial
statements of the Scheme for the six months ended 31 December 2012 and the auditor's report
thereon.

Responsi'ble Entity

The Responsible Entity is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office and
principal place of business of the Responsible Entity and the Scheme is:

Brisbane Club Tower
Level 10
241 Adelaide Street, Brisbane, Queensland

Directors
The names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the end of the period are:
Name Position

Roberi M Willcocks Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Rodger | Bacon Executive Deputy Chairman

John C Barry Executive Director

Philip A Ryan Executive Director and Company Secretary
Rohan C Butcher Non-Executive Director

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.

Review of operations

The net loss attributable to unitholders for the six months ended 31 December 2012, after
impairment losses of $9,218,143 (31 Dec 2011: $78,058,320) totalled $6,514,123 (31 Dec 2011:
loss $68,745,917). The impairment losses of $9,218,143 (31 Dec 2011: $78,058,320) comprise
impairments of interest receivable of $5,364,289 (31 Dec 2011: $13,464,457), mortgage loan
impairments of $3,846,001 (31 Dec 2011: $64,469,873) and investment property impairments of
$7,853 (31 Dec 2011: $123,990).

The impairment losses relate to an analysis of impaired mortgage loans during the period and at
balance date to reflect the fair value of mortgage loans and interest receivable of those loans.
These impairment losses represent estimates of losses that may be incurred based on a number
of assumptions including amounts that may be received upon repayment or sale of the security
properties and the period until funds are returned. In the current economic climate there is
uncertainty as to the amount that could be realised on the sale of security properties, and the
time it may take to achieve a sale. Accordingly, actual impairment losses incurred may differ
significantly from these estimates.

Return of capital fo unitholders

The Responsible Entity made a further return of capital to unitholders during the period totalling
$6,593,421 ($0.0075 per unit) (31 Dec 2011: $8,844,106).

Finance facility with Commonwealth Bank of Australia ("CBA")

In order to maintain the covenants of the Facility Agreement, the Scheme was required to repay
$9,000,000 during the reporting period. The balance of the facility at 31 December 2012 was
$10,000,000 (30 Jun 2012: $19,000,000).
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Directors' report

Events subsequent to the end of the reporting period
Finance facility with CBA

The finance facility with the CBA expired on the 28 February 2013. The Responsible Entity has
successfully negotiated a further extension of the facility. The key terms of the extension are as
follows:

* payment of a $100,000 principal reduction;

* expiry 28 August 2013,

* 75% of settlement proceeds to be applied to repayment of the CBA facility;

« suspension of further capital repayments, distributions and redemptions in the absence of
CBA's prior written consent: and

* reduction of the CBA facility to $6,000,000 by 29 March 2013.

Following the above and other principal reductions made by the Responsible Entity, the remaining
debt under the CBA facility stands at $6,642,694 as at the date of this report.

Sale of security

Settlement of a residual security forming part of a morigage asset has been effected on 28
February 2013. Net proceeds received totalled $3,716,722 of which $2,787,541 has been applied
to the principal debt pursuant to the CBA finance facility.

Other than the items noted above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the
reporting period and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a material and
unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Responsible Entity, to affect significantly the operations
of the Scheme, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Scheme, in future
financial periods.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The Auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 3 and forms part of the Directors’
report for the six months ended 31 December 2012.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Responsible Entity.

(5~ Vi~

~

Philip A Ryan Roger | Bacon

Executive Director Executive Deputy Chairman
Dated: 14 March 2013 Dated: 14 March 2013
Brishane Brisbane
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Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 Level 18, 300 Queen St

Fax: +61 7 32219227 Brisbane QLD 4600,
www.bdo.com.au GPQ Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001
Austrakia

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY PAUL GALLAGHER TO THE DIRECTORS OF TRILOGY FUNDS
MANAGEMENT LTD AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY FOR THE PACIFIC FIRST MORTGAGE FUND

As lead auditor of Pacific First Mortgage Fund for the half-year ended 31 December 2012, | declare
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

s  the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and
« any applicable code of professional conduct in retation to the review.

{ Son

PA Gallagher
Director

BBO Audit Pty Ltd

Brisbane, 14 March 2013

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABH 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association of Independent entities wiich are all members of BRO Australia Ltd ABH 77 G50
110275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty Lud and BDD Australia Ltd are members of BDO Intemational Ltd,-a UK company limiked
by puarantee, and farm part of the imermational BOO networh of indapendent member flrms. Liabilicy limited by a schene approved under Prolessional
Standards Lesfslatfon {other than for the acts ar cmissfons of financial services kicensess) i each State or Territory othar than Tasimania.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Interim statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 31Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

$ $
Revenue and other income
Interest revenues - mortgage loans 5,364,290 12,765,536
Interest revenue - cash and cash equivalents 118,002 122,624
Fees income - morigage loans - 30,257
Rental income - 3,189
Total revenue and other income 5,482,292 12,921,606
Expenses
Auditor's remuneration (79,920) (78,173)
Direct property expenses and outgoings - 484
Impairment expense:
+ Trade and other receivables 4 (5,364,289) (13,464,457)
* Investment property 5 {7,853) (123,990)
+ Invesiment in financial assets - mortgage loans 6 (3,846,001) (64,469,873)
Legal fees {1,297,686) (23,005)
Other expenses (283,769) (195,901)
Responsible Entity management fees 9(a) (652.429) (2,082,026)
{11,531,947) (80,436,941)
Loss from operating activities before finance costs (6,049,655) (67,515,335)
Finance costs:
+ Amortisation of loan transaction costs (39,589) (125,343)
* Interest expense (424,879) (1,105,239)
{464,468) (1,230,582)
Loss attributable to unitholders (6,514,123) (68,745217)
Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive loss for the period (6,614,123) (68,745917)

The Interim statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes to the financial statements.

4
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund

Interim statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2012

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Mortgage loans

Investment property
Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Total liabilities (excluding liabilities attributable to
unitholders)

Net assets attributable to unitholders

Total liabilities

(4]

31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012

$ $
2,750,632 9,527,617
17,892 23,430
111,667,003 126,870,947
- 217,500

114,475,527 136,639,494

845,402 901,826
10,000,000 19,000,000

10,846,402 19,901,826

103,630,126 116,737,668

114,475,527 136,639,494

The Interim statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the

financial statements.

5
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Interim statement of cash flows
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received - mortgage loans

Interest received - financial institutions
Responsible entity fees and other costs paid
Borrowing costs paid

Net cash provided by/{used in) operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Mortgage loan funds advanced

Mortgage loan funds repaid

Acquisition of investment property
Proceeds from sale of investment property
Refund of deposit - investment property

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings

Payments for return of capital

Payments for redemption of units

Net cash provided by/{used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

~Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011
$ $

- 231,154

129,722 102,611
(2,266,788)  (2,836,154)
(506,954)  (1,402,895)
(2,644,020)  (3,905,284)
(2,094,036)  (7,387,794)
13,384,845 29,147,621
- (3,102)

209,647 -

, 41,250
11,500,466 21,797,975
(9,000,000)  (2,900,000)
(6,593,421)  (8,844,106)
- (500,000)
(15,593,421) (12,244,106)
(6,736,985) 5,648,585
9,527,617 1,312,625
2,790,632 6,061,210

The Interim statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial

statements.

6
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 1 Reporting entity

The Pacific First Mortgage Fund (Scheme) is a registered managed investment scheme under the
Corporations Act 2001 (Act). The Scheme was constituted on 23 June 1998 and will terminate on 23 June
2078 unless terminated in accordance with the Constifution. The financial report of the Scheme is for the six
months ended 31 December 2012.

The Scheme prepared a consolidated financial report for the year ended 30 June 2012, incorporating its
controlied entity. Due fo a change in strategy regarding the Scheme’s investment property (Refer Note 5),
there was no longer a requirement to operate a separate enfity. As a result the Responsible Entity,
deregistered its controlled entity. The Scheme is no longer required to prepare consolidated financial reports.

Note 2 Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance

The interim financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Act.

\/ - }he interim financial report does not include all of the information required for a full Annual financial report, and
“should be read in conjunction with the annual financia! report of the Scheme as at and for the year ended 30
June 2012,

The interim financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical cost modified by
the revaluation of selected non-current assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair
value basis of accounting has been applied.

(b) Key assumptions and sources of estimation

The preparation of Interim financial report requires management fo make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions fo accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future period affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation unbertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amounts recognised are disclosed in:

* Note 3(a): Material uncertainty regarding going concern;
; ~y* Note 4: Impairment losses (interest receivable); and
.7+ Note 5: Impairment losses (mortgage loans).

Note 3 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies and methods of computation applied by the Scheme in this Interim financial report are
the same as those applied by the Scheme for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(a) Material uncertainty regarding going concern

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuation of
normal business operations and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of
business.

During the six months ended 31 December 2012:

* All parties who had borrowed from the Scheme continue fo be unable to repay or refinance existing
mortgage loans due for repayment during the period, resuiting in expected cash inflows to the Scheme not
being received as anticipated;

» City Pacific Limited (Receivers and Managers Appointed) (In Liquidation) (Former Responsible Entity), the
former responsible entity of the Scheme, cancelled income distributions to unitholders in July 2008. As a
result, no income distributions were paid during the period;

» As disclosed in Notes 4, 5 and 6, the Scheme recognised impairment losses of $9,218,143 (31 Dec 2011:
$78,058,320);
7
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Material uncertainty regarding going concern {continued)

e In October 2008 the Former Responsible Entity resolved that the Scheme was a “non-liquid” registered
managed investment scheme in accordance with the Scheme's Constiiution and the Act. As a result no
redempiions were paid by the Scheme to unitholders from this date until the end of the current reporting
period;

» Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme's finance facility, $9,000,000 (31 Dec 2011: $2,900,000) was repaid
during the period. The repayment was required to ensure the Scheme maintained the facility's covenants;

» Retumn of capital payments totalling $6,593,421 (30 Jun 2012: $26,426,561) were repaid to unitholders;
and

* Hardship redemptions totalling $nil (31 Dec 2011: $500,000) were paid to qualifying applicants.

The Directors of the Responsible Entity have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis, as it
is their intention to:

\;- Seek an extension to the facility pending the realisation of sufficient cash to repay the residual debt of

-7 $10,000,000 as at the balance date (the extension of the facility until 28 August 2013 has been formalised

and the residual debt reduced to $6,642,694 subsequent to the reporting date, refer Notes 7 and 12);
« Recommence the return of capital payments to unitholders subject io the Scheme having sufficient
liquidity;
Continue to fund the maintenance and improvement {where applicable) of security properties in order to
facilitate the sale of completed properties; and
= Continue, subject to market conditions, to dispose of saleable Scheme assets in a timely & structured
fashion.
The Responsible Entity has prepared cash flow projections that support the Scheme’s ability to meet financial

liability repayments, and continue funding the maintenance and improvement (where applicable) of security
properties.

To continue as a going concern, it will be necessary for the Scheme to:
* Continue the existing finance arrangements with its financier; and

* Realise sufficient cash funds from the repayment or refinancing of morigage loans io:
- Seek an extension to the facility pending the realisation of sufficient cash to repay the residual debt

Y of $10,000,000 as at the balance date (the extension of the facility until 28 August 2013 has been
— formalised and the residual debt reduced to $6,642,694 subsequent to the reporting date, refer Notes
7 and 12);

- Fund costs associated with the maintenance and improvement (where applicable) of security
properties to facilitate their timely realisation;

- Recommence the return of capital to unitholders; and
- Fund all other costs associated with the operation of the Scheme.

In the unlikely event of the ahove matters proving unsuccessful, there exists material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the Scheme's ability to continue operating as a going concern. This could result in Scheme
having to realise its assets and extinguish its liabiliies other than in the ordinary course of business, and at
amounts different from those stated in the financial statements. No adjustment for such eventuality has been
made in the financial statements due to its unlikelihood in light of the Scheme's current projections.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 4 Trade and other receivables 31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
$ $

Interest receivable - mortgages 93,735,841 118,760,876
Impairment losses {93,735,841) (118,760,376)
interest receivable - financial institutions ‘ 7,007 18,726
Other receivables 10,885 4,704
17,892 23,430

(a) Impaired receivables

At 31 December 2012, as part of the annual balance date review procedures the Scheme recorded impairment
losses in respect of interest receivable of $5,364,289 (30 Jun 2012: $23,701,366) for the period. During the
period the repayment of 6 (30 Jun 2012: 9) mortgage loans resulted in realised impairment losses of
$30,389,324 (30 Jun 2012: $29,965,178) in respect of interest receivable.

4 n'}ﬂovement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

.

3
;

Opening  Charge for Amounts Closing
balance the period written off balance
31 Dec 2012 $ $ $ $
Interest receivables - mortgages 118,760,876 5,364,289 (30,389,324) 93,735,841
118,760,876 5,364,289  (30,389,324) 93,735,841
30 Jun 2012
Interest receivables - mortgages 125,024,688 23,701,366  (29,965,178) 118,760,876

125,024 688 23,701,366  (29.965,178) 118,760,876

In assessing whether interest receivable may be impaired, the Responsible Entity's considerations included but
were not limited to: :

* Valuations of security properties completed by registered valuer listed on the Scheme's panel;
Appraisals from real estate agents;

Actual sale prices realised on completed projects;

Recent offers to purchase security properties arising out of marketing campaigns;

Current market conditions as at 31 December 2012;

Status of individual loans; and

Estimated time to realise mortgage loans and interest receivable.

These impairment losses represent estimates of losses that may be incurred based on a number of
assumptions including amounts that may be received upon repayment of the loan or sale of the security
property and the period in which funds are returned. In the current economic conditions there is uncertainty as
to the amount that could be realised on the sale of security properties, and the time it may take to achieve a
sale. Accordingly, actual impairment losses may differ significantly from these estimates.

The Responsible Entity considers that, based on evidence available as at 31 December 2012, the net impaired
interest on remaining mortgage loans should be recovered in full and accordingly no further impairment losses
have been recorded.

Property markets

The ongoing volatility in Australia’s property markets may negatively impact asset values in the future,
however, these financial sfatements set out the financial position as at the reporting date based on available
evidence and accounting estimates.

It is common knowledge that the property market throughout Australia and particularly in south east
Queensland has been very difficuit in recent times and particularly over the past 4 years.

246



Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 4 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(a) Impaired receivables (continued)

Property markets (continued) '

in the case of undeveloped land (rural or urban) and finished apartment buildings, there has been
extraordinary weakness and very low transaction volumes, with some transactions exhibiting severely
distressed sale values.

In carrying out the duties of Direciors of the Responsible Entity under the Act, it is necessary to form a view of
the value of the assets of the Scheme, and to increase the impairment provisions where the Directors consider
that would be a prudent course when reporting to unitholders.

In this process the Directors seek and obtain the views of the Investment Manager of the Scheme (Balmain
Trilogy Investment Management Pty Ltd) as it is they who have a good understanding of such assets and the
markets in which they may be transacted.

These views take into account the plans for orderly realisation of assets and the stated policy of 'no fire sales

—of assets’.
*-On a regular basis or when circumstances are deemed to require if, the Directors also seek independent

professional valuation reports to assist in forming their views on the fair values of the relevant assets.
However, it must be recognised that establishing values in market conditions such as have prevailed in the last
year can be a very difficult exercise. This is especially so if the assets are unusual or unique, such as those
assets secured by property at Martha Cove.

Note 5 Investment property 31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
$ $

Balance as at 1 July 217,500 511,159
Acquisitions - management rights 3,500 -
Less: Impairment losses - management rights (3,500) (27,807)
Refund of deposit - (16,500}
Acquisitions - residential apartment 520 642
Sale - residential apartment (213,667) -
Less: Impairment losses - residential apartment {4,353) (96,182)
Refund of deposit - (24,750)
Balance as at 31 December - 346,562

__ihe Investment Manager recommended that the Scheme acquire a residential apartment with a strategy to
gradually gain control over the entire complex (in which the Scheme held a number of apariments as security
for a mortgage loan) with the intention of capitalising on the potential development opportunity presented by
the site, in order to maximise the recovery to unithoiders. The Scheme paid a deposit to acquire an additional
apariment, as well as the management rights over the entire complex.

Subsequent to the proposed acquisition of the additional apartment and the management rights, the south east
Queensland property market experienced further significant deterioration, which no longer made the
Investment Manager's strategy feasible. As a consequence, the apartment held by the Scheme was placed on
the open market and sold, with settlement occurring on 17 September 2012. The planned acquisition of the
additional apartment and management rights were aborted and the deposit monies returned to the Scheme.

10
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 6 Investment in financial assets

Mortgage loans 31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012

Held directly: $ $

Mortgage loans (i) 390,393,338 542,722,310

Impairment losses (278,726,335) (415,851,363)
111,667,003 126,870,947

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 390,393,338 542,722,310

Longer than 3 months but less than 12 months - -

Total mortgage lcans before impairment 390,393,338 542,722,310

(i) All loans are secured by registered first and second mortgages and secured over real property in Australia.

rr«%s at 31 December 2012, as part of the balance date review procedures, the Scheme recorded impairment

\.__bsses in respect of mortgage loans of $3,846,001 (30 Jun 2012: $120,231,589) for the period. During the
period, 6 mortgage loans (30 Jun 2012: 9) were repaid in full or in part from the sale of underiying security
properties or refinance, resulting in realised impairment losses of $140,971,028 (30 Jun 2012: $71,954,721) in
respect of mortgage loans.

Movement in the provision for impairment of mortgage loans is as follows:

Opening Charge for Amounts Closing
balance the year written off balance
31 Dec 2012 $ $ $ $
Mortgage loans 415,851,363 3,846,001 (140,971,029) 278,726,335
415,851,363 3,846,001 (140,971,029) 278,726,335

30 Jun 2012
Mortgage loans 367,574,495 120,231,589 (71,954,721) 415,851,363

367,674,495 120,231,589  (71,954,721) 415,851,363

(a) impaired mortgage loans
In assessing whether mortgage loans may be impaired, the Responsible Entity considerations included but
._,_\{vere not limited to:

Ry * Valuations of security properties completed by registered valuers listed on the Scheme’s panel;
* Appraisals from real estate agents; '

Actual sale prices realised on completed projects;

Recent offers to purchase security properties arising out of marketing campaigns;

Current market conditions as at 31 December 2012;

Status of individual loans; and

Estimated time to realise mortgage loans and interest receivable.

The provision for impairment losses represents estimates of losses that may be incurred based on a number of
assumptions, including amounts that may be received upon repayment of the loan or sale of the security
property and the period in which funds are recovered. In the current economic conditions there is uncertainty
as to the amount that could be realised on the sale of security properties, and the time it may take to achieve a
sale. Accordingly, actual impairment losses incurred may differ significantly from these estimates.

The Responsible Entity considers that, based on evidence available as at 31 December 2012, and subject to
market conditions, all unimpaired principal on remaining mortgage loans should be recovered in full and
accordingly no further impairment losses have been recorded.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 6 Investment in financial assets (continued)

(a) Impaired mortgage loans (continued)

Property markets '

The ongoing volatility in Australia’s property markets may negatively impact asset values in the future,
however, these financial statements set out the financial position as at the reporting date based on available
evidence and accounting estimates.

It is common knowledge that the property market throughout Australia and parficularly in south east
Queensland has been very difficult in recent times and particularly over the past 4 years.

In the case of undeveloped land or finished apartments, there has been extraordinary weakness and very low
transaction volumes, some {ransactions have exhibited the characteristics of very distressed sale values.

In carrying out the duties of Directors of the Responsible Entity under the Act, it is necessary to form a view of
the value of the assets of the Scheme, and to increase the impairment provisions where the Directors consider

that would be a prudent course when reporting to unitholders.

P

\} this process the Directors seek and obtain the views of the Investiment Manager of the Scheme as it is they
who possess a good understanding of such assets and the markets in which they may be fransacted.

These views take into account the plans for orderly realisation of assets and the stated policy of 'no fire sales
of assets'.

On a reguilar basis or when circumstances are deemed to require it, the Directors also seek independent
professional valuation reports to assist in forming their views on the fair values of the relevant assets.
However, it must be recognised that establishing values in market conditions such as have prevailed in the last
year can be a very difficult exercise. This is especially so if the assets are unusual or unique, such as those
assets secured by property at Martha Cove.

Note 7 Borrowings

31Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
Finance facility (Commercial bills) $ $
Multi option facility 10,000,000 19,000,000

10,000,000 19,000,000

The details of borrowings as at 31 December 2012 are set out below:

() Facility 31  Utilised 31 Facility 30  Utilised 30
" Facility Secured Maturity date Dec 2012 Dec 2012 Jun 2012 Jun 2012
$ $ $ $

Multi option facility Yes 28/02/2013 10,000,000 10,000,000 19,000,000 19,000,000
Total borrowings 10,000,000 19,000,000

The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Scheme, providing the financier
with first priority over Scheme assets. The interest charged on the facility is variable and is 5.66% p.a. (30 Jun
2012: 6.13% p.a.) at 31 December 2012. The rate includes a margin of 2.50% p.a. (30 Jun 2012: 2.50% p.a.).
Principal reductions to the loan have been made as required during the period to maintain the facilities loan
covenants.
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| Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 8 Net asset value per unit
31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
Ordinary Contributed Accumulated Ordinary  Contributed Accumulated
units Capital Profit units Capital Profit
No $ $ No $ $
Balance at the
beginning of the
reporting period 879,122,759 814,005,922 116,737,668 884,410,563 841,688,392 273,205,601
Units issued:

Units redeemed - -

Return of capital (6,593.421) (6,593,421)
Total
~—~comprehensive
{_hcome for the year - - (6,514,123) - - (128,785,463)
'Balance at the end
of the reporting

(5,287,804) (1,255,909) (1,255,909)
(26,426,561) (26,426,561)

period 879,122,759 807,412,501 103,630,125 879,122,759 814,005,922 116,737,668
The net asset value per unit are:

Cents per unit as at 30 June 2012 0.13
Cents per unit as at 31 December 2012 0.12

Units in the Scheme entitle the unitholder to participate in digtributions and proceeds on the winding up of the
Scheme in proportion to the number of units held.

On a show of hands each unitholder present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote, and on
a poll each member has one vote for each dollar of the value of the total units they have in the Scheme.

Note 9 Related party transactions
(a) Transactions with related parties:
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
}’ he following transactions occurred with the Responsible Entity:
31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011
Transactions recorded in the Interim statement of profit or loss and other

i. comprehensive income $ $
Responsible Entity management fees paid (i) {511,620) (713,684)
Responsible Entity management fees payable (i) (140,809) (1,368,342)

(652,429) (2,082,026)
Expenses reimbursed (ii) {3,949) (35)

(656,378) (2,082,061)

31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012

ii. Balances recorded in the Interim statement of financial position $ $
Responsible Entity management fees payabie (iii) (140,809) (1,368,342)
(140,809) (1,368,342)

{i) The Responsible Entity is entitled to 2 management fee of 1.50% p.a. (plus GST less RITC). These fees
are calculated on the iotal gross asset value of the Scheme. The Responsible Entity has waived a portion of
its management fee during the period in line with its commitment to return $0.04 per unit to unitholders in April
2011 and a further $0.04 per unit in October 2011. The Responsible Entity has excluded the unpaid portion of
the scheduled capital repayments from the gross asset value of the Scheme for purposes of calculating the
management fee; 13
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes o the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 9 Related party transactions (continued)
{a) Transactions with related parties (continued):

(i) The Responsible Entity incurs costs on behalf of the Scheme for which it is reimbursed; and

{iiiy Due to the delay in a number of asset sales that were due to occur during the previous financial year, the

Responsible Entity agreed fo defer the payment of its management fee for the period 1 September 2011 to 31
December 2011.

Related party transactions

All transactions with retated parties are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions. There have
been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables.

(b) Units in the Scheme held by other related parties
As at 31 December 2012 no Directors of the Responsible Entity held units in the Scheme (30 Jun 2012: nil).

Note 10  Financial risk management

{n}he Scheme's financial risk management objectives and policies are consistent with those disclosed in the
“-Annual financial report as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(a) Creditrisk
Loans secured by property at Martha Cove

As at 31 December 2012, the Scheme had the following mortgage loans and interest receivable, after
impairment losses, secured by registered first and second mortgages over land situated at Martha Cove,
Victoria. The recoverability of these loans is supporied by independent valuations from registered panel
valuers, appraisals from real estate agents, actual sales prices realised and estimates from management in
relation to the fair value of the security property on an orderly realisation basis.

Marina Cove Pty Limited (Receivers and Managers Appointed) (in Liquidation) (Marina Cove) is a 100%
owned entity by CP1 Limited (Receiver Appointed) (in Liquidation) (CP1 Limited) and the owner of various
property holdings at Martha Cove, which comprises the security for the Scheme's mortgage loans and interest
receivable noted above. In addition to Marina Cove there are several other property owners with land holdings
at Martha Cove, some of which having sourced financing from other financiers and provided morigage security
over same,

CP1 Limited, Marina Cove Pty Limited and certain other development companies holding the Scheme's
/" “nortgage security assets at Martha Cove are in breach of the finance facilities provided by the Scheme and/or
“-—gther financiers and have been placed under external administration as a resulit.

The properties located at Martha Cove are held in structures that are both cumbersome and complex in nature
and, in some instances, involve the interests of other financiers, as well as the Scheme. Given the complex
nature of the Scheme's exposure at Martha Cove (which is comprised of 9 separate precincts and over 123
allotments, the Responsible Entity undertook an internafional expressions of interest (EOI} campaign in
October 2011. The portfolio was offered on an open basis, giving the option of acquiring any, some or all of the
constituent precincts. This strategy was aimed at generating interest from as broad a spectrum of potential
purchasers as possible and fostering compstitive tension among them to increase the prospects of a
reasonable recovery to unitholders. Several potential purchasers have indicated their interest in purchasing the
selected precincts. Negofiations continue with these shori-listed parties to procure an offer that the
Responsible Entity considers to be in the best interests of the unitholders.

The adopted carrying value of the Martha Cove securities as at 31 December 2012 is reflective of the interest
received to date and subsequent to the end of the reporting period (including the time value of money, costs to
hold and realise the portfolio). The terms and conditions of these offers have not been disclosed as they are
commercially sensitive and subject fo further negotiations with the various parties.
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Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 11 Litigation and contingent liabilities
Kosho & City Co

The Responsible Entity of the Scheme is party to lifigation with a borrower (Kosho Pty Ltd (Receiver &
Manager Appointed)) and third party mortgagor (City Co Pty Ltd (Receiver & Manager Appointed)) alleging the
Responsible Entity breached the finance facility agreement between it and Kosho or, alternatively, the Trade
Practices Act 1974 (Cth). The maximum awardable amount for this contingent liability is estimated to be $81
million. The Responsible Entity filed a defence denying liability in respect of this claim in June 2010.

Trial commenced in the Supreme Court of Queensland on 24 September 2012 and on 2 October 2012 was
adjourned to 26 November 2012 for 2 additional days, culminating with the Responsible Entity putting forth its
case. The Responsible Entity filed and served its written submissions on 7 December 2012 and on 20
February 2013 filed written submissions in reply to those filed by the Kosho interests.

The parties' closing oral submissions were listed to be heard by Justice Applegarth on 2 March 2013 but were
adjourned to 28 March 2013 at the request of the Kosho parties and notwithstanding the Responsible Entity's
~~9bjection to that adjournment.

h “Although difficult to predict in the absence of any indication by the Court, judgment may be handed down in the
period June to August 2013.

Federal Court proceedings against former CPL directors and officers

The Responsible Entity is pursuing a claim against Messrs Philip Sullivan, Thomas Swan, Stephen McCormick
and lan Donaldson, former credit commitiee members and directors of the Former Responsible Entity, in the
Federal Court of Australia.

The $60 million claim was filed on 27 April 2012 and alleges breaches by the former directors and officers of
their statutory duties under the Act. At the centre of the claim are loans provided by the Former Responsible
Entity to borrowing entities Bullish Bear Holdings Pty Ltd (Receiver and Manager Appointed) and Atkinson
Gore Agricultural Pty Ltd (Receivers and Managers Appointed) (In Liguidation) between 2006 and 2009, which
resulted in substantial losses to the Scheme.

In September 2012 Mr McCormick (third respondent, first cross-claimant) lodged an application to have his

cross claim determined in full prior and separately to the hearing of the Responsible Entity’s claim. Mr

MeCormick's motion, which the Responsible Entity opposed, claimed that he ought to be indemnified by the
--Responsible Entity for legal costs he incurred in defending its claim against him, at least until the claim is
_ u_,,fletermined.

On 26 February 2013 Mr McCormick’s application was dismissed by Justice Emmett, who ordered Mr
McCormick to pay the Responsible Entity’s legal costs pertaining to that application. Following the Court's
dismissa! of the application, a trial date may be allocated at the upcoming directions hearing on Thursday, 14
March 2013, subject to:

(i) a further application which may be brought by the defendants to have the proceedings moved to the
Supreme Court of Queensland (and heard together with another action); and

(ii) the schedule and convenience of the Court, particularly given that a trial judge has not yet been appointed
in Justice Emmett’s place following his appointment to the NSW Court of Appeal effective 7 March 2013.

The Directors are not aware of any material liability likely to arise to the Scheme as a result of litigation matters.
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Note 12
Finance facility with CBA

The finance facility with the CBA expired on the 28 February 2013. The Responsibie Entity has successfully
negotiated a further extension of the facility. The kay terms of the extension are as follows;

Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Events subsequent to reporting date

payment of a $100,000 principal reduction;

expiry 28 August 2013; :

75% of settlement proceeds to be applied to repayment of the CBA facility;

suspension of further capital repayments, distributions and redemptions in the absence of CBA's prior
written consent: and

reduction of the CBA facility to $6,000,000 by 29 March 2013.

Following the above and other principal reductions made by the Responsible Entity, the remaining debt under
the CBA facility stands at $6,642 694 as at the date of this report.

§

~—Sale of security

“Settliement of a residual security forming part of a morigage asset has been effected on 28 February 2013. Net
proceeds received totalled $3,716,722 of which $2,787,541 has been applied to the principal debt pursuant to
the CBA finance facility.

Other than the items noted above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the reporting period
and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion
of the Responsible Entity, to affect significantly the operations of the Scheme, the results of those operations,
or the state of affairs of the Scheme, in fuiure financial periods.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Directors' declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited, the Responsible Entity of
Pacific First Mortgage Fund (Scheme):

(a) The attached financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 4 to 16, are in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act), inluding;
.. giving a true and fair view of the Scheme's financial position as at 31 December 2012
® and of its performance for the half year ended on that date: and

(i) complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Inferim Financial Reporting and the
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Scheme will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

~

Philip A Ryan Rodger | Bacon

Executive Director Executive Deputy Chairman
Dated: 14 March 2013 Dated: 14 March 2013
Brisbane Brisbane
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www,bdo,com.au GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001
Australia

Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 Level 18, 300 Queen St
Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 Brishane QLD 4000,

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REVIEW REPORT
To the Unitholders of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund

We have reviewed the accompanying half-year financial report of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund,
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012, the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of cash flows for the half-year ended on that date,
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and
the directors’ declaration.

Directors of the Responsible Entity’s Responsibility for the Half-Year Financial Report

The directors of the responsible entity of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund are résponsible for the
preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the
directors of the responsible entity determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the half-year
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the half-year financial report based on our review, We
conducted our review in accordance with Auditing Standard on Review Engagements ASRE 2410 Review
of a Financial Report Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, in order to state whether,
on the basis of the procedures described, we have become aware of any matter that makes us believe
that the half-year financial report is not in accordance with the Corporations Act 2007 including: giving
a true and fair view of the disclosing entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2012 and its
performance for the half-year ended on that date; and complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134
Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Regulations 2001, As the auditor of the Pacific First
Mortgage Fund, ASRE 2410 requires that we comply with the ethical requirements relevant to the audit
of the annual financial report.

A review of a half-year financial report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons respansible
for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant
matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which
has been given to the directors of the responsible entity, would be in the same terms if given to the
directors of the responsible entity as at the time of this auditor’s review report. '

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABN 33 134 622 870 is a member of a pational assacialion of independent entities which are all members of BBt Australiz Ltd ABH 77 050
110 275, an Australian company Wimited by suarantee, BDO Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of 8DO Internaticnal Ltd, a UX cempany timited
by guarantee, and form part of the internakional BDO netvroslt of independent member firms. Liability limited by a schewe approwed under Professional
Standards Legistation {other than far the acts or omissions of financial services ticensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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Conclusion

Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us
believe that the half-year financial report of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund is not in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001 including:

A. giving a true and fair view of the disclosing entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2012 and
of its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and

B. complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and Corporations
Regulations 2001.

Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty Regarding Recoverabitity of Loans and Receivables

Without modifying the above conclusion, we draw attention to Note 6 of the half-year financial report,
which indicates the scheme has loans and receivables with a carrying value of $111,667,004 (30 June
2012: $126,870,947). The ability of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund to recover from borrowers is
dependent upon normal debt and property markets prevailing and the scheme achieving the desired
exit strategies that will allow recovery of the loans and receivables. Note 6(b) identifies that whilst an
impairment assessment was performed by the directors of the responsible entity as at 31 December
2012 for loans and receivables based on independent valuations or other information that represents
the recoverable amount and an impairment loss recognised, loans and receivables could be realised for
values either above or below the recoverable amounts used in the impairment assessment. Should the
loans and receivables be realised at a value below the recoverable amounts used in the impairment
assessment and/or adverse changes occur, further impairment losses could arise in a short period of
time. Should either normal property and debt markets not prevail after 31 December 2012 or the
scheme be unable to achieve the desired exit strategies that will allow recovery of the past due loans
and receivables, then the carrying value of the past due loans and receivables may not be recoverable.
No adjustments have been made to the carrying values of past due loans and receivables should the
desired exit strategies not be achieved,

BB Audit Pty Ltd ABH 33 134 022 870 is a member of a natienal assaciation of independent entitles whith are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABH 77 030
110275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty ktd and 80O Australia Ltd are members of BDO Intemitianal Ltd, a UK company imited
by guarantee, and farm part of the international BDO netvrark of independent member firmys, Liability liniled by a scheme approved under Prafessional
Standards Lepislation (other than for the acts ar amissians of financial services lizensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern

Without modifying the above conclusion, we draw attention to Note 3(a} Going Concern to the half-
year financial repart which indicates that the ability of the Fund to cantinue as a going concern is
dependent upon the continuation of the existing finance arrangement, realising sufficient cash funding
from the repayment or refinancing of existing mortgage loans of the Fund, provide funding for the
ongaing business operations including the maintenance and improvement of security properties, and
other operational costs of the Fund, and te recommence the return of capital payments to unit-
holders. Due to the matters set out in Note 3(a) Going Concemn, a material uncertainty exists which
casts significant doubt about the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore whether it
witl realise its assets and extinguish its labilities in the ordinary course of business and at the amounts
stated in the financial report, No adjustments have been made to the carrying vatue of assets or
recorded amount of liabilities in the Fund should the Fund not continue as a going concern.

BDO Audit Pty Ltd

Boo

Ao g

PA Gallagher

Director

Brishane, 14 March 2013

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABH 33 134 022 870 {s a member of a national assacfation of fndependent entities which are all members of D0 Australia Lid ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company fimited by guorantee, BDO Audft, Pty Ltd and BDO Australfa Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international ADO network of independent member firms. Liabikity limjted by a schene approved under Professional
Standards Legislation {other than for the acts ar omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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